(S
T

03017611

IT ONLY TAKES A MOMENT.

PROCESSED
A MAR20 T

. THOMSON
EINANGIAL



To AmSouth, moments are not measured
by time alone, but first and foremost by how
well we understand and meet the needs of our
customers in every moment they give us.

If this annual report accurately reflects AmSouth,
it shouldn’t matter whether you spend a few
minutes reading it or a few hours.

In the pages ahead you should recognize
that our determination to be the best
bank by any measure is evident in every
moment—no matter how brief or how long.
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CREATE A CULTURE
WIHIERIE ALL 12,000 EMIPPLOYIEES
ARE DETERMINED TO BE THIE

BEST, BY ANY MIEASURE,







CLEARLY DEFINIE
THIE ACHIEVEMENTS THAT
ARE NEEDED FOR SUCCESS.






AmSouth has a pervasive culture that
differentiates it from any other bank.

A culture built on a unique combination of
values, strategic initiatives and performance
metrics that gives it the ability to build lasting,
profitable relationships. Those relationships
are the underpinning of our ability to meet
the expectations that our shareholders have
of us, and that we have of ourselves.
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“In 2002 our EPS growth, returns on equity and assets, and efficiency
ratio placed AmSouth among the top-performing banks in the country.
We also osutperformed the broader market for total shareholder return.”

—eET—

C. DOWD RITTER
CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT, AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

During 2002, AmSouth continued to deliver on the key
measures thet drive shareholder value. We produced
double-digit carnings per share growth, a higher return
on equity, and record efficiency levels despite an economic
environment that challenged banks all across the country.
We achieved these results by focusing on our strategic
initiatives, our company’s core values, and our culture of
setting aggressive sales goals and continuously measuring
our results. This strong platform for financial and opera-
tional success—and our record results—set AmSouth
apart in 2002,

We cannot look back on last year without acknowl-
edging the passing of the man whose vision set the course
for AmSouth's success. John W. Woods served as AmSouth's
chief executive officer from 1972 until 1995. More than
any other person, he was responsible for making AmSouth
what it is today. AmSouth's strength and Birmingham's
importance as a banking center are among his legacies.

2002 Performance

For the year, we grew earnings per share to $1.68, an
increase of (6 percent over 2001. Net income of
$609 million set a record for AmSouth. Growth in earning
assets and low-cost deposits, and a higher net interest
margin, drove revenue and earnings growth. Also bene-
fiting earnings, we challenged our managers to hold
expenses belcw their budgets for the year, and they
achieved this aggressive goal across the company. At a
time when many companies in the financial services

industry experienced substantial losses due to credit
difficulties, AmSouth’s stability in credit quality con-
tributed to better performance for the year.

Return on equity, another driver of shareholder
value, reached just over 20 percent for the year, within
our long-term goal of 20 to 22 percent. Return on assets
was equally strong at 1.58 percent, and the efficiency
ratio, which measures the cost of generating a dollar
of revenue, improved to just below 50 percent, a record
for AmSouth.

Our determination to be the best was also evident in
our performance relative to other banks. In 2002, our
EPS growth, ROE, ROA, and efficiency ratio all placed
AmSouth among the top-performing banks in the country.

Creating Shareholder Wealth

AmSouth’s Board of Directors raised the dividend in
2002 to $0.92 per share on an annual basis, marking the
32nd consecutive year that we have increased our divi-
dend. This dividend record places us well within the top
one percent of all public companies, and it was one of
the reasons AmSouth was recognized during the year by
national publications including The Wall Street Journal,
Barron's, SmartMoney and BusinessWeek.

AmSouth’s stock outperformed the broader market
again in 2002. In particular, AmSouth achieved a total
return of 6 percent, beating the S&P 500 Index by more
than 28 percentage points in 2002 and the S&P 500
Banks Index by 7 points.
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32 CONSECUTIVE YEARS OF DIVIDEND GROWTH

Cash Dividends Declared
10% Compound Annual Growth Rate
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Just as important, we achieved these results while
adhering to our high ethical standards. In a year when
many companies made headlines for poor corporate
governance and questionable business ethics, AmSouth
remained committed to its long-held Basic Values.

We achieved the highest possible community rein-
vestment rating from our banking regulators. Moreover,
the high level of regulation in the banking industry has
placed us years ahead of other industries in the area of
corporate governance. We are pleased to see that the
same emphasis is now gaining ground in all industries.

Strategic Initiatives

Our strategic initiatives focus the talent and determina-
tion of our employees, at every level of the company, on
the opportunities we believe will provide the greatest
returns for our shareholders:

* Double Business Banking

* Grow Consumer Banking

 Double Wealth Management

» Maximize Opportunities in Florida

» Increase Sales Productivity & Service Quality
= Leverage the Internet Across the Company

» Grow Commercial Banking

Our strategic initiative to double Business Banking
has made solid progress despite generally poor market
conditions for small business growth. Our focus on building

long-term relationships gives us a competitive advantage
compared to banks that focus on transactions. As a result,
we added more than 13,000 new Business Banking rela-
tionships that will provide us with a broader customer
base to grow from as the economy improves. One of the
clear indicators of progress in this area was sales of
Business RelationshiPlus, our flagship small business
product that bundles both personal and business products
into one package and offers checking options for the
small business’ employees. In 2002, sales of Business
RelationshiPlus reached 93,500 accounts, a 110 percent
increase over 2001 sales.

In Consumer Banking we took advantage of market
conditions to add new customers and strengthen existing
relationships. By understanding that many of our cus-
tomers wanted to reduce their expenses and allow the
equity in their homes to work for them, we were able to
focus on selling products to meet these needs in 2002.
This focus, combined with higher sales productivity,
enabled us to increase our home equity portfolio by 18
percent compared to 2001. And because ours is a rela-
tionship focus, we were able to grow average consumer
low-cost deposits by more than $380 million.

With the volatility in today’s markets, our strategic
initiative in Wealth Management focuses on high-
net-worth individuals who are seeking better advice and
assistance in managing their investments, trusts, and
estates. During 2002, we added more than 2,000 new
private client relationships, a 15 percent increase. Many of
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these new relationships were the result of a new business
referral campaign that produced new Wealth Management
prospects from every line of business.

Qur momentum was equally strong in Florida, where
we have grown the pre-tax contribution from our high-
growth markets by an average rate of 38 percent over the
last three years—more than doubling the pre-tax contribu-
tion from those markets. A key driver was the addition of
18 new branches in strategic, high-growth markets includ-
ing Orlando, Jacksonville, Tampa, and Naples. These new
branches helped us add 14 percent more consumer house-
holds and 24 vercent more Business Banking households
in Florida compared to 2001. We have successfully built a
solid market base in Florida, and we will continue to build
our presence there in 2003 by adding more branches. By
the end of 2003, we should have more branches in Florida
than any other state in our franchise.

Our progress on these initiatives is driven by our deter-
mination to raise our sales productivity and customer
service quality to the highest levels possible. We have
measured both internal and external service quality for
many years, and in 2002 we began using the Gallup organ-
ization to conduct our monthly customer surveys. These
surveys revealed that our overall service ranks in the top
quartile among financial services companies. As always, we
are aiming higher, and we are adjusting our performance
scorecards and training programs accordingly. A key
investment in this area has been our new operations center,
which is designed to enhance our service delivery across

many areas of our business. We substantially completed the
center in 2002 and we will begin to occupy it in early 2003.

The new operations center will also help us better
serve the 700,000 customers who have an online banking
relationship with AmSouth. As part of our Internet
initiative, we continue to attract more customers to our
website, and in 2002 we averaged more than seven
million Internet Banking transactions per month. Every
day more and more customers are discovering the con-
venience of paying their bills, transferring balances, or
reviewing their accounts online. This is important for
shareholders because the cost of an average Internet
Banking transaction is a fraction of the average cost for
other delivery channels. In addition, the typical Internet
Banking customer uses more products and maintains
larger loan and deposit balances than the average con-
sumer customer.

In the fall of 2002, AmSouth’s Board of Directors
endorsed a seventh strategic initiative in Commercial
Banking, which has been an important part of AmSouth’s
business mix for years. The goal of our strategic initiative is
to bring growth in Commercial Banking in line with our
overall growth rate, while preserving strong credit quality.
As a result, we have renewed our focus on Commercial
middle-market companies, with a particular emphasis on
companies with $5 million to $50 million in annual sales.
We started well in 2002, as our middle-market sales cam-
paign produced approximately 500 new relationships
representing $27 million in annualized revenues.
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Return on Equity

LONG-TERM STRATEGIC GOALS

Earnings per Share Growth

12-15%
20-22%

Looking Ahead

Looking forward, our progress on our strategic initiatives
in 2002 gives us strong momentum going into 2003. We
are cautiously optimistic about the current recovery con-
tinuing in the general economy and gaining momentum
as the year progresses, and we believe we have the right
foundation in place for continued profitable growth. One
aspect of that foundation is our strong position in the
Southeastern United States, where economists project our
top markets will grow 22 percent faster than the national
average over the next five years. We plan to add at least 30
branches annually across our most attractive markets
over the next several years to capture a growing share of
that opportunity.

While our geographic advantage is valuable, it is not as
important as our talented people, clear goals, and relentless
execution at every level of the company. Furthermore, we
reward our people for their hard work. Approximately
three-fourths of AmSouth employees are eligible for incen-
tives that give them a direct stake in the Company’s success.
You can see AmSouth’s culture in action in the stories on
the following pages. These examples illustrate how our
people use every moment a customer gives us, no matter
how long, to make AmSouth the best bank for all cus-
tomers. Our relationship focus and commitment to our
customers are evident—and they distinguish AmSouth
from other banks across the country.

While our performance against many important
measures ranks us among the top-performing banks in

the country, we recognize that AmSouth’s shares remain
undervalued compared to banks that have not performed
as well. We are a value-led and achievement-driven
company—it is our culture—and we are committed to
communicating this story at every opportunity in an
effort to achieve a full and fair valuation. We will continue
this effort moving forward. Our hope, and our expecta-
tion, is that our valuation will reflect our performance, so
that we can continue to deliver the superior total rate of
return that our shareholders have come to associate
with AmSouth.

I thank our employees for their outstanding efforts in
2002 and our shareholders for your continued support.
As always, we welcome your comments and suggestions.

Sincerely,

0 D

C. DOWD RITTER
CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT, AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER







TENNESSEE MARBLE ISN°T SURE
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Tlhe day came when Tennessee Marble had to malke g importans
banleing decision. Owen g 801 & e clhamnee to present AmSowilk’s capa-

bilities, and Gus and Mowica realized he undersiood their business
better than their existing bank. Theyve been customers ever singe.

Tenmnessee Marble is one of more tham 13,000 new Business
Banlking relationships euliivated in 2002,
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by successful real estate agent and honorary mayor of

1tiow, Florida, Sonny gets lots of opportunities to refer

0 A G‘CSOﬁm ﬁ -nd mcawse of how he feels about AmSouth
Tos

Relationships like Sonny’s helped AmSouth aggressively grow
Consumer Banking in 2002 and add $1.1 billion in new deposits.
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KELLY SAUCIER’S FLAWLESS
PERFORMANCE FOR MORE THAN
70 WEEKS HAS BEEN A REMARKABLE
CONTRIBUTION TO MAKING MORE
CUSTOMERS BELIEVE AMSOUTH IS
THE BEST BANK.
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W el lnas proc more than 4.5 million transactions withou: @
: sing r—a record that makes alll of ws proud.
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%@ @ﬁ@m of Kellly and] other employees L?dk@ her helped
/\m&“@wﬁ% deliver customer service that ranked in the top
— @mﬁfﬂ@ of peer banlks in 2002,
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can use J1er 111116 to the fullest She WOl
that this makes he; loyal to AmSouth, be
her life without-it. =

Relalmnslnp< l}ll\e Katrina’s helped AmSomfh grow its actﬂ/e;
Internet Bnnkmq customer base-by 77pmcc.nt i1 2002.




IN THE TWO WEEKS AMSOU'TH
INVESTED IN LEARNING
HERNAN MONTALV(Q’S BUSINZESS,
HE SAW A BETTER BANK AN A
BRIGHT FUTURE.

T better serve his largest client, Herndn relocated his company,
InterSky, to Memphis. He knew he needed a solid cormmercial
banking plan in order to take advantage of the growth
opportunity and to provide for his family’s future,

AmSouth invested the time to learn his comsaiy’s vz =
business model and suggested ways to restry.c

sheet so he could grow InterSky more
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Herndn’s is one of over 500 r.= ., <= =g 72
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Rhonda Peebles; Decatur

Rhonda Peebles is a Branch Manager
who leads by example. Having held
every job from teller on up at her
Danville Road branch, she inspired her
team to reach the Chairman’s Club in
2000 and 2001 with sorae of AmSouth’s
highest customer service scores.

David Maunno; Tumpa Bay

Commercial Relationship Manager
David Manno proves that living your
values is the path to profitability.
By consistently doing more than his
clients expect, he exceeded $1 million
in revenue growth in 2001 producing
an outstanding return on equity.

Kelley B. Kee; Knoxville

Kelley Kee was AmSouth’s top Business
Banker in the first quarter of 2002, after
exceeding his loan, deposit, fee and
referral goals in all four quarters of
2001. His secret? Partnering with every-
one around him to leverage his own
sales and service skills.

Joyce Mungle; Hartsville, Tennessee

It’s not the size of the market, it’s the
depth of the determination. Joyce
Mungle led her branch to a top-five
2001 scorecard ranking among all
AmSouth branches—working in a
town of just 2,500 people, located

in a county of just 5,000.

Theresa Pinnix; St. Petersburg

Theresa Pinnix was ready to lead when
the opportunity arose. Newly promoted
to Branch Manager, she led Isla Del Sol
into the top ten among AmSouth
branches in 2001 by combining
exceptional sales productivity with
outstanding customer service.

Patricia Henson; Prattville, Alabama

Pat Henson, a 27-year AmSouth veterarn,
is a big reason her branch, where she is
Assistant Manager, averaged more than
100 percent of its scorecard goals for
more than two years, while delivering
exceptional service and attracting many
new customers.

Kelly Perdue; Cookeville, Tennessee

Kelly Perdue has become one of AmSouth’s
top Commercial Relationship Managers
by making exceptional service a source
of productive referrals. One fully satis-
fied client referred Perdue to 17 new
Commercial Banking relationships—in
just one quarter.

Sarah McKenzie; Chattanooga

Commercial Real Estate Relationship
Manager Sarah McKenzie sees the goal,
not the obstacles. When a major devel-
oper’s own bank was slow to fund an
endangered deal, McKenzie stepped up
and delivered a $19 million loan in

14 days, start to finish.

Steve Roop; Shreveport

Commercial Relationship Manager
Steve Roop transformed a limited rela-
tionship with a local grocery chain into
a major opportunity for AmSouth: from
loans and leases in 2000, to a multimil-
lion dollar bond issue in 2001, and to
higher revenues in 2002.




The winners of the AmSouth Chairman’s
Performance Award represent what people can
do when their personal dedication to sales and

service excellence is surrounded by a culture
that supports them with the right goals, values
and measurements.

Chairman’s Award winners set the standard
that everyone else at AmSouth aspires to—even
as the winners themselves set their sights even
higher. The profiles that follow acknowledge
what these inspiring men and women mean
to AmSouth and its performance.




The Chairmamn’s Performance Award
Jor sales and service excellence goes to
employees who have most fully
demonstrated AmSouth's determination
to be the best over the past year.
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Award winners are nominated by their
managers and recognized by senior
executives for going beyond their
job descriptions in living out
AmSouth’s core values.




Bill Cleary, Elena Bass and Michael Menk; Northwest Florida

During a challenging period in 2002, this intrepid team
stepped out of their defined roles and did whatever it took

- to keep sales, service anc. morale high in a strategic market.
Flena Bass, Commercial Middle Market Area Sales Manager,
also oversaw Business Banking sales while leading her own
team to a top-five scorecard in the second quarter. When
Michael Menk was promoted to Business Banking Area

Sales Manager, he kept wearing his Relationship Manager
hat and played a key internal role while Panama City had
no City President. Bill Cleary shifted from his Relationship
Manager position to become Commercial Middle Market
Area Credit Officer, then recruited and trained his
replacement while helping Bass and Menk maintain their
dual roles.

Greg Darby; Florence, Alabama

A top ten Consumer Banking ranking
was just one of Branch Manager Greg
Darby’s achievements in 2002.
Determined to make everyone around
him successful, he and his team also
referred $500 thousand in deposits to
their Business Banking colleagues.

Elizabeth Mayhall; Middle Tennessee

Elizabeth Mayhall knows how to meet
needs over the long term. When she
came to AmSouth as a Personal Trust
Administrator, her 19-year relation-
ship with a client was a key reason the
client moved a large trust account
over from a major competitor.

Susanne Riley; Naples

Susanne Riley led her Gulfshore Boulevard
branch to Naples’ number one scorecard
in 2001, including perfect monthly oper-
ational scores and 100 percent customer
service ratings. And in doubling its
loan output, Riley’s team met all loan
policy standards without an exception.

Alan Wood, Rick Coad and Kevin McMahon; Tuscaloosa

This team from Tuscaloosa gave all of AmSouth a mode! for
how to grow Commercial Banking while meeting needs and
building relationships. First Rick Coad, Corporate Finance
Sales Manager, began increasing awareness among his col-
leagues of the value of Corporate Finance products for
AmSouth Commercial Baaking clients. Commercial Banking
Team Leader Kevin McMahon soon took Coad on a sales call

to a prospect that had been banking with a competitor for
40 years. Together they sold the customer a multimillion
dollar debt placement and letter of credit. Commercial
Banking Relationship Manager Alan Wood then joined the
team to close another 10 Public Finance transactions in the
Tuscaloosa area—representing approximately 50 percent of
Public Finance revenues for all of AmSouth in 2001.




Paul Walker, Scott Bane and Cindy Mattingley; Montgomery and Nashville

One of AmSouth’s largest Corporate Finance deals was done  the customer’s balance sheet and interest rate exposure.

by this two-state team, including Commercial Relationship The company’s other banking advisors had not addressed these
Manager Paul Walker, Corporate Finance Specialist Scott Bane,  issues successfully, so Walker, Bane and Mattingley proposed a
and Commercial Relationship Assistant Cindy Mattingley. different approach including a bond issue and interest rate
When they met with a large insurance company to discuss swap. It was the right solution at the right moment and
renewal of a commercial paper backup facility, Walker and increased annual revenues from the relationship.

Bane seized the moment to discuss the bigger picture, including

Gary Battles; Chattanooga Sarah Albritton; Jackson, Mississippi Scherry Priddy; Jackson, Tennessee
When Commercial Relationship Manager ~ Manager Sarah Albritton made sure her ~ For Commercial Relationship Manager
Gary Battles learned that a hard-won North Clinton branch, one of the small-  Scherry Priddy, a big win doesn’t mean
client was selling his company, Battles est in Mississippi, was the state’s biggest ~ the game is over. She helped AmSouth
saved the relationship for AmSouth by in AmSouth’s 2002 Checking Marks the win a bond issue to finance a prestigious
quickly calling in a Wealth Management  Spot campaign. The branch’s total of private school in 1996—then won the
team to help the customer invest the 117 new accounts also placed second business again when the bond issue was
substantial sale proceeds. companywide, renewed last year.

Kelly Saucier; Mobile Andrew Toxey and Chris Hurst; Orlando

For Proof Operator Kelly Saucier, being Chris Hurst, Commercial Relationship Manager, and Andrew Toxey, Commercial Real
the best meant perfection for a stunning  Estate Manager, share a passion for building profitable relationships. They teamed up

78 weeks, during which she processed shortly after Hurst came to AmSouth, and soon initiated a relationship with a major
more than 4.5 million items without a Orlando retirement community. They began by providing the customer with substantial
single error—while maintaining a pro-  business and healthcare loans, then expanded the relationship to include treasury man-
ductivity rate 52 percent higher than agement and institutional trust services, the introduction of Private Client Services to

her peers on average. senior management, and the transfer of numerous accounts to AmSouth.




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Financial Highlights

{Dollars in thousands except per share data) 2002
EARNINGS SUMMARY
INEE INEETESE IMCOITIE .+« . o vt e et et e et e e e e e et et e et et e et e e et e e e e aa $ 1,472,640
Provision for Loan 1osSes . .. .ottt e e e e 213,550
Net interest income after provision forloanlosses . ... ... 1,255,090
INONUNEETESE TEVETIUES . .. oot ottt et ettt e e bt e e e et e e et e e e e e e et 739,361
NONNTETESt EXPEIISES . o v v v vt et e eu et b e b ettt et e e et h e et e e 1,126,622
Income before INCOME tAXES . . . ..ottt e 871,829
INCOmIE taXES L oo e 262,682
P 0¥ T30 5 $ 609,147
Earnings per common share ... ... ... oo e $ 1.70
Diluted earnings per common share ........ ... .. . 1.68
RETUIN O AVETAZE @SSELS - . o o oot vttt ettt ettt e e ettt ettt e e e i i 1.58%
Return On average eqUITY .. ... ..v ittt e e e 20.10
Operating effICIENCY ..ottt e 49,78
BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY
At year end

Loans net of Unearned INCOME . ..ottt ittt e et e e e $ 27,350,918

A BES & o i ittt e e e e e e e e e 40,571,272

DIEPOSIS .« o vttt e e e e e e e e e e e 27,315,624

Shareholders’ eqUItY ... ..o i 3,115,997
Average balances

Loans net of unearned INCOME .. ... .ttt e e e 25,921,769

N1 38,564,568

DIOPOSIES v v vttt e e e e e 25,943,534

Shareholders’ eqUIty ... ...t 3,030,901
SELECTED RATIOS
Average eqUILY tO @VRIAZE ASSELS « .1\ u vttt i ittt r ittt i et et 7.86%
Allowance for loan losses to loans net of unearned income ......... ... .. ... .. . i i 1.40
COMMON STOCK DATA
Cash dividends declared . ... ..ot 3 0.839
Book valUe ..o 8.82
Tangible book valie ... .. . 7.96
Market value at Year €nd ... ...t e s 19.20
Market price range:

High o e e 23.00

oW L 18.21
Total trading volume 2 . L 254,700
Dividend vield at yeer end ... ... it e 4.79%
Dividend payout Tatio .. ... .t 52.35
Shareholders of record at year end @ . ... e 33,689
Average shares outstanding! . ... ... e 358,176
Average diluted shares outstanding ! ... ... e 362,329
®In thousands
“ Amounits prior to 1999 have not been restated to reflect significant business combinations
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2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
1,366,722 1,361,198 1,507,944 1,444,284 1,384,729
187,100 227,600 165,626 99,067 83,508
1,179,622 1,133,598 1,342,318 1,345,217 1,301,221
748,222 669,494 847,560 799,854 658,724
1,157,232 1,348,530 1,648,507 1,406,272 1,221,675
770,612 454,562 541,371 738,799 738,270
234,266 125,435 200,903 264,725 264,589
536,346 329,127 340,468 474,074 473,681
1.46 0.86 0.87 1.22 1.20
1.45 0.86 0.86 1.20 1.18
1.40% 0.79% 0.81% 1.22% 1.32%
18.56 11.57 10.69 15.33 16.00
53.12 64.42 69.24 61.97 59.20
25,124,493 24,616,435 26,266,759 24,445,296 24,415,004
38,600,414 38,935,978 43,415,351 40,639,522 37,381,105
26,167,017 26,623,304 27,912,443 28,533,760 27,045,700
2,955,099 2,813,407 2,959,205 3,207,424 3,029,138
24,763,798 25,879,910 25,471,295 24,027,839 23,753,817
38,238,393 41,860,171 41,817,240 38,842,481 35,918,328
25,916,181 27,323,133 27,718,029 27,150,710 26,260,410
2,889,248 2,844,987 3,185,084 3,091,737 2,960,023
7.56% 6.80% 7.62% 7.96% 8.24%
1.45 1.55 1.35 1.51 1.50
0.85 0.81 0.71 0.57 0.51
8.14 7.53 7.56 8.12 7.75
7.29 6.61 6.48 6.94 6.46
18.90 15.25 19.31 30.42 24.14
20.15 19.88 33.92 30.42 25.11
15.13 11.88 18.94 21.42 14.08
178,939 236,154 195,110 80,164 98,833
4.66% 5.51% 4.14% 2.19% 2.21%
58.22 94.19 81.61 46.72 42.50
34,798 35,746 27,103 17,888 12,480
367,404 382,031 391,136 389,595 395,837
370,948 384,677 396,515 396,491 401,811
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AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW

Introduction

AmSouth is a regional bank holding company headquartered
in Birmingham, Alabama, with approximately $41 billion
in assets, 600 branch banking offices and more than 1,200
ATMs. AmSouth operates in Tennessee, Alabama, Florida,
Mississippi, Louisiana and Georgia. AmSouth is a leader
among regional banks in the Southeast in several key
businesses, such as Consumer and Small Business Banking,
including mortgage lending, Commercial Banking, includ-
ing equipment leasing, and Wealth Management, which
includes annuity and mutual fund sales, trust and invest-
ment management services. AmSouth also offers a complete
line of banking products and services at its website,
www.amsouth.com.

This section of the annual report provides a narrative
discussion and analysis of AmSouth’s financial condition and
results of operations for the previous three years, although
some tables may cover more than three years to comply with
Securities and Exchange Commission disclosure require-
ments or to illustrate trends over a longer period of time.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis discusses the key
factors that drive AmSouth’s performance as well as the
associated risks to future profitability and liquidity. All
tables, graphs and financial statements included in this
report should be considered an integral part of this analysis.

Management’s discussion and analysis contains
forward-looking statements that involve inherent risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from
those contained in these forward-looking statements. For
additional information regarding forward-looking state-
ments, see the section titled “Forward-Looking Statements”
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Critical Accounting Estimmates

The preparation of AmSouth’s financial statements
requires management to make subjective and sometimes
complex judgements associated with estimates for which
the impact is inherently uncertain. These estimates are not
only important, but necessary to ensure compliance with
generally accepted accounting principles. In management’s

opinion, some areas of financial disclosure involve estimates
that are more significant than others in terms of their
importance to AmSouth’s results. These areas include the
accounting for the allowance for loan losses, sales of financial
assets, pension accounting, and hedge accounting. These
areas include estimates that are considered critical due to
either the subjectivity involved in the estimate and/or the
potential impact that changes in the estimates can have on
the reported financial results.

One of the most critical and complex accounting
estimates is associated with the determination of the appro-
priate level of the allowance for loan losses. Accounting
guidance requires AmSouth to make a number of estimates
related to the level of credit losses inherent in the portfolio
at year-end. A full discussion of these estimates can be
found within the “Risk Management” section of this report
concerning credit risk management process and loan quality.

Another area in which AmSouth makes complex and
subjective estimates relates to AmSouth’s loan sale and
securitization activities and the ongoing accounting for
any retained interests associated with these loan sales. As
discussed more fully in the “Liquidity” section of this
report, AmSouth periodically sells or securitizes loans.
AmSouth accounts for these transactions using the guidance
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities” (Statement 140).
Under Statement 140, when AmSouth sells a loan in which
it retains a continuing interest, it is required to determine
the fair value of any retained interest in the loans and the
fair value of the interest in the loans sold. For example,
AmSouth may sell a loan but retain an interest in the loan
by continuing to service the asset, or by retaining rights to
a portion of the interest payments generated from the sold
loan in the form of an interest-only receivable. AmSouth
must estimate the fair value of any retained interest
to allocate the loan amount previously recorded on the
balance sheet between the portion sold and the portion
retained, to calculate the corresponding gain or loss on the
sale. In addition, AmSouth is required to determine the
ongoing fair value of any retained interests associated with
prior loan sales to ensure that these assets are not impaired.
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To obtain the fair values, quoted market prices are used if
available. When market quotes are not available, AmSouth
estimates fair value based on the present value of
expected future cash flows using management’s best
estimates of key assumptions, including: credit losses,
prepayment speeds, weighted-average life, and discount
rates commensurate with the risks involved. The discount
rate is based on expected future interest and inflation
rates and is applied to expected future cash flows in order
to estimate their value today. These assumptions are also
used to determine the appropriate amount of interest
income to accrue on any capitalized interest-only
receivable associated with the sold loans. To the extent
that actual performance differs from management’s
assumptions, earnings may be impacted. Note 22 in the
financial statements provides a summary of the assump-
tions used on new loan sales as well as the assumptions
used at the ¢nd of 2002 to estimate the fair value of
AmSouth’s retained interests in loans sold.

Pension accounting is another area where the account-
ing guidance requires management to make various
assumptions in order to appropriately value any pension
asset or liability. These assumptions include the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets, rate of compensa-
tion increase (i.e., the expected weighted-average annual
increase in compensation for participants until their
expected retirement dates) and discount rate. Changes in
these assumptions could impact earnings. For example,
a lower expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
could negatively impact earnings as would a lower
estimated discount rate or a higher rate of compensation
increase. In determining the appropriate long-term rate of
return on plan assets, AmSouth begins by reviewing
historic returns earned on its plan, then reviews the
current asset allocation of the plan and the current capital
market assumption of each asset class. To determine the
appropriate discount rate to use, AmSouth sets the
discount based on Moody’s Annualized AA Corporate
Bond yields. AmSouth reviews long-term inflation rates
and estimates long-term merit increases to determine
what rate of ccmpensation increase to utilize.

In 2002, AmSouth lowered the plan assumptions used

in its pension calculation. The discount rate was reduced
85 basis points to 6.65 percent to reflect the lower interest
rate environment. AmSouth also lowered the rate of
compensation increase used to determine its pension
liability to 4.40 percent for 2002 from 5.25 percent used
in 2001. This decrease is consistent with the decline in
the long-term inflation rates and reflects management’s
expectations for long-term merit increases. While
AmSouth utilized an assumed return on plan assets of
9.5 percent to calculate pension expense in 2002 and
2001, it lowered the assumed return on plan assets
assumption at the end of 2002 to 8.75 percent. This lower
assumption reflects the impact of a decline in the actual
return on plan assets associated with weak market condi-
tions that continued in 2002, and expectations for lower
returns in the future. The sensitivity of earnings to a 25
basis point change in the discount rate, return on plan
assets or rate of compensation increase assumptions
would be a change of $846 thousand, $1.8 million and
$551 thousand, respectively, on a pre-tax basis when
calculated based on the market value of plan assets at the
end of 2002.

AmbSouth uses various derivative financial instru-
ments to assist it in managing interest rate risk. AmSouth
accounts for these derivative instruments using the guid-
ance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” as amended (Statement 133). During 2002
and 2001, AmSouth had both fair value hedges and cash
flow hedges. For both fair value and cash flow hedges,
certain assumptions and forecasts related to the impact of
changes in interest rates on the fair value of the derivative
and the item being hedged must be documented at the
inception of the hedging relationship to demonstrate that
the derivative instrument will be effective in hedging
the designated interest rate risk. If these assumptions or
forecasts do not accurately reflect subsequent changes
in the fair value of the derivative instrument or the
designated item being hedged, it could result in AmSouth
having to discontinue the use of hedge accounting
for that derivative instrument. Once hedge accounting is
terminated, all subsequent changes in the fair market
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value of the derivative instrument will flow through the
Statement of Earnings, possibly resulting in greater
volatility in AmSouth’s earnings.

Earnings Overview

AmSouth reported diluted earnings per share of $1.68 in
2002 compared to $1.45 in 2001 and $0.86 in 2000. Net
income was $609.1 million in 2002 versus $536.3 million in
2001 and $329.1 million in 2000. The increased earnings in
2002 compared to 2001 were the result of higher net interest
income (NII) and lower noninterest expenses (NIE), par-
tially offset by an increase in the provision for loan losses
and lower noninterest revenues (NIR). The increase in NII
reflected the success of aggressive marketing campaigns
during 2002 which helped AmSouth grow low-cost deposits
and fund a greater percentage of its earning assets with
lower cost funding sources. Earning asset growth also
contributed to growth in NII. AmSouth’s ability to control
operating expenses in 2002 to offset the impact of a weak
economy was another key driver of earnings growth during
the year. Earnings growth was somewhat offset by higher
levels of loan loss provision, reflecting the weak economy
and loan growth, and lower noninterest revenues as trust
and consumer investment services income were negatively
impacted by depressed equity markets during 2002.

AmSouth’s results in 2001 versus 2000, reflected the
impact of actions taken in 2000 to restructure the balance
sheet, reduce exposure to deteriorating syndicated loans
and reduce sensitivity to interest rate movements. As a
result, AmSouth’s 2001 earnings benefited from a favorable
mix shift in both earning assets and funding sources,
producing a wider net interest margin and higher NIL
Lower credit costs in 2001 reflected actions taken in 2000
to proactively address deteriorating credit quality in the
syndicated loan portfolio. NIR benefited in 2001 from
growth in several categories, offset by a reduction in
revenues from IFC Holdings, Inc. (IFC), which was sold
in 2000. Growth in NIR and the decrease in NIE were
also impacted by charges taken in 2000 associated with
the integration of First American Corporation (First
American) following its merger with AmSouth in 1999 and
the comprehensive financial restructuring completed in
2000. Specifically, charges in 2000 included: $110.2 million
associated with the First American merger; $4.2 million
associated with the sale of IFC and a small branch network
located in Arkansas; $110.0 million related to the sale of
approximately $200 million of problem syndicated loans,
including $47 million of loans that were held in assets held
for accelerated disposition; and $148.8 million associated
with the sale of approximately $4.0 billion of investment
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securities, the securitization of approximately $1.0 billion
of lower yielding automobile loans and an other than tem-
porary loss associated with mortgage conduit-related assets.

Adjusting for the impact of merger-related and other
specific charges in 2000, outlined above, AmSouth’s earnings
were $562.1 million in 2000 or $1.46 per share on a fully
diluted basis.

Productivity in the banking industry is commonly
measured by the operating efficiency ratio. This ratio
measures the amount of expense dollars utilized to
generate a dollar of revenue. The ratio is calculated by
dividing total NIE by the sum of NII, on a taxable equiva-
lent basis, and total NIR. AmSouth’s efficiency ratio in
2002 improved to 49.8 percent compared to 53.1 percent
in 2001 and 64.4 percent in 2000.

Two key measures of profitability in the banking
industry are return on average equity (ROE) and return
on average assets (ROA). ROE measures the return on a
company’s shareholders’ equity, while ROA measures
how effectively a company utilizes its assets. ROE was
20.1 percent in 2002 compared to 18.6 percent in 2001
and 11.6 percent in 2000. The increase in ROE was the
result of AmSouth’s higher earnings in 2002 as well as its
continuing efforts to manage its capital through share
repurchases. In 2002, AmSouth repurchased 13.3 million
shares for approximately $272.1 million. ROA was
1.58 percent in 2002, 1.40 percent in 2001 and 0.79 percent
in 2000. The improvement in ROA reflects AmSouth’s
higher earnings relative to the increase in earning assets.

AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
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EARNINGS ANALYSIS

Net Interest Income

Net interest income (NII) is the principal source of earnings
for AmSouth, and is defined as the amount of revenue
generated by interest-earning assets less the interest cost
of funding those assets. Interest-earning assets represent
assets that generate interest income or yield-related fee
income, such as loans and investment securities. The
amount of NII earned is determined primarily by varia-
tions in the volume and mix of interest-earning assets and
interest-bearing liabilities and changes in their related
yields and interest rates paid. Other factors affecting the
level of NII include the overall interest rate environment
and the use of derivative instruments to manage interest
rate risk. NII is one of the most important elements
of AmSouth’s ability to meet its overall performance
goals and, in particular, yields and rates on loans and
deposits have a significant impact on NII. To improve the
comparability of results among periods and yields
between different classes of interest-earning assets, the
following discussion presents NII on a “fully taxable-
equivalent basis” which adjusts for the impact on NII
of certain tax-exempt loans, leases, and investment
securities included in interest-earning assets. For example,
NII earned on tax exempt interest-earning assets is
adjusted to reflect the equivalent leve] of NII that would
have been earned on a pre-tax basis if the revenue had
been taxed at AmSouth’s statutory federal income tax rate.

TABLE 1 - COMPOSITION OF INTEREST-EARNING ASSETS

2002

2001 2000

(Dollars in thousands)

Average Percent
Balance of Total

Average Percent
Balance of Total

Average Percent
Balance of Total

Loans net o7 unearned income $ 25,921,769 74.4% $ 24,763,798 71.2% $ 25,879,910 67.4%
Held-to-maturity securities 4,082,989 11.7 4,420,520 12.7 6,862,355 17.8
Available-for-sale securities 4,319,114 12.4 4,290,760 124 4,946,905 12.9
Other interest-earning assets 518,512 1.5 1,290,402 3.7 726,334 1.9

$ 34,842,384  100.0% $ 34,765,480 100.0% $ 38,415,504 100.0%

Note: Available-for-sale securities excludes adjustment for market valuation and certain noninterest-earning marketable equity securities.
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AVERAGE EARNING ASSET MIX

2002

a. Loans
b. Investment Securities
c. Other Interest-Earning Assets

6.25% 2001

a. Loans
b. Investment Secutities
c. Other Interest-Earning Assets

AmSouth has reclassified its presentation for fees
and origination costs associated with residential mortgage
originations, due to the increasing volume of originations.
The reclassification conforms with guidance in Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 91, “Accounting for
Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating
or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases.” The
reclassification had no impact on net income. However,
certain amounts were reclassified from NII to salaries and
employee benefits. The impact was to reduce NII (and as a
result the net interest margin) and NIE by the same
amount. Previously reported amounts have been adjusted
to reflect these reclassifications. For a further discussion,
see Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
and Note 24 for reclassified quarterly information.

NII was $1.5 billion in 2002 compared with $1.4 billion
in 2001. The increase was the result of a wider net interest
margin (NIM) and an increase in interest-earning assets.
The NIM is expressed as a percentage and is computed by
dividing fully taxable equivalent NII by average interest-
earning assets. The NIM measures how effectively the

bank utilizes its interest-earning assets in relationship
to the interest cost of funding them. The NIM increased
26 basis points in 2002 to 4.37 percent and average interest-
earning assets increased $76.9 million to $34.8 billion.

The wider NIM during 2002 was the result of
a continued shift in the composition of both interest-
earning assets and liabilities used as funding sources. On
the balance sheet, higher yielding consumer loans replaced
lower yielding commercial loans while lower cost trans-
action deposits replaced higher cost time deposits and
wholesale, short-term borrowings. This mix shift reflects
AmSouth’s continued focus on growing businesses such as
home equity lending and low-cost deposits that typically
generate higher interest rate spreads.

The improvement in NII and NIM also reflected an
increase in interest revenues associated with retained
interests on loans sold to third-party conduits. In a lower
interest rate environment, the conduits’ cost of funding
the loans purchased from AmSouth with short-term
commercial paper decreases and the spread between
the interest rate earned on the loans sold to the conduit
and the conduits’ funding costs increase. This additional
interest rate spread is passed to AmSouth and results in
AmSouth receiving a higher yield on its capitalized retained
interest when interest rates decline. Accordingly, due to
the lower interest rate environment in 2002, interest
earned by AmSouth from its retained interests on loans
sold to third-party conduits increased by $28.6 million
and resulted in approximately an 18 basis point improve-
ment in NIM versus 2001. See additional discussion of
conduit loan sales in the “Liquidity” section of this report.

Interest-earning assets are primarily composed of
loans and investment securities. Average loans increased
$1.2 billion in 2002 due to a $1.7 billion increase in
consumer loans which included a $469 million increase in
residential mortgage loans. The growth in consumer loans
was primarily the result of an increase in variable rate,
home equity products and dealer indirect automobile
loans reflecting AmSouth’s efforts to aggressively grow
Consumer Banking. Average commercial and commercial
real estate loans declined in 2002 compared to 2001 due
primarily to the continued exit of syndicated loans and
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2002

TABLE 2 - YIELDS EARNED ON AVERAGE EARNING ASSETS AND RATES PAID ON AVERAGE INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Average Revenue/ Yield/
(Taxable equivalent basis - dollars in thousands) Balance Expense Rate
Assets
[nterest-earning assets:
Loans net of unearned income $  25921,769 $ 1,686,744 6.51%
Available-for-sale securities:
Taxable 4,251,715 335,083 7.88
Tax-fre: 67,399 5,244 7.78
Tota. available-for-sale securities 4,319,114 340,327 7.88
Held-to-maturity securities:
Taxable 3,741,238 235,749 6.30
Tax-free 341,751 25,574 7.48
Tota. held-to-maturity securities 4,082,989 261,323 6.40
Total investment securities 8,402,103 601,650 7.16
Trading securities 79,562 1,367 1.72
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell 207,864 3,559 1.71
Loans held for sale 144,925 10,254 7.08
Other inte-est-earning assets 86,161 1,560 1.81
Total interest-earning assets 34,842,384 2,305,134 6.62
Cash and other assets 3,941,255
Allowance for loan losses (374,340)
Market valuation on avai_able-for-sale securities 155,269
$ 38,564,568
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Interest-bearig liabilities:
Interest-bearing demand and money market deposits $ 10,706,524 114,290 1.07
Savings deposits 1,300,563 6,769 0.52
Time deposits 6,481,688 241,013 3.72
Foreign time deposits 467,926 5,894 1.26
Certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more 2,079,690 70,727 3.40
Federal furds purchased and securities sold
under agreements to repurchase 2,012,721 27,693 1.38
Other borrowed funds 88,322 3,898 4.41
Long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances 5,273,442 272,339 5.16
Subordinated debt 877,026 36,073 4.11
Senior notes 99,726 2,673 2.68
Other long-term debt 3,475 107 3.08
Total interest-bearing liabilities 29,391,103 781,476 266
Net interest spread 3.96%
Noninterest-bearing demand deposits 4,907,143
Other liabilitics 1,235,421
Shareholders’ zquity 3,030,901
3 38,564,568
Net interest income/margin on a taxable equivalent basis 1,523,658 4.37%
Taxable equivalent adjustment:
Loans 30,459
Available-for-sale securities 4,705
Held-to-maturity securities 15,854
Total taxable equivalent adjustment 51,018
Net interest income $ 1,472,640

Note: The taxable equivalent adjustment has been computed based on the statutory federal income tax rate, adjusted for applicable state income taxes net of the related federal tax benefit,
Loans net of unearned income includes nonaccrual loans for all years presented. Certain noninterest-earning marketable equity securities are not included in available-for-sale securities.

Statement 133 val sation adjustments related to time deposits, certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more and other interest-bearing liabilities are included in other liabilities.
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2001 2000
Average Revenue/ Yield/ Average Revenue/ Yield/
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate
$ 24,763,798 $ 1,973,282 7.97% $ 25,879,910 $ 2,259,870 8.73%
4,204,448 324,128 7.71 4,882,055 328,612 6.73
86,312 6,725 7.79 64,850 4,564 7.04
4,290,760 330,853 7.71 4,946,905 333,176 6.74
4,077,180 274,209 6.73 6,469,385 444,682 6.87
343,340 25,422 7.40 392,970 28,357 7.22
4,420,520 299,631 6.78 6,862,355 473,039 6.89
8,711,280 630,484 7.24 11,809,260 806,215 6.83
17,491 379 2.17 31,955 2,122 6.64
927,438 44,431 4.79 417,709 27,455 6.57
233,174 17,079 7.32 168,836 12,582 7.45
112,299 4,414 3.93 107,834 6,966 6.46
34,765,480 2,670,069 7.68 38,415,504 3,115,210 8.1
3,738,404 3,965,595
(375,904) (356,006)
110,413 (164,922)
$ 38,238,393 $ 41,860,171
$ 9,999,114 253,996 2.54 $ 9,376,473 327,664 3.49
1,218,198 15,714 1.29 1,661,398 37,030 2.23
7,508,706 407,071 5.42 7,760,806 445,713 574
321,620 9,813 3.05 1,087,636 64,540 593
2,275,440 125,919 5.53 2,778,184 166,224 5.98
2,194,659 72,888 3.32 3,420,781 188,410 5.51
162,842 8,988 5.52 1,547,155 96,808 6.26
5,132,404 291,192 5.67 5,048,876 296,158 5.87
877,202 48,648 5.55 885,445 61,194 6.91
99,655 5,051 5.07 91,482 7,088 7.75
8,072 376 4.66 6,180 494 7.99
29,797,912 1,239,656 4.16 33,664,416 1,691,323 5.02
3.52% 3.09%
4,593,103 4,658,636
958,130 692,132
2,889,248 2,844,987
$ 38,238,393 $ 41,860,171
1,430,413 4.11% 1,423,887 371%
42,642 40,227
4,999 3,410
16,050 19,052
63,691 62,689
$ 1,366,722 $ 1361,198
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TABLE 3 - VOLUME AND YIELD/RATE VARIANCES

2002 Compared to 2001 2001 Compared to 2000
Change Due to Change Due to

(Taxable equivalznt basis - in thousands) Volume Yield/Rate Net Volume Yield/Rate Net
Interest Earned On:
Loans net of unearned income $ 88,831 $(375,369) $ (286,538) $ (94,647) $(191,941) $ (286,588)
Available-for-sale securities:

Taxable 3,672 7,283 10,955 (48,849) 44,365 (4,484)

Tax-free (1,471) (10) (1,481) 1,632 529 2,161
Total available-for-sale securities 2,201 7,273 9,474 (47,217) 44,894 (2,323)
Held-to-maturity securities:

Taxable (21,787) (16,673) (38,460) (161,081) (9,392) (170,473)

Tax-free (118) 270 152 (3,659) 724 (2,935)
Total held-tc-maturity securities (21,905) (16,403) (38,308) (164,740) (8,668) (173,408)
Total investment securities (19,704) (9,130) (28,834) (211,957) 36,226 (175,731)
Trading securities 1,082 (94) 988 (700) (1,043) (1,743)
Federal funds sold and securities

purchased under agreements to resell (22,356) (18,516) (40,872) 26,071 (9,095) 16,976
Loans held for sale (6,263) (562) (6,825) 4716 (219) 4,497
Other interest-earning assets (860) (1,994) (2,854) 278 (2,830) (2,552)
Total interesi-earning assets 40,730 (405,665) (364,935) (276,239) (168,902) (445,141)
Interest Paid On:
Interest-bearing demand and

money market deposits 16,837 (156,543) (139,706) 20,595 (94,263) (73,668)
Savings deposits 997 (9,943) (8,946) (8,265) (13,051) (21,316)
Time deposits (50,374) (115,684) (166,058) (14,181) (24,461) (38,642)
Foreign time deposits 3,320 (7,239) (3,919) (32,387) (22,340) (54,727)
Certificates of deposit of

$100,000 or more (10,070) (45,122) (55,192) (28,485) (11,820) (40,305)
Federal funds purchased and securities

sold under agreements to repurchase (5,603) (39,591) (45,194) (54,811) (60,711) (115,522)
Other borrowed funds (3,539) (1,551) (5,090) (77,596) (10,224) (87,820)
Long-term Federal Home Loan

Bank advences 7,833 (26,686) (18,853) 4,846 (9,812) (4,966)
Subordinated debt (10) (12,565) (12,575) (565) (11,981) (12,546)
Senior notes 4 (2,382) (2,378) 588 (2,625) (2,037)
Other long-term debt (168) (101) (269) 124 (242) (118)
Total interest-bearing liabilities (40,773) (417,407) (458,180) (190,119) (261,548) (451,667)
Net interest income on a taxable

equivalent: basis $ 81,503 $ 11,742 93,245 $ (86,120) $ 92,646 6,526
Add taxable equivalent adjustment 12,673 (1,002)
Net interest income $ 105918 $ 5524

Notes:

1. The change in interest not due solely to volume or vield/rate has been allocated to the volume column and yield/rate column in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar

amounts of the change in cach.

2. The computation of the taxable equivalent adjustment is based on the statutory federal income tax rate, adjusted for applicable state income taxes net of the related federal tax benefit.
3. Certain noninterest-earning marketable equity securities are not included in available-for-sale securities.
4. Statement 133 valuation adjustments related to time depasits, certificates of depasit of $100,000 or more and other interest-bearing liabilities are not included in this analysis.
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accelerated loan prepayments resulting from the favorable
interest rate environment. See further discussion of loans
in the “Balance Sheet Analysis” section of this report.

Average investment securities decreased modestly in
2002 reflecting the higher rate of prepayments of mort-
gage-backed securities as consumers took advantage of
favorable rates to refinance their homes. Management’s
decision to deploy funds into higher yielding loans further
impacted the level of investment securities. See further
discussion of investment securities in the “Balance Sheet
Analysis” section of this report.

Among funding sources, average deposits increased
by $27 million in 2002 compared to 2001 due to AmSouth’s
branch expansion and aggressive marketing campaigns to
attract low-cost deposits. Lower cost transaction deposits,
which include noninterest-bearing deposits and interest-
bearing demand deposits such as checking, savings
and money market deposits, increased $1.1 billion to
$16.9 billion. Increases in transaction deposits were
partially offset by a decrease in higher priced time deposits.

Early in 2003, management expects the NIM to be
relatively flat compared to the fourth quarter NIM of
4.12 percent and experience modest compression as the year
progresses. This expectation is based on the assumptions
that earning asset growth accelerates, the economy continues

to strengthen, an interest rate environment of stable or
gradually increasing interest rates exists, and AmSouth’s
balance sheet and interest rate management strategy continues
to be successful. Conditions different from these could cause
the NIM and NII to differ from management’s expectations.

For a detailed analysis of NII, the NIM, changes in the
balance sheet mix, and yields and rates see Tables 1,2 and 3
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis. Also see discus-
sion entitled “Prepayment Risk” in the “Risk Management”
section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

NII was $1.43 billion in 2001 compared to $1.42 billion
in 2000. The increase in 2001 was the result of a wider
NIM, partially offset by a lower level of interest-earning
assets. The NIM increased 40 basis points in 2001 to
4.11 percent, while average interest-earning assets declined
$3.7 billion to $34.8 billion.

The wider NIM during 2001 was primarily the result of
a shift in the composition of both interest-earning assets
and liabilities used as funding sources. Interest earned
on AmSouth’s retained interest on loans sold to conduits
increased by $42.0 million in 2001, due to the lower interest
rate environment. Average loans decreased $1.1 billion in
2001 due to a decrease in commercial and dealer indirect
loans, partially offset by an increase in equity loans and
lines. Average investment securities decreased in 2001,
due primarily to the sale of approximately $4.0 billion of
available-for-sale securities associated with the financial
restructuring in 2000. Among funding sources, average
deposits decreased by $1.4 billion compared to 2000. The
decrease in deposits was primarily in higher priced time
deposits and foreign time deposits offset by an increase in
low-cost demand deposits.

Table 3 shows how the changes in yields, rates and
average balances from the prior year affected NII. The
section entitled “Balance Sheet Analysis” which begins on
page 51 contains a more detailed discussion about changes
in interest-earning assets and funding sources.

Provision for Loan Losses

The provision for loan losses is the charge to earnings
necessary to maintain the allowance for loan losses at an
adequate level to absorb losses inherent in the loan portfolio.




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

In 2002, AmSouth recorded provision charges for loan
losses totalir.g $213.6 million, compared to $187.1 million
recorded in 2001 and $227.6 million in 2000. The increase
in the loan loss provision in 2002 versus 2001 reflects the
impact of thz weak economy on AmSouth’s loan portfolio
and loan growth on the balance sheet in 2002. See
the “Credit Risk Management Process and Loan Quality”
section of this report for a further discussion of the factors
used by management to determine the appropriate level
for the allowance for loan losses.

Net charge-offs decreased by $8.3 million in 2002 due
to lower commercial charge-offs compared to 2001
reflecting lower losses from the syndicated loan portfolio.
At the same time, consumer charge-offs increased across
most categor:es of consumer loans.

The decrease in commercial charge-offs reflected the
overall improvement in the credit quality of AmSouth’s
commercial loan portfolio as management took steps in
2000 and 2001 to reduce AmSouth’s exposure to large
syndicated cradits. In 2001, AmSouth charged off approxi-
mately $45.6 million of large syndicated loans compared
to $17.4 million of syndicated loan charge-offs in 2002.
The improvement in the commercial portfolio was also
evidenced by the percentage of commercial charge-offs to
average commercial loans in 2002. This ratio went down
to 0.85 percent in 2002 versus 1.20 percent in 2001.

Within the consumer portfolio, AmSouth experienced
higher charge-offs in most categories of consumer loans
reflecting increased loan balances and continued economic
weakness in 2002. Charge-offs increased $13.4 million in
the equity lending portfolio and $5.9 million in dealer
indirect automobile loan charge-offs. Consumer net
charge-offs to average consumer loans increased to 0.92
percent versus 0.87 percent in 2001. See Table 17 for a
summary of net charge-offs by loan category.

The decrease in the loan loss provision in 2001 versus
2000 reflected the impact of approximately $88.3 million
of provision recorded as part of AmSouth’s financial
restructuring in 2000 for deterioration in the syndicated
loan portfolio. $61 million of this additional provision was
associated with the sale of approximately $110 million of
syndicated loans. Excluding the impact of this charge, the

provision in 2001 increased by approximately $47.8 million.
This increase reflected higher losses in the commercial and
consumer portfolios during 2001.

Net charge-offs increased by $80 million in 2001 due to
higher commercial charge-offs resulting from the resolution
of problem syndicated loans and increases in consumer
charge-offs. The increase in consumer charge-offs occurred
across most categories of consumer loans. Charge-offs of
equity loans and lines and revolving credit loans increased
by $7.3 million and $5.4 million, respectively, from 2000
levels. The higher charge-offs among consumer loans were a
result of the slower economy in 2001.

For additional details on net charge-offs, see Tables 17
and 19. Also, additional discussion of asset quality trends
may be found in the section of this report entitled “Credit
Risk Management Process and Loan Quality”

Noninterest Revenues

Noninterest revenues (NIR) represent fees and income
derived from sources other than interest-earning assets
such as service charges on deposit accounts and consumer
investment services. NIR totaled $739.4 million in 2002
compared to $748.2 million in 2001 and $669.5 million in
2000. Noninterest revenues represented 32.7 percent of
total tax equivalent net revenues in 2002 versus 34.3 percent
in 2001 and 32.0 percent in 2000.

The decrease in NIR during 2002 reflected decreases
in trust income, consumer investment services income,
and other NIR. Decreases in the categories were partially
offset by higher service charges on deposit accounts.

Service charges on deposit accounts represent revenues
from maintenance fees, check charges, and overdraft fees
on consumer and small business deposit accounts, and
corporate analysis and treasury management fees on com-
mercial deposit accounts. In 2002, service charges grew
12.1 percent to $289.2 million. The increase was primarily
the result of increases in overdraft fees on consumer and
small business accounts and higher revenues from corpo-
rate analysis from commercial customers. The increase in
overdraft fees was the result of an increase in the volume
of overdrafts in 2002, and the implementation of payment
posting procedures which standardized the posting of
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paper-based and electronic payments. Previously, paper-
based payments were prioritized ahead of electronic
payments in posting transactions to accounts, which
resulted in fewer overdrafts. The change in procedure
provides consistent treatment for all customer initiated
transactions and helps to ensure that larger, more impor-
tant transactions are given priority in payment, whether
electronic or paper-based. In addition, consistent with
industry standards, AmSouth began charging fees for
overdrafts created by ATM withdrawals, which further
contributed to overdraft fees. Corporate analysis fees rep-
resent service charges on commercial accounts. Customers
can receive credits, which offset corporate analysis fees
and are based on prevailing interest rates and the level of
deposit balances maintained. In 2002, corporate analysis
fees benefited from the lower interest rate environment,
which reduced earnings credits to customers.

Trust revenues are derived from trust services,
institutional investment services and natural resources
management. Fees are generally based on a percentage of

the market value of assets under management. Trust income
in 2002 was $105.4 million, a decrease of $6.7 million.
The decrease reflected a decline due to the outsourcing
of trust recordkeeping services, which also created a
corresponding reduction in NIE associated with the trust
business. The decrease was also the result of lower market
values of trust assets under management during the year.
As a result of the decline in market value, discretionary
trust assets under management were $13.7 billion at the
end of 2002, down from $14.8 billion at the end of 2001.
Total trust assets were $22.9 billion at December 31, 2002,
compared to $25.4 billion in 2001.

Consumer investment service revenues are derived
from annuity sales, mutual fund sales, brokerage fees and
the sale of other investment products. In 2002, consumer
investment services income declined $17.6 million.
Annuity sales, the largest revenue category within consumer
investment services, represent sales of fixed and variable
annuity products by trained and licensed professionals in
AmSouth’s branches and AmSouth Investment Services.

TABLE 4 - NONINTEREST REVENUES AND NONINTEREST EXPENSES
Years Ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Noninterest revenues:
Service charges on deposit accounts § 289226 $ 258,089 § 229,383 $§ 233,045 § 234,849
Trust income 105,428 112,078 114,353 109,223 109,453
Consumer investment services income 77,793 95,387 199,270 213,292 183,831
Other noninterest revenues 266,914 282,668 126,488 292,000 271,721
$ 739,361 $ 748,222 § 669,454 $ 847,560 § 799,854
Noninterest expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits $ 584,264 $ 566,288 $ 565889 $§ 612,687 $ 596,050
Equipment expense 118,729 122,621 121,798 135,590 123,480
Net occupancy expense 118,548 113,174 114,783 111,432 106,497
Subscribers’ commissions -0- -0- 82,618 99,588 89,918
Merger-related costs -0- -0- 110,178 301,415 121,725
Other noninterest expenses 305,081 355,149 353,264 387,795 368,602
$ 1,126,622 $ 1,157,232 $1,348,530 $1,648,507  $1,406,272




In 2002, income from annuities declined $13.5 million.
In 2002, principal annuity sales totaled $874 million
compared to $1.1 billion in 2001. The decrease resulted
primarily from poor market conditions for annuities
during 2002 as evidenced by annuities’ low yields relative
to other financial products. Revenues from mutual funds
and brokerage fees, which are primarily derived from sales
by trained aad licensed representatives of AmSouth
Investment Services, also declined during the year,
primarily due to volatile financial markets.

Other NIR decreased $15.8 million in 2002 compared
to 2001. The decrease included an $8.5 million decline
in mortgage income in 2002 due to lower volumes of
secondary market residential mortgage sales, reflecting
management’s decision to retain more residential mort-
gages on the balance sheet, and a $5.9 million decrease
associated with changes in the fair value of derivative
instruments used by AmSouth to hedge sales of mortgage
loans. The decrease in other NIR also included a $7.1 million
decrease in servicing and other fee income related to the
continued paydown of automobile loans previously secu-
ritized or sold. The decrease in other NIR further reflected
a $2.7 million decrease due to market adjustments on
derivative instruments, $4.2 million in charges recorded
in 2002 associated with a Joss on the sale of branch facilities
and other assets, and a $1.7 million loss associated with a
decline in the residual value on a commercial lease. The
decrease between years was also impacted by $8.7 million
of gains related to the sale of equity-related interests,
leased equipment, and branch facilities in 2001. Offsetting
these declines within other noninterest revenues were
increases in bank-owned life insurance (BOLI), bankcard
incorme, intercaange income and portfolio income.

Interchange income represents fees derived from
electronic transactions such as debit cards and automated
teller machines. In 2002, interchange income increased
$6.8 million to $63.4 million due primarily to increases
in the volume of checkcards outstanding and increases
in transaction volumes. AmSouth now has 1.3 million
checkcards and more than 1,200 ATMs generating inter-
change fees. The growth in interchange income was
directly related to higher sales of convenience services
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through AmSouth’s strategic initiative to aggressively grow
Consumer Banking.

BOLI income is derived from life insurance policies on
certain employees. Over the last three years, healthcare
and other benefit costs have risen substantially, and
income from BOLI is used to offset a portion of the
increase that has occurred. Though no additional BOLI
purchases occurred in 2002, income from BOLI increased
$6.1 million in 2002 to $59.9 million. The increase
reflected normal increases in cash surrender value on
policies purchased in prior years and increases in benefit
payments received during 2002.

Portfolio income is derived from the net gains and
losses on sales of securities from the investment portfolio.
In 2002, portfolio income was $17.5 million compared to
$13.2 million in 2001. While the volume of investment
security sales was relatively stable compared to 2001, the
increase in securities gains reflected higher market values
as a result of the current low interest rate environment.

In 2003, management expects modest noninterest
revenue growth compared to 2002. This expectation is
based on a strengthening economy in 2003 and the success of
AmSouth’s strategic initiatives. Deterioration in the economy,
or prolonged weakness, as well as management’s failure to
meet its revenue growth objectives could cause NIR to differ
from current expectations. Each of the major categories of
NIR from 1998 through 2002 is shown in Table 4.

EFFICIENCY RATIO
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The increase in NIR during 2001 reflected increases
in service charges and other NIR, partially offset by
decreases in trust income and consumer investment services
income. The increase in service charges in 2001 was the
result of higher treasury management fees and higher rev-
enue from overdraft fees. Other NIR increased due to
higher mortgage income, interchange fees, income from
BOLI and portfolio income. The increase in other NIR
in 2001 also reflected other charges taken by AmSouth in
2000 related to its financial restructuring. Trust income in
2001 was lower than in 2000 due primarily to lower market-
value based fees. The decrease in consumer investment
services income reflected the loss of revenue from the sale
of IFC at the end of the third quarter of 2000.

Noninterest Expenses

Noninterest expenses (NIE) represent the operating
expenses of AmSouth, In light of recent economic
weakness, controlling NIE has been, and will continue to
be, an important element to meeting performance goals.
In 2002, NIE totaled $1.1 billion, a decrease of 2.6 percent.
The decrease reflects the benefit of a change in accounting
that discontinued the amortization of goodwill, and
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management’s efforts to control expense growth during
the year in light of weak economic growth.

Personnel costs increased $18.0 million or 3.2 percent
compared to 2001. The higher personnel costs were
primarily due to increases in benefit expenses, general
merit increases, and higher incentive compensation as a
result of improved performance in 2002. These increases
were partially offset by a reduction in the average number
of personnel compared to 2001. Despite the reduction in
average employees, AmSouth continued to add personnel
in key areas associated with its strategic initiatives. The
increase in employee benefits in 2002 was due to higher
medical insurance and pension costs.

Equipment expense decreased $3.9 million in 2002
due to recent efforts to eliminate redundant systems and
upgrades to more efficient, less expensive technology.

Net occupancy expense increased $5.4 million in 2002
due primarily to the impact of AmSouth’s branch expan-
sion program. In 2002, AmSouth added 26 new branches.

Other NIE decreased $50.1 million in 2002 reflecting
a $12.0 million reduction in communication expense and
a $29.4 million reduction associated with goodwill amor-
tization. The decrease in communication expense was

TABLE 5 - SECURITIES
December 31

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Trading securities $ 48 $ 13 $ 12

Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities 3,936 3,846 1,304
Other securities 739 895 538
State, county and municipal securities 70 89 67
4,745 4,830 1,909

Held-to-maturity securities:
U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities 3,085 2,540 4,798
Other securities 1,000 1,120 1,465
State, county and municipal securities 340 342 387
4,425 4,002 6,650
$ 9218 $ 8845 $ 8571
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TABLE 6 - AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES AND HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES RELATIVE CONTRACTUAL
MATURITIES AND WEIGHTED-AVERAGE YIELDS

Due Within Due After One but Due After Five but Due After
) ) One Year Within Five Years Within Ten Years Ten Years
(Taxable equivalent basis -
dollars in thousands) Amount  Yield Amount  Yield Amount  Yield Amount Yield
Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. Treasury and federal
agency securities $ 8305 5.71% $ 64,389 5.72% $248,292  6.63%  $ 3,470,043 6.12%
State, county and municipal
obligations 4,462 7.63 13,375 7.96 36,715 7.82 11,696 7.57
Other securities 37,583 495 7,433 1454 ) 2,538 7.39 268,743 6.22

$ 50,350  5.31% $ 85197  6.84% $287,545  6.78%  § 3,750,482 6.13%

Taxable equivalent adjustment
for calculation of yield $ 119 $ 368 $ 986 $ 214
Held-to-maturity securities:

U.S. Treasury and federal

agency sscurities $ 3284 451% $ 6,928 4.48% $ 46,559  6.12%  $ 3,028,586 6.10%
State, county and municipal

obligaticns 3,552 6.27 11,986 7.33 82,236 7.38 242,254 7.26
Other securities 25 7.50 575 6.29 8,832  6.59 990,236 6.21

$ 6,861 543% $ 19,489 6.29% $137,627 6.90% $ 4,261,076 6.19%

Taxable equivalent adjustment
for calculation of yield $ 78 $ 308 $ 2,116 $ 6,154

Nates:

1. The weighted-average yields were computed by dividing the taxable equivalent interest income by the amortized cost of the appropriate securities, The taxable equivalent interest
income has be:n computed based on the statutory federal income tax rate and does not give effect to the disallowance of interest expense, for federal income tax purposes, related to
certain tax-fre: assets.

2. The amount of available-for-sale securities indicated as maturing after five but within ten years includes $251 million of mortgage-backed securities, and those indicated as matur-
ing after ten years includes $3.7 billion of mortgage-backed securities, Although these securities have stated long-term final maturities, according to mortgage industry standards,
the estimated veighted-average remaining life of these securities held in AmSouth’s investment portfolio is approximately 2.6 vears.

3. The amount of held-to-maturity securities indicated as maturing after five but within ten years includes $53 million of mortgage-backed securities, and those indicated as maturing
after ten years includes $4.0 billion of mortgage-backed securities. Although these securities have stated long-term final maturities, according to mortgage industry standards, the
estimated weig tted-average remaining life of these securities held in AmSoutls investment portfolio is approximately 2.1 yeass.

4, Federal Reserve Bank stock, Federal Home Loan Bank stock, and equity stock of other corporations held by AmSouth are not included in the above table, In addition, interest-only
strips of $2,485.000 associated with loan conduit sales were excluded from the table above. The interest-only strips are expected to mature within one year.
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primarily the result of lower expenses associated with the
consolidation and renegotiation of services associated with
a vendor change. The decrease in goodwill amortization in
2002 was the result of AmSouth’s adoption of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (Statement 142) in January
of 2002. Statement 142 requires that goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives be tested
for impairment annually and adjustments made accord-
ingly. Previously, such assets were simply amortized
to expense on a straight-line basis over periods ranging
from ten to twenty-five vears. See “Recent Accounting
Pronouncements” in Note 1 “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” for a further discussion. Within other
NIE, non-credit losses, loan processing costs, travel and
entertainment and other personnel costs were all lower in
2002 compared to 2001 reflecting management’s efforts to
control expenses across the company. AmSouth anticipates
that NTE will grow modestly in 2003 as a result of strategic
initiatives including the branch expansion efforts.
The magnitude of any expense growth is dependent on
management’s ability to maintain cost control across ail
categories of NIE. Each of the major categories of NIE
from 1998 through 2002 is shown in Table 4.

In 2001, NIE totaled $1.2 billion. The decrease of $191
million compared to 2000 reflected the elimination of
$109.5 million of operating expenses related to IFC and
$110.2 million of merger-related costs incurred in 2000.
Excluding these items, NIE increased $28.4 million or 2.5
percent. Personnel costs in 2001 remained relatively flat
compared to 2000. Increases in benefit expenses and
general merit increases were offset by a reduction in the
number of personnel realized from the First American
merger integration during 2000. The increase in employee
benefits in 2001 was due to higher medical insurance and
pension costs. Net occupancy expense decreased $1.6
million in 2001 due to the impact of a full year of savings
from the consolidation of office and branch space associ-
ated with the First American merger. Other NIE increased
$1.9 million in 2001 due primarily to higher professional
fees associated with revenue generating projects and
enhancements to collection activities. The increase was

partially offset by lower marketing, amortization, commu-
nications and postage and supplies expense.

Income Taxes

AmSouth’s income tax expense was $262.7 million in
2002, $234.3 million in 2001 and $125.4 million in 2000.
Income tax expense for each year fluctuated based on pre-
tax income. The effective tax rate for 2002 was 30.1 percent
compared to 30.4 percent in 2001 and 27.6 percent in
2000. The lower effective tax rate in 2000 reflected tax
benefits received from the restructuring of a portion of
AmSouth’s lease portfolio in 2000 which lowered the
effective tax rate on income from leases. In addition, the
lower effective tax rate reflected a decrease in non-
deductible acquisition costs in 2000. Details of the
deferred tax assets and liabilities are included in Note 19
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Balance Sheet Analysis

At December 31, 2002, AmSouth reported total assets
of $40.6 billion compared to $38.6 billion at the end
of 2001. Average total assets were $38.6 billion in 2002,
up $326 million compared to 2001, principally reflect-
ing growth in interest-earning assets as well as other
noninterest-earning assets.

TOTAL LOANS

(In billions)

$29.4 ) $29.4

$26.3 $26.3
$24.4 M $246
m

98 99 00 o1

O Managed Loans [0 Balance Sheet Loans
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TABLE 7 - MAJOR LOAN CATEGORIES
December 31
(In millions) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Commercial:

Commercial and industrial $ 5151  § 5272 §$ 6,031 § 6940 § 7,225
Commercial loans secured by real estate 1,726 1,682 1,765 2,036 1,833
Comme:cial leases 1,781 1,619 1,282 1,027 718
Total commercial 8,658 8,573 9,078 10,003 9,776

Commercial real estate:
Commercial real estate mortgages 2,305 2,137 2,323 2,295 2,221
Real estate construction 2,088 2,365 2,517 2,417 1,800
Total commercial real estate 4,393 4,502 4,840 4,712 4,021

Consumer:

Residential first mortgages 2,794 1,666 1,358 1,701 2,306
Equity Icans and lines 6,360 5,404 4,656 3,874 3,346
Dealer indirect 3,731 3,382 2,990 4,149 2,909
Revolving credit 541 520 505 489 477
Other consumer 874 1,077 1,189 1,339 1,610
Total consumer 14,300 12,049 10,698 11,552 10,648
Total loans net of unearned income $§ 27351 § 25124 § 24616 $ 26267 $ 24,445

Interest-Earning Assets

In banking, the predominant interest-earning assets are
loans and investment securities. The proportion of interest-
earning assets to total assets measures the effectiveness of
management’s efforts to invest available funds into the
most profitable interest-earning assets. The categories which
comprise interest-earning assets are shown in Table 1.

Securities

AmSouth classifies its debt and equity securities as either
held-to-maturity (HTM), available-for-sale (AFS) or trad-
ing securities. Securities are classified as HTM and carried
at amortized cost only if AmSouth has the positive intent
and ability to hold those securities to maturity. If not
classified as H[M, such securities are classified as trading
securities or AFS securities. Trading securities are carried
at market value with unrealized gains and losses included
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in other noninterest revenues. AFS securities are also carried
at market value with unrealized gains or losses, net of deferred
taxes, reported in accumulated other comprehensive income
within shareholders’ equity.

At December 31, 2002, AFS securities totaled $4.7 billion
and represented 51.5 percent of the total securities portfolio,
relatively unchanged compared to $4.8 billion or 54.6 percent
in AFS securities at the end of 2001.

AFS securities at year-end 2002 consisted of U.S.
Treasury and federal agency securities, variable and fixed
rate mortgage-backed securities, state and municipal secu-
rities, other private asset-backed securities, and equities.
The average life of the AFS portfolio is estimated to be 2.8
years with a duration of approximately 2.5 years. Total net
realized gains of $13.2 million from the sale of AFS securi-
ties were included in other noninterest revenues in 2002,
compared to $11.2 million in 2001. Unrealized gains, net of
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LOAN PORTFOLIO DISTRIBUTION
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c. Commercial Real Estate

o7
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deferred taxes, on the AFS portfolio of $119.5 million and
$63.9 million were included in other comprehensive
income within shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively. In addition, $26.0 million and
$57.5 million of unrealized losses, net of deferred taxes,
associated with the transfer of AFS securities to the HTM
portfolio in 1999 remained in other comprehensive
income at year-end 2002 and 2001, respectively.

HTM securities were $4.4 billion at the end of 2002,
up $423 million compared to $4.0 billion at year-end 2001.
Securities classified as HTM at the end of 2002 consisted
primarily of collateralized mortgage obligations, federal
agency securities, mortgage-backed securities and state,
county and municipal obligations. The average life of
these securities is estimated to be 2.3 years with a duration
of 2.1 years. At December 31, 2002, the HTM portfolio
had net unrealized gains, before taxes, of $127.7 million.

AmSouth’s policy requires all securities purchased for
the securities portfolio, except state, county and local
municipal obligations which are typically insured, to be
rated investment grade or better. Securities backed by
the U.S. Government and its agencies, both on a direct
and indirect basis, represented approximately 81 percent
of the investment portfolio at December 31, 2002.
Approximately 96 percent of state, county and Jocal
municipal securities at year-end 2002 were rated either
single A or above by the rating agencies or were escrowed
in U.S. Treasury obligations.

Loans

Loans are the single largest category of interest-earning
assets at AmSouth and produce the highest level of
revenues. The loan portfolio includes four main compo-
nents: commercial loans, commercial real estate loans,
consumer loans, and, within the consumer loan category,
residential first mortgage loans. At December 31, 2002,
loans, net of unearned income, totaled $27.4 billion,

TABLE 8 ~ SELECTED LOAN MATURITIES AND SENSITIVITY TO CHANGE IN INTEREST RATES
Duein One Due After One but
Year or Less Within Five Years Due After Five Years
Fixed Variable Fixed Variable
{In millions) Rate Rate Total Rate Rate Total Total
Commercial $ 2,535 $ 1,272 $ 2476 $ 3,748 $ 2004 $ 371 $ 2,375 $ 8,658
Commercial real
estate mortgages 665 332 959 1,291 208 141 349 2,305
Real estate construction 802 123 767 890 64 332 396 2,088
Total $ 4,002 $ 1,727 $ 4202 $ 5929 $ 2,276 $ 844 § 3,120 $13,051
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TABLE 9 - AVERAGE DEPOSITS
December 31
(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Noninterest-bearing demand $ 4,907,143 $ 4,593,103 $ 4,658,636
Interest-bearing demand and money market 10,706,524 9,999,114 9,376,473
Savings 1,300,563 1,218,198 1,661,398
Time:

Retail 4,974,536 5,907,955 6,142,485
Individual retirement accounts 1,300,203 1,353,861 1,411,165
Other 206,949 246,890 207,156
Total time 6,481,688 7,508,706 7,760,806
Foreign time 467,926 321,620 1,087,636
Certificates of deposit of $100,000 or more 2,079,690 2,275,440 2,778,184
§ 25,943,534 $ 25916,181 $ 27,323,133

an increase of 8.9 percent from the $25.1 billion reported
at the end of 2001.

Growth in the loan portfolio in 2002 was the result of
growth in commercial and consumer loans, offset by a
decrease in commercial real estate loans. The increase in
commercial loans reflects increases in commercial loans
secured by real estate and commercial leases. Commercial
real estate loans are loans to companies or developers, that
are used for the purchase or construction of a commercial
property for which repayment will be generated by the
property. Commercial loans secured by real estate are busi-
ness loans that are collateralized by real estate, but for which
the source of repayment is the operating cash flow from the
business. Growth in consumer loans reflected continued
growth in residential first mortgages and equity lines of
credit. The growth reflects AmSouth’s focus on its strategic
initiative to grow Consumer Banking and its emphasis on
home equity sales and marketing campaigns during 2002.

On a managed basis, total loans were $30.3 billion at
the end of 2002, an increase of $946 million or 3.2 percent
compared to the end of 2001. Managed loans represent
loans on the balance sheet plus loans that have been securi-
tized or sold but where AmSouth continues to service the
loans and manage the customer relationships. Managed

consumer loans increased $1.3 billion reflecting growth
in the home equity and residential mortgage portfolios,
partially offset by declining managed dealer indirect auto-
mobile loans. Managed commercial loans were $325 million
lower in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily reflecting lower
commercial loan demand associated with a weak
economy, and declining balances in the conduits due to
accelerated prepayment activity. See additional discussion
of third-party conduit loan sales in the section of this
report entitled “Liquidity”

Total commercial loans were $8.7 billion at the end of
2002 compared to $8.6 billion at year-end 2001. The
increase reflects growth in commercial loans secured by real
estate and commercial leases. Partially offsetting this growth
was a decline in commercial and industrial loans reflecting
AmSouth’s continued reduction of syndicated commercial
loans, continued weakness in capital spending by corporate
customers, and AmSouth’s application of more selective
underwriting standards. During 2002, AmSouth reduced its
syndicated loan portfolio by $208.6 million.

Growth in commercial loans secured by real estate
reflects the addition of new commercial banking relation-
ships in 2002 and a modest increase in borrowing activity
by existing commercial customers during the year.
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TABLE 10 - MATURITY OF DOMESTIC TIME DEPOSITS OF $100,000 OR MORE

December 31
(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Three months or less $ 446,153 $ 633,746 $ 635263
Over three through six months 589,213 622,409 454,478
Qver six through twelve months 323,559 507,886 918,331
Over twelve months 920,726 473,820 741,904
$ 2,279,651 $ 2,237,861 $ 2,749,976

Commercial leases included in the commercial loan
category were $1.8 billion at December 31, 2002 versus
$1.6 billion at December 31, 2001. The increase in the
lease portfolio reflected the success of AmSouth’s strategy
to be a leader among banks in the leasing business and its
added emphasis on commercial middle-market business
during the year.

Commercial real estate loans are composed of two
primary categories: commercial real estate mortgages
and real estate construction loans. The decrease in the
commercial real estate portfolio in 2002 reflected fewer
construction project financing opportunities due to the
slowdown in the economy and a higher level of refinance
activity resulting from lower interest rates.

Substantially all of AmSouth’s real estate portfolio is
made up of loans to finance local home builders within
AmSouth’s markets; loans for construction projects that
have been presold, preleased or otherwise have secured
permanent financing; and loans to real estate companies
that have significant equity invested in each project and
offer substantive and meaningful guarantees.

The major categories of consumer loans include
residential first mortgage loans, home equity loans and
lines of credit, dealer indirect loans, revolving credit and
other direct consumer loans. AmSouth’s consumer lending
programs produced solid growth in 2002.

Residential first mortgages grew during 2002 as
consumers took advantage of historically low interest rates
to purchase new homes or refinance existing mortgages.
The growth also reflects AmSouth’s decision during the

year to retain a higher proportion of residential mortgage
originations in our own loan portfolio, and thus shown on
the balance sheet. Management expects to continue holding
a higher level of residential mortgages on the balance sheet
in 2003. The high volume of refinance activity somewhat
offset the growth in the residential mortgage portfolio.
On a managed basis, residential first mortgages totaled
$4.4 billion, an increase of $603 million during 2002.

Home equity loans and lines of credit experienced
strong growth in all of AmSouth’s markets during 2002.
New home equity commitments totaled $4.9 billion in
2002 compared with $4.2 billion in 2001. The catalyst for
the growth was AmSouth’s strategic initiative to aggres-
sively grow Consumer Banking and its emphasis on selling
home equity lines of credit through the branches. The
increase in new commitments was partially offset by an
increase in payoffs of existing home equity loans and lines
as customers refinanced their mortgages as interest rates
dropped during the year.

Dealer indirect loans consisted primarily of loans
made to individuals to finance the purchase of new and
used automobiles. During 2002, dealer indirect loans
on the balance sheet increased, reflecting management’s
decision to not securitize or sell any of its dealer indirect
portfolio. On a managed basis, which includes loans
securitized and loans sold to conduits, dealer indirect
loans as of December 31, 2002, decreased $133 million, or
3.1 percent compared to 2001. The decrease was primarily
related to a strategic decision to tighten credit under-
writing standards in this portfolio.
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TABLE 11 - CAPITAL RATIOS

(Dollars in thowsands)

December 31

Risk-based capital:
Shareholcers’ equity
Less unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities
Less accumulated net gains on cash flow hedges
Intangible assets
Other adjustments
Tier 1 capital
Adjusted allowance for loan losses*
Qualifying long-term debt
Tier 2 capital
Total capital
Risk-adjusted assets

Capital ratios:
Tier 1 capital to total risk-adjusted assets
Total capital to total risk-adjusted assets
Leverage
Ending equity to assets
Ending tangible equity to assets

*Includes $6,660 and $10,693 in 2002 and 2001, respectively, associated with reserves recorded in other liabilities for off-balance sheet credit exposures.

2002 2001
$ 3,115,997 $ 2,955,099
(93,453) (6,432)
(9,506) (18,569)
(301,899) (306,799)
(1,158) (943)
2,709,981 2,622,356
388,239 374,300
584,616 724,349
972,855 1,098,649

$ 3,682,836 $ 3,721,005
$ 34,747,000 $ 33,965,578
7.80% 7.72%

10.60 10.96

6.85 6.98

7.68 7.66

6.99 6.92

Deposits
Deposits are AmSouth’s primary source of funding and
their cost is the largest category of interest expense. There are
six principal categories of deposits: noninterest-bearing
demand, interest-bearing demand and money market,
savings, time, foreign time and certificates of deposit of
$100,000 or more. See Table 9 for the detailed amounts.
Total average deposits in 2002 were $25.9 billion, an
increase of $27.4 million. Lower cost, transaction deposit
categories incrzased $1.1 billion as a result of AmSouth’s
increased emphasis on growing low-cost deposits through
its strategic initiatives to aggressively grow Consumer and
Business Banking. Growth in low-cost deposit categories
was substantiaily offset by continued decreases in higher
cost time deposits during 2002, reflecting management’s
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plan to reduce reliance on higher cost funding sources.

Among low-cost deposit categories, average noninterest-
bearing demand deposits grew $314.0 million or 6.8 percent
and average interest-bearing demand and money market
deposits increased $707.4 million or 7.1 percent. Average
savings deposit balances also increased by $82.4 million
during the year. Deposit growth was driven by Consumer
and Business Banking household growth and the addition
of 26 new branches in attractive growth markets during
2002. During 2002, consumer checking households grew
to more than 970 thousand, a 1.0 percent increase compared
to 2001, and Business Banking households grew more
than 13 thousand or 14.6 percent. Also contributing to
the growth was AmSouth’s introduction of a new money
market deposit product that gives trust customers the
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option of earning a more attractive rate compared to money
market mutual funds.

Average time deposits were lower in 2002, reflecting
management’s decision to allow higher cost certificates of
deposit to run off during the fourth quarter of 2001 and the
first half of 2002. The declining interest rate environment
also contributed to the decline in core time deposits. Time
deposits maturing in 2002 either renewed at substantially
lower rates, migrated to low-cost deposit categories, or
moved into alternative financial products.

Foreign time deposits increased $146 million during
2002 due to increased utilization of Euro CDs as a sweep
vehicle by customers. Certificates of deposit of $100,000
or more declined in 2002. These deposits, for the most
part, are competitively bid and fluctuate based on the
average level of interest rates and management’s determi-
nation of the need for such deposits from time to time.

Other Interest-Bearing Liabilities
Other interest-bearing liabilities include all interest-bearing
liabilities except deposits. Included in this category are
short-term borrowings such as federal funds purchased and
securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase
agreements) and other borrowed funds. Average other
borrowed funds, which include master notes, short-term
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) advances, term federal
fund purchases, bank notes, and treasury, tax and loan
notes, decreased in 2002 to $88 million versus $163 million
in 2001, a decrease of 45.8 percent. AmSouth began reducing
its short-term borrowings in the fourth quarter of 2000
with funds received from the sale of securities and loans as
part of its third-quarter financial restructuring. AmSouth
continued to lower borrowings in 2002, reducing its
reliance on short-term borrowing as a funding source.
Average federal funds purchased and repurchase
agreements were $2.0 billion in 2002, an 8.3 percent
decrease from $2.2 billion in 2001. At December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, federal funds purchased and repurchase
agreements totaled $1.8 billion, $2.1 billion and $2.3 billion,
respectively, with weighted-average interest rates of
1.02 percent, 1.20 percent and 5.37 percent, respectively.
The maximum amount outstanding at any month end during

each of the last three years was $2.1 billion, $2.4 billion and
$4.5 billion, respectively. The average daily balance and
average interest rates for each year are presented in Table 2.
Long-term debt consisted of long-term FHLB advances,
subordinated notes and debentures, and various long-
term notes payable. Average long-term debt outstanding in
2002 increased $136.3 million due to an increase in FHLB
advances. These funds were utilized to better align the
maturities of the growth in residential mortgages.

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity increased $160.9 million during 2002
due to the retention of net income, issuance of common
stock under various stock-based employee benefits plans
and the dividend reinvestment plan, and an $87.0 million
increase in unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities,
net of taxes, as a result of improved market values in the
available-for-sale portion of the investment portfolio.
Other comprehensive income also included $9.5 million
at December 31, 2002, associated with interest rate swap
cash flow hedges in accordance with Statement 133. These
items were partially offset by cash dividends declared of
$320.1 million and the purchase of 13.3 million shares of
AmSouth common stock for $272 million to provide
shares for employee benefit plans, dividend reinvestment
and other corporate purposes. Information on prior
years may be found in the Consolidated Statement of
Shareholders’ Equity.

AmSouth maintains a capital and dividend policy
based on industry standards, regulatory requirements,
perceived risk of the various lines of business, and future
growth opportunities. At least annually, management
reevaluates the policy and presents its findings to the
Board of Directors to ensure that the policy continues to
support corporate objectives and is consistent with the
regulatory environment and changes in market conditions.

At December 31, 2002, AmSouth met or exceeded all
of the minimum capital standards for the parent company
and its banking subsidiary as established by regulatory
requirements and AmSouth’s capital policy. Refer to
Table 11 and Notes 14 and 17 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for specific information.



RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk identification and management are key elements in
the overall management of AmSouth. Management
believes the primary risk exposures are interest rate and
associated prepayment risks, liquidity, credit, operating
and legal risk. Interest rate risk is the risk to NII repre-
sented by the impact of higher or lower interest rates.
Liquidity risk is the possibility that AmSouth will not be
able to fund present and future obligations, and credit risk
represents the possibility that borrowers may not be able
to repay loans, Operating risk is the risk of loss resulting
from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Legal risk represents the
risk of legal proceedings against AmSouth that arise in the
ordinary course of AmSouth’s business.

External factors beyond management’s control may
from time to time result in losses despite risk management

TABLE 12 - INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
NOTIONAL ACTIVITY
Receive
Fixed Rate
(In millions) Swaps
Balance at January 1, 2000 $ 3,318
Additions 818
Maturities (259)
Calls (850)
Terminations (360)
Balance at Dzcember 31, 2000 2,667
Additions -0-
Maturities (299)
Calls (307)
Terminations -0-
Balance at Dzcember 31, 2001 2,061
Additions -0-
Maturities (971)
Calls -0-
Terminations -0-
Balance at Dacember 31, 2002 $ 1,090
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efforts. Management follows a formal policy to evaluate
and document the key risks facing each line of business,
how those risks can be controlled or mitigated, and how
management monitors the controls to ensure that they
are effective. AmSouth’s Internal Audit Division performs
ongoing independent reviews of the risk management
process and assures the adequacy of documentation. The
results of these reviews are reported regularly to the Audit
and Community Responsibility Committee of the Board
of Directors. AmSouth also maintains a Risk Management
Oversight Committee which is composed of members
of senior management from across the company and
is responsible for ensuring that appropriate systems of
controls are in place for managing and monitoring risk.

Some of the more significant processes used to manage
and control interest rate, liquidity and credit risks are
described in the following paragraphs.

Asset and Liability Management

AmSouth maintains a formal asset and liability management
process to quantify, monitor and control interest rate risk
and to assist management in maintaining stability in the
NIM under varying interest rate environments. This is
accomplished through the development and implementa-
tion of lending, funding, pricing and hedging strategies
designed to achieve net interest income performance
goals while minimizing the potential variation of NII
under different interest rate scenarios.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises primarily as a result of AmSouth’s
core business activities of extending loans and accepting
deposits, and the associated balance sheet management
required to match maturities of loans and investments
to funding sources. AmSouth follows an extensive process
to actively manage its exposure to interest rate risk.
The principal objective of asset and liability management
is to maximize net interest income while operating
within acceptable limits established for interest rate
risk and maintaining adequate levels of liquidity. The
Board of Directors, based upon recommendations from
management, establishes policies and risk limits for the
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management of interest rate risk and monitors compliance
with these policies.

Since no single measurement system satisfies all
management objectives, a combination of techniques is
used to manage interest rate risk including simulation
analysis, asset and liability repricing schedules and eco-
nomic value of equity. An Asset and Liability Committee,
consisting of key members of management, and the Board
of Directors regularly review the results of these interest
rate risk analyses.

AmSouth frequently evaluates net interest income
under various balance sheet and interest rate scenarios,
using simulation analysis as its principal risk management
technique. Management evaluates “base” net interest
income under what is believed to be the most likely balance
sheet structure and interest rate environment. This “base”
case is then evaluated against various changes in interest
rate scenarios. Asset prepayment levels, yield curves and the
overall balance sheet mix and growth assumptions are
adjusted to be consistent with each interest rate scenario.

Key assumptions in the model include the magnitude
and timing of Federal Reserve rate changes and the associ-
ated impact in the change in Treasury rates across the
maturity spectrum; prepayment speeds on mortgage-
related assets; cash flows and maturities of derivatives and
other financial instruments held for purposes other than
trading; changes in market conditions, loan volumes and
pricing; deposit balance and rate sensitivities; customer
preferences; and management’s financial and capital plans.
These assumptions are inherently uncertain and, as a result,
the model cannot precisely estimate NII or precisely predict
the impact of higher or lower interest rates on NII, but it
can indicate the likely direction of change. Actual results
will differ from simulated results due to timing, magnitude
and frequency of interest rate changes, and changes in market
conditions and management’s strategies, among other factors.

Based on the resuits of the simulation model as of
December 31, 2002, NII would increase $13.4 million or 0.9
percent if interest rates gradually increased from then-
current rates by 100 basis points over a 12-month period
and would decrease $23.4 million or 1.5 percent if interest
rates gradually decreased under the same scenario. This

level of interest rate risk is well within AmSouth’s policy
guidelines. Current policy states that NII should not
fluctuate more than 2.5 percent in the event that interest
rates gradually increase or decrease 100 basis points over
a period of 12 months. As of December 31, 2001, the
simulation model indicated that NII would increase
$3.3 million or 0.2 percent if interest rates gradually
increased from then-current rates by 100 basis points over a
12-month period and would be unchanged if interest rates
gradually decreased under the same scenario.

The modest increase in interest sensitivity between years
reflects management’s continued efforts to sustain low
interest rate sensitivity and the current low-rate environ-
ment. The level of variable rate loans on the balance sheet
increased substantially while fixed rate interest-earning
assets declined. High-cost consumer deposits declined by
approximately $400 million while low-cost deposits grew
$1.2 billion, maturities of purchased funds were extended
and “receive fixed/pay floating” interest rate swaps totaling
$971 million matured.

AmSouth uses various derivative financial instruments
to assist in managing interest rate risk. The decision to use
these instruments rather than securities, debt or other
balance sheet alternatives depends on many factors includ-
ing the mix and cost of funding sources, liquidity and
capital requirements and interest rate implications.

The primary derivative instruments used by AmSouth to
manage interest rate risk are interest rate swaps. An interest
rate swap is an agreement between two parties to exchange
one interest stream, such as floating rate, for another, such
as fixed rate, based on a contractual amount known
as “notional amount.” AmSouth uses interest rate swaps
to mitigate its exposure to interest rate risk on certain
loans, deposits and long-term debt. At December 31, 2002,
AmSouth had interest rate swaps in the notional amount of
$1.1 billion. Of these swaps, $350 million of notional value
was used to hedge the cash flow of variable-rate commercial
loans. The remaining $740 million of notional value of
swaps was used to hedge the fair value of fixed-rate consumer
certificates of deposit and corporate and bank debt.

At January 1, 2001, AmSouth adopted Statement 133,
which establishes accounting and reporting standards for
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TABLE 13 - MATURITIES AND INTEREST RATES EXCHANGED ON SWAPS FOR INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

Mature During

6.34%
1.43%

6.23%
1.42%

Receive rate

Pay rate

(Dollars in millior s) 2003 2004 2005 2008 2009 Total
Receive fixed swaps:
Notional armount $ 290 $ 300 $ 150 $ 175 $ 175 $ 1,090

6.25%
1.44%

6.13%
1.59%

6.22%
1.44%

6.25%
1.46%

derivative instruments and hedging activities. Statement 133
requires the recognition of all derivative instruments as either
assets or liabilities in the Statement of Condition at fair value
and establishes special accounting treatments for the following
types of hedges: hedges of changes in the fair value of assets,
liabilities or firm commitments, referred to as fair value
hedges; hedges of variable cash flows of forecasted transac-
tions, including variable rate instruments, referred to as cash
flow hedges; and hedges of foreign currency exposures of net
investments in foreign operations. The accounting for each

of the three types of hedges essentially results in recognizing
earnings or losses to the extent that there is a difference in
the offsetting changes in value, or cash flows from, the hedging
derivative and the hedged item. If a derivative instrument
does not qualify for special hedge accounting treatment, the
full change in the fair value of the derivative instrument is
reflected in earnings in the period of change. During 2002
and 2001, AmSouth had both fair value hedges and cash
flow hedges. See Note 1 and Note 12 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further discussion of derivatives.

TABLE 14 - CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

Payments Due By Period
(Doliars in thousands) Total Lessthan 1 year 1-3 years 4-5years  After 5 years
Borrowings" $ 8,738,877 $ 2,800,908 $ 1,403,110 $ 375,538 $ 4,159,321
Operating leases 413,879 49,934 83,419 69,558 210,968
Time deposits ™ 9,078,255 5,569,958 2,626,402 881,895 -0-
Total contractual cash obligations $ 18,231,011 $ 8,420,800 $ 4,112,931  $ 1,326,991  $ 4,370,289
Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
(Dollars in thouscnds) Total Less than [ year 1-3 years 4-5years  After 5 years
Commercial letters of credit $ 61,485 $ 49,571 $ 11914 § -0- $ -0-
Standby letters of credit 2,699,283 1,360,418 882,179 380,004 76,682
Commitments to extend credit" 14,335,088 10,561,140 3,017,510 666,324 90,114
Total comercial commitments $ 17,095,856 $ 11,971,129 $ 3,911,603 $ 1,046,328 $ 166,796

Notes:

2. Excludes $1.9 rr illion of FAS 133 valuation adjustments.

1. All maturities aie based on contractual maturities. Excludes $71.0 million of FAS 133 valuation adjustments.

3. Excludes $3.4 billion of loan commitments under equity lines and $2.0 billion under revolving lines of credit which do not have scheduled expiration dates.
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Table 12 summarizes the activity, by notional amount,
of derivative financial instruments utilized in the asset
and liability management process at AmSouth for the
years 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Table 13 summarizes the expected maturities of
AmSouth’s swap positions at December 31, 2002, and the
weighted-average interest rates exchanged on swaps. Both
the timing of the maturities and the variable interest pay-
ments and receipts vary as certain interest rates change.
The maturities and interest rates exchanged are calculated
assuming that interest rates remain unchanged from average
December 2002 rates. The information presented could
change as future interest rates increase or decrease.

Prepayment Risk

AmSouth, like most financial institutions, is subject to
prepayment risk in falling interest rate environments.
Prepayment risk is a significant risk to earnings and
specifically to NII (see discussion in section entitled
“Net Interest Income” in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis). For example, mortgage loans and other financial
assets may be prepaid by a debtor so that the debtor may

refund its obligations at new, lower rates. As loans and
other financial assets prepay, AmSouth must reinvest these
funds in lower yielding assets. Prepayments of assets carry-
ing higher rates reduce AmSouth’s interest income and
overall asset yields. Conversely, in a rising rate environ-
ment, these assets will prepay at a slower rate resulting in
opportunity cost by not having the cash flow to reinvest at
higher rates. AmSouth’s greatest exposure to prepayment
risks primarily rests in its mortgage-backed securities
portfolio and mortgage loan portfolio. AmSouth also has
prepayment risk associated with its NIR in the form of
servicing income on loans sold or securitized. As loans
prepay, AmSouth will be servicing fewer loans thus
receiving lower servicing revenues. Higher than expected
prepayments could also result in AmSouth having to
record impairment charges associated with capitalized
servicing rights and capitalized retained interests in excess
interest spreads from the sale or securitization of mort-
gage and dealer loans. At December 31, 2002, AmSouth
had carrying amounts of approximately $10.6 million in
capitalized servicing rights and $9.9 million in capitalized
retained interests recorded on its balance sheet with

TABLE 15 - CREDIT RATINGS
Standard &

Moody’s Poor’s Fitch
6.875% Subordinated Notes Due 2003 A3 BBB+ BBB+
7.75% Subordinated Notes Due 2004 A3 BBB+ BBB+
6.625% Subordinated Notes Due 2005 A3 BBB+ BBB+
6.125% Subordinated Notes Due 2009 A3 BBB+ BBB+
6.45% Subordinated Notes Due 2018 A2* A-* -
6.75% Subordinated Debentures Due 2025 A3 BBB+ BBB+
7.25% Senior Notes Due 2006 A2 A- A-
Commercial paper P-1 A-2 F1
Certificates of deposit Al* A* A*
Short-term counterparty p-1* A-1* F1*
Long-term counterparty Al* A" A*
Financial Strength Rating B* - B/C*
* AmSouth Bank

Table reflects ratings as of December 31, 2002
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approximate fair values of $12.6 million and $47.0 million,
respectively. AmSouth estimates that even if prepayment
rates increased by 20 percent in a 12-month period over
AmSouth’s current assumptions, no impairment charge
would be required for any of its capitalized retained inter-
ests and less than $500 thousand in charges would be
required for the impairment of capitalized mortgage
servicing rights.

Tools to hedge prepayment risk are limited and generally
involve complex derivatives that AmSouth has chosen not
to utilize. ArnSouth does, however, actively monitor its
prepayment exposure as part of its overall net interest
income forecasting and interest rate risk management.
During 2002, AmSouth’s losses due to prepayments were
primarily in lower net interest income and asset yields as
higher yielding mortgage loans and mortgage-backed
securities prepaid and AmSouth reinvested these funds in
mortgage loans and securities with lower interest rates.
AmSouth estimates that in 2002 higher loan and securities
prepayments resulted in a $9.5 million decrease in pre-tax
NII for the year. For 2003 AmSouth estimates the impact
of prepayment risk on NII to be at Jeast as great as what
was experienced in 2002.

Liquidity
AmSouth’s goal in liquidity management is to satisfy the
cash flow requirements of depositors and borrowers while
at the same time meeting its cash flow needs. This is
accomplished through the active management of both the
asset and liability sides of the balance sheet. The liquidity
position of AmSouth is monitored on a daily basis by
AmSouth’s Treasury Division. In addition, the Asset/
Liability Committee, which consists of members of
AmSouth’s senior management team, reviews liquidity on
a regular basis and approves any changes in strategy that
are necessary as a result of balance sheet or anticipated
cash flow changes. Management also compares on a
monthly basis. AmSouth’s liquidity position to established
corporate liquidity guidelines. At December 31, 2002,
AmSouth was within all of its established guidelines.
AmSouth has various financial obligations that require
future cash pavments. The amount and timing of payments

required under debt obligations, noncancelable operating
leases and time deposit obligations are outlined in Table 14.
AmSouth also has off-balance sheet commercial commit-
ments to customers that may impact liquidity. These
include commitments to extend credit, standby letters
of credit and commercial letters of credit. Since many
of these commitments expire without being drawn upon,
the total amount of commercial commitments does not
necessarily represent the future cash flow requirements of
AmSouth. Table 14 summarizes AmSouth’s commercial
commitments at December 31, 2002 and the timing of the
expiration of these commitments.

Maintaining adequate credit ratings on AmSouth’s
debt issues is an important factor for liquidity because
it affects the ability of AmSouth to attract funds from
various sources on a cost competitive basis. Table 15 sum-
marizes AmSouth’s credit ratings at December 31, 2002.

For AmSouth Bank, the primary sources of liquidity on
the asset side of the balance sheet are maturities and cash
flows from both loans and investments as well as the ability
to securitize or sell certain loans and investments. Liquidity
on the liability side is generated primarily through growth
in core deposits and the ability to obtain economical whole-
sale funding in national and regional markets through a
variety of sources. AmSouth’s most commonly used sources
of wholesale funding are (1) federal funds (i.e., the excess
reserves of other financial institutions); (2) repurchase
agreements, whereby U.S. Government and government
agency securities are pledged as collateral for short-term
borrowings; and (3) pledges of acceptable assets as collat-
eral for public deposits and certain tax collection monies.

In addition to these sources, AmSouth can access other
wholesale funding sources such as Eurodollar deposits
and certificates of deposit. AmSouth Bank also has the
ability to borrow from the FHLB. FHLB advances are
competitively priced and are a reliable source of funds.
Also, AmSouth Bank maintains a short- and medium-
term note issuance program with a borrowing capacity of
$3 billion. There were no amounts outstanding under the
note issuance program at December 31, 2002.

As an additional source of liquidity, AmSouth periodically
sells loans or pools of loans to qualifying special purpose
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entities called conduits in securitization transactions.
The conduits are financed by the issuance of securities to
asset-backed commercial paper issuers. The transactions are
accounted for as sales under Statement 140.

Loans sold include commercial loans, residential first
mortgages and dealer indirect automobile loans, and typi-
cally represent the lower yielding loans and better credit
risks in each category. These transactions allow AmSouth
to utilize its balance sheet capacity and capital for higher
yielding, interest-earning assets, while continuing to
manage the customer relationship. At December 31, 2002,
the outstanding balance of loans sold to conduits was
$2.5 billion, including $916 million of commercial loans,
$1.3 billion of residential first mortgages and $228 million
of dealer indirect automobile loans.

When AmSouth sells a pool of loans in a conduit
securitization transaction, AmSouth generally receives a
purchase price plus the right to receive the cash flows from
the loans sold in excess of the sum of the principal amount
of the conduit’s investment in the loans and its contractual
yield thereon. AmSouth generally records an interest-only
receivable representing the present value of these excess
cash flows in accordance with Statement 140. In addition,
AmSouth continues to service the loans for a fee. The yield
retained by the conduit is directly related to the funding
costs of the commercial paper issued. AmSouth has
exposure to changes in interest rates to the extent that
residential first mortgages and dealer indirect automobile
loans sold to the conduits have relatively fixed rates
compared to the floating rates retained by the conduits.

AmSouth provides credit enhancements to these
securitizations by providing standby letters of credit,
which create exposure to credit risk to the extent of the
letters of credit. At December 31, 2002, AmSouth had
$121 million of letters of credit supporting the conduit
sales. This credit risk is reviewed quarterly and a reserve
for loss exposure is maintained in other liabilities.

AmSouth also provides liquidity lines of credit to
support the issuance of commercial paper under 364-day
commitments. These liquidity lines can be drawn upon
in the unlikely event of a commercial paper market dis-
ruption or other factors, such as credit rating downgrades

of one of the asset-backed commercial paper issuers or
AmSouth as the provider of the credit support, which
could prevent the asset-backed commercial paper issuers
from being able to issue commercial paper. At December
31, 2002, AmSouth had liquidity lines of credit supporting
these transactions of $2.5 billion. To date, there have been
no drawdowns of the liquidity lines; however, AmSouth
includes this liquidity risk in its monthly liquidity risk
analysis to ensure that it would have sufficient sources
of liquidity to meet demand. AmSouth also reviews
the impact of the drawdown of these liquidity lines on its
regulatory capital requirements. As of December 31, 2002,
this analysis showed that AmSouth would retain its
well-capitalized position even if the liquidity lines were
completely drawn down.

At December 31, 2002, AmSouth Bancorporation as
the Holding Company for AmSouth Bank, had available a
$25 million line of credit subject to certain terms agreed
upon by AmSouth Bancorporation and an unaffiliated
lender. This arrangement is reviewed annually for renewal
of the credit line. The main source of funding for the
Helding Company to meets its liquidity requirement is
provided through regular dividends from its subsidiary,
AmSouth Bank. In 2002, AmSouth Bank paid the Holding
Company a total of $628 million in dividends. During
2003, AmSouth Bank can pay dividends to the Holding
Company of up to $19.8 million plus 2003 net income
without prior regulatory approval.

Credit Risk Management Process and Loan Quality

AmSouth manages and controls risk in the loan portfolio
through adherence to consistent underwriting and
account administration standards established by senior
management, combined with a commitment to produc-
ing quality assets. AmSouth has written credit policies
which establish underwriting standards, exposure limits
and other limits or standards as deemed necessary
and prudent. Also included in the policy are various
approval levels, ranging from the branch or department
level to those which are more centralized, primarily
based on size and type of loan. AmSouth maintains a
diversified portfolio intended to spread its risk and
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TABLE 16 - NONPERFORMING ASSETS

December 31

*Exclusive of accruing loans 90 days past due

(Dollars in thovsands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Nonaccrual loans $ 158,829 $ 159,274 $ 179,659 § 141,134 $ 113,985
Foreclosed jproperties 33,828 27,443 12,360 17,767 17,322
Repossessicns 4,346 4,365 4,259 2,644 828

Total noriperforming assets* $ 197,003 $ 191,082 $ 196,278 $ 161,545 $ 132,135
Nonperforming assets* to loans net of

unearnec income, foreclosed properties

and repossessions 0.72% 0.76% 0.80% 0.61% 0.54%
Accruing loans 90 days past due $ 91,045 $ 116,576 $ 85410 $ 61,050 $ 62,528

reduce its exposure to economic downturns, which may
occur in different segments of the economy or in particular
industries. Industry and loan type diversification is
reviewed quarterly.

Commercial real estate loans are categorized by the type
of collateral. C'wner-occupied properties include mortgages
where the borrower is a primary tenant, such as factory or
warehouse loans. Nonowner-occupied lending represents
those loans where the primary source of repayment is
anticipated to come from the proceeds from the sale or
rental income generated by the property which generally
has inherently more risk than owner-occupied lending.

Each commercial loan recorded at AmSouth is
assigned a risk rating on a 13-point numerical scale by a
loan officer vsing established credit policy guidelines.
Consumer lozn portfolios are assigned risk ratings based
on a nine-po:nt scale and are based on the type of loan
and its performance. All risk ratings are subject to review
by an independent Credit Review Department. In addition,
regular reports are made to senior management and the
Board of Directors regarding the credit quality of the loan
portfolio as well as trends in the portfolio.

The Credit Administration function includes designated
credit officers. some of whom are industry specialists and

all of whom are organizationally independent of the
production areas. They oversee the loan approval process,
ensure adherence to credit policies and monitor efforts to
reduce nonperforming and classified assets. Additionally,
a centralized Special Assets Department handles

ASSET QUALITY TRENDS

$196 5197

il $191 =

$162
5132
B S
LT 0.76% M7=~ =
0.61% _}:r,/’ ” 0.72%
0.549% [T
i
98 99 00 01 02

-{1-- Nonperforming Assets/Loans

O Nonperforming Asscts (in millions)

AMSOUTH#PGS. 64-65



AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

TABLE 17 - NONPERFORMING LOANS AND NET CHARGE-OFFSARECOVERIES)
Nonperforming Loans* Net Charge-offs/(Recoveries)
% of % of % of % of
Ending Ending Average Average
December 31 Loans** December 31 Loans** December 31 Loans** December 31 Loans**
2002 per 2001 petr 2002 per 2001 per
{Dollars in thousands) Category Category Category Category
Commercial:
Commercial and
industrial $ 79,830 1.55% §$ 77,047 1.46% $ 60,204 1.18% $ 95,039 1.66%
Commercial loans
secured by real estate 15,160 0.88 15,775 0.94 458 0.03 4,868 0.29
Commercial leases 9,853 0.55 5,162 0.32 11,315 0.68 4,475 0.33
Total commercial 104,843 1.21 97,984 1.14 71,977 0.85 104,382 1.20
Commercial real estate:
Commercial real estate
mortgages 19,393 0.84 15,946 0.75 677 0.03 1,012 0.04
Real estate construction 9,325 0.45 27,896 1.18 3,008 0.13 324 0.01
Total commercial
real estate 28,718 0.65 43,842 0.97 3,685 0.08 1,336 0.03
Consumer:
Residential first
mortgages 12,030 0.43 11,718 0.70 2,656 0.13 2,068 0.13
Equity loans and lines 12,517 0.20 4,992 0.09 29,558 0.50 16,111 0.33
Dealer indirect 197 0.01 2 0.00 50,201 1.38 44,319 1.38
Revolving credit -0- 0.00 -0- 0.00 23,556 4.57 21,344 4.27
Other consumer 524 0.06 736 0.07 13,945 1.45 14,367 1.25
Total consumer 25,268 0.18 17,448 0.14 119,916 0.92 98,209 0.87
$ 158,829 0.58% $159,274 0.63% $ 195,578 0.75% $ 203,927 0.82%
* Exclusive of accruing loans 90 days past due
“*Net of unearned income

resolution and disposition of certain problem loans. Risk
in the consumer loan portfolio is further managed
through the utilization of both standard and customized
credit scoring and in-depth analysis of portfolio compo-
nents. In addition, the consumer collection function is
centralized and automated to ensure timely collection of
accounts and efficient management of the risk associated
with delinquent accounts. In 2002, a new unit was
established within Credit Administration to help manage

the risk of loss in the different portfolios as well as the
volatility of that risk under different economic scenarios.

Finally, AmSouth’s Credit Review Department performs
ongoing independent reviews of the risk management
process, adequacy of loan documentation and the risk
ratings and appropriateness of the level of Allowance for
Loan Losses. The results of its examinations are reported
to the Audit and Community Responsibility Committee of
the Board of Directors.




Nonperforming Assets
Management. closely monitors loans and other assets that
are classified as nonperforming assets. Nonperforming
assets include nonaccrual loans (i.e., loans which are still
reflected in the loan portfolio but for which no interest
income is being recorded), restructured loans, foreclosed
properties, and repossessions. Loans are generally placed
on nonaccrual if full collection of principal and interest
becomes unlikely (even if all payments are current) or
if the loan is delinquent in principal or interest payments
for 90 days or more, unless the loan is well-secured and in
the process cf collection. The Special Assets Department
manages collection of commercial nonperforming loans
and business banking loans greater than $250,000 and

AMSOQUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
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all foreclosed properties, while the Consumer Collections
Department manages the consumer nonperforming loan
portfolio. The Business Banking Collections Department
manages collections of business banking loans under
$250,000.

Nonperforming assets, excluding accruing loans
90 days past due, increased $5.9 million, to $197.0 million,
during 2002. However, as a percentage of loans, it fell from
0.76 percent in 2001 to 0.72 percent in 2002. The graph
entitled Asset Quality Trends and Table 16 provide trend
information and detailed components of nonperforming
assets for each of the last five years. For all periods
presented in Table 16, AmSouth did not have any nonper-
forming assets considered restructured loans.

December 31, 2002

TABLE 18 - ALLOCATION OF THE ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

December 31, 2001

Percentage of Percentage of
Loans in Each Loans in Each
Allowance Category to Allowance Category to
(Dollars in thousands) Allocation Total Loans Allocation Total Loans
Commercial:
Commercial and industrial $ 104,362 18.8% $ 114,037 21.0%
Commercial secured by real estate 24,368 6.3 25,274 6.7
Commercial leases 13,355 6.5 12,655 6.4
Total commercial 142,585 31.6 151,966 34.1
Commercial real estate:
Commervial real estate mortgages 25,278 8.4 23,722 8.5
Real estate construction 30,235 7.7 33,633 94
Total commercial real estate 55,513 16.1 57,355 17.9
Consumer:
Residential first mortgages 2,794 10.2 1,666 6.6
Equity loans and lines 31,218 233 20,232 21.5
Dealer indirect 54,105 13.6 45,658 13.5
Revolving credit 28,919 2.0 26,038 2.1
Other consumer 15,146 3.2 15,143 43
Total consumer 132,182 52.3 108,737 48.0
Unallocated 51,299 — 45,549 —
$ 381,579 100.0% $ 363,607 100.0%
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The increase in nonperforming assets in 2002
compared to 2001 was the result of a higher level of
foreclosed properties. The level of nonaccrual loans at the
end of 2002 remained relatively flat. A significant
decrease in nonaccrual real estate construction loans of
$18.6 million offset increases in nonaccrual loans within
most other areas of AmSouth’s loan portfolio. The
decrease in nonaccruing real estate construction loans
was primarily the result of activity in three large con-
struction loans that were on nonaccrual status at the end
of 2001. AmSouth charged off $2.9 million on one of the
construction loans and received a $4.9 million paydown
on another. Approximately $9.1 million associated with
the third construction loan was returned to accrual

status. The $7.5 million increase in nonaccruing equity
loans and lines is reflective of the overall growth and
seasoning of the home equity portfolio. This increase
is also consistent with the national trend of higher
bankruptcy and foreclosure actions.

The decrease in nonperforming assets in 2001
compared to 2000 was the result of lower commercial
and industrial nonaccrual loans and a decrease in non-
accrual equity loans and lines of credit. The decrease in
these categories was partially offset by increases in
nonaccruing commercial real estate loans and foreclosed
property and repossessions. The lower level of non-
accruing commercial and industrial loans was indicative of
AmSouth’s strategy to reduce its exposure to syndicated

December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998

Percentage of Percentage of Percentage of
Loans in Fach Loans in Each Loans in Each
Allowance Category to Allowance Category to Allowance Category to
Allocation Total Loans Allocation Total Loans Allocation Total Loans

$ 134,499 24.5% $ 103,876 26.4% $ 108,012 29.6%
23,018 7.2 24,924 7.8 21,062 7.5
10,329 5.2 6,183 3.9 1,976 2.9
167,846 36.9 134,983 38.1 131,050 40.0
31,238 9.5 29,999 8.7 23,136 9.1
36,760 10.2 42,067 9.2 25,606 7.3
67,998 19.7 72,066 17.9 48,742 16.4
2,445 5.5 3,010 6.5 7,179 9.4
14,843 18.9 11,113 14.7 5,311 13.7
32,291 121 44,916 15.8 29,912 119
24,885 2.1 18,879 1.9 23,482 2.0
12,761 4.8 15,344 5.1 21,868 6.6
87,225 43.4 93,262 44.0 87,752 43.6
57,365 — 54,368 — 102,521 —

$ 380,434 100.0% $ 354,679 100.0% $ 370,065 100.0%




commercial credits by declining to renew certain existing
exposures and aggressively working with syndication
parties to address problem syndicated credits. This strat-
egy resulted in AmSouth charging off approximately
$36.2 million of syndicated commercial loans during
2001, included as nonperforming at December 31, 2000.
Because of these actions, nonperforming syndicated
loans were approximately $32 million lower at
December 31, 2001 versus year-end 2000.

Accruing loans 90 days past due were $91.0 million
at December 31, 2002, a decrease of $25.5 million
from Decernber 31, 2001. This decrease is in contrast to a
$31.2 million increase in accruing loans 90 days past due
between December 31, 2001 and 2000.

Table 17 presents nonperforming loans as a percentage
of ending loans and net charge-offs as a percentage of
average net loans by category for December 31, 2002 and
2001. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, AmSouth had
approximately $33.0 million and $72.1 million, respectively,
of potential problem commercial loans which were not
included in the nonaccrual loans or in the accruing loans
90 days past due categories at year-end but for which
management had concerns as to the ability of such
borrowers to comply with their present loan repayment
terms. Of the $72.1 million in 2001, only $6.4 million
remained categorized as potential problem loans at
December 31, 2002. The remaining balance either migrated
to nonperforming status or was no longer considered a
potential problem loan. The lower level of potential problem
loans at December 31, 2002, is reflective of an overall
improvemerit in commercial asset quality during 2002.

Potential problem loans at December 31,2001 decreased
by approximately $8.0 million compared to $79.1 million
at 2000 year-end. This decrease was primarily associated
with one large syndicated commercial loan with an outstand-
ing balance of approximately $14.1 million considered
a potential problem loan at December 31, 2000. During
2001, AmScuth moved this loan into nonaccrual status
and eventuelly charged off approximately $6.4 million
associated with this loan. At December 31, 2001,
AmSouth’s remaining exposure to this customer of $5.5
million was included in nonaccrual loans.

AMSOUTH BANCCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Allowance for Loan Losses

AmSouth maintains an allowance for loan losses which it
believes is adequate to absorb losses inherent in the loan
portfolio. Although management considers the allowance
for loan losses to be adequate based on information
currently available, the allowance may be increased or
decreased in the future based on loan balances outstanding,
changes in the credit quality of the loan portfolio, trends
in credit losses, changes in general economic conditions or
changes in other risk factors.

The allowance for loan losses consists of three
components that are calculated based on various inde-
pendent methodologies. Each component of the allowance
for loan losses represents an estimation performed
pursuant to either FASB Statement No. 5 or FASB
Statement No. 114. Management’s estimate of each
allowance for credit losses component is based on certain
observable data that management believes is the
most reflective of the underlying credit losses being esti-
mated. The three components include the following:
(1) allowances established on specific loans, (2) general
allowances based on historical loan loss experience and
current trends and (3) allowances based on general
economic conditions and other risk factors in AmSouth’s
markets. A formal review is prepared quarterly to assess
the risk in the portfolio and to determine the adequacy of
the allowance for loan losses.

The specific allowance is based on a regular analysis of
impaired commercial and commercial real estate loans.
Within this group, every nonaccrual loan in excess
of $500,000 is reviewed by AmSouth’s Special Assets
Department for a specific allocation. The specific
allowance established for these impaired loans is based on
the present value of expected future cash flows discounted
at the loan’s effective interest rate, the loan’s observable
market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is
collateral dependent.

The second element is determined by the mix of loan
products within the portfolio, an internal loan grading
process and associated allowance factors. These general
allowance factors are updated and reviewed at least
quarterly by senior credit management and are based on
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TABLE 19 - ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Balance at January 1 $ 363,607 § 380,434 $ 354,679 § 370,065 3 366,051
Loans charged off:
Commercial and industrial (66,406) (100,133) (40,138) (41,927) (35,195)
Commercial loans secured by real estate (1,137) (6,668) (14,617) (2,539) (1,865)
Commercial leases (11,315) (4,475) (152) (1,286) (225)
Total commercial (78,858) (111,276) (54,907) (45,752) (37,285)
Commercial real estate mortgages (883) (1,323) (312) (2,627) (4,911)
Commercial real estate construction (3,105) (832) (1,031) (1,907) (995)
Total commercial real estate (3,988) (2,155) (1,343) (4,534) (5,906)
Residential first mortgages (2,989) (2,341) (1,114) (4,346) (3,877)
Equity loans and lines (31,918) (18,157) (10,524) (5,137) (2,906)
Dealer indirect (72,578) (68,210) (71,659) (48,504) (27,219)
Revolving credit (26,093) (24,727) (19,650) (19,715) (31,038)
Other consumer (21,501) (23,020) (19,191) (20,299) (26,007)
Total charge-offs (237,925) (249,886) (178,388) (148,287) (134,238)
Recoveries of loans previously charged off:
Commercial and industrial 6,202 5,094 6,709 10,816 11,745
Commercial loans secured by real estate 679 1,800 3,391 365 554
Commercial leases -0- -0- -0- 178 3
Total commercial 6,881 6,894 10,100 11,359 12,302
Commercial real estate mortgages 206 311 522 561 4,950
Commercial real estate construction 97 508 368 767 280
Total commercial real estate 303 819 890 1,328 5,230
Residential first mortgages 333 273 127 505 1,094
Equity loans and lines 2,360 2,046 1,683 505 279
Dealer indirect 22,377 23,891 29,141 19,173 15,246
Revolving credit 2,537 3,383 3,750 3,762 5,845
Other consumer 7,556 8,653 8,346 8,749 10,590
Total recoveries 42,347 45,959 54,037 45,381 50,586
Net charge-offs (195,578) (203,927) (124,351) (102,906) (83,652)
Addition to allowance charged to expense 213,550 187,100 227,600 165,626 99,067
Allowance sold -0- -0- (74,591) (2,000} (14,900)
Allowance transferred to other liabilities -0- -0- (2,903) (5,106) (2,665)
Allowance acquired in bank purchases/Other -0- -0- -0- (71,000) 6,164
Balance at December 31 $ 381,579 § 363,607 $ 380,434 $ 354,679 $ 370,065
Loans net of unearned income,
outstanding at end of period $ 27,350,918 § 25,124,493 $ 24,616,435 $ 26,266,759 $ 24,445,296
Average loans net of unearned income
outstanding for the period $ 25,921,769 $ 24,763,798 $ 25,879,910 $ 25,471,295 $ 24,027,839
Ratios:
Allowance at end of period to loans
net of unearned income 1.40% 1.45% 1.55% 1.35% 1.51%
Allowance at end of period to
nonperforming loans* 240.25 228.29 211.75 251.31 324.66
Net charge-offs to average loans
net of unearned income 0.75 0.82 0.48 0.40 0.35
Allowance as a percentage of net charge-offs 195.1 178.3 305.9 3447 4424

* Exclusive of accruing loans 90 days past due
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historical net charge-off rates and current loan charge-off
trends. The loss analysis examines loss experience in
relation to internal loan grades. A quarterly charge-off
trend analysis is completed for homogeneous loan
categories. Specific homogeneous consumer loan pools
include: direct loan, bankcard, other revolving loans,
indirect automobile loans, residential first mortgages
and home equity lending. In addition, commercial,
commercial real estate and business banking loans not
specifically reviewed within the first element are included
in the general allowance calculation of the allowance.

The review of general economic conditions and other
risk factors on the losses inherent in the portfolio is based
on the effect of marketplace conditions and/or events that
could affect loan repayment. This element inherently
involves a higher degree of uncertainty as it requires
management to estimate the impact that economic trends,
legislative actions or other unique market and/or portfolio
issues may have on estimated credit losses. For example, in
assessing economic risks in the marketplace, management
might consider local unemployment trends, population
shifts within the region, real estate absorption rates,
expansion and contraction plans for major employers and
other similar indicators. Consideration of other risk fac-
tors typically includes such issues as recent loss experience
in specific portfolio segments, trends in loan quality,
changes in account acquisition strategy or market focus,
concentrations of credit and bank regulatory results
together with. any internal administrative risk factors. The
Chief Credit Officer reviews these conditions quarterly
with executive management. To the extent that any of
these conditions is evidenced by a specifically identifiable
problem credit or portfolio segment, as of the evaluation
date, management’s estimate of the effect of such condition
may be reflected as a specific allowance applicable to such
credit or portfolio segment. Where any of these conditions
is not evidenced by a specifically identifiable problem
credit or portfolio segment as of the evaluation date,
management’s evaluation of the probable loss related to
such conditicn is reflected in the unallocated allowance.

Concentrations of credit risk may affect AmSouth’s
analysis of cther risks and, ultimately, the level of the

allowance. Concentrations typically involve loans to one
borrower, an affiliated group of borrowers, borrowers
engaged in or dependent upon the same industry, or a
group of borrowers whose loans are supported by the same
type of collateral. AmSouth has a significant concentration
of loans secured by residential real estate. At December 31,
2002, AmSouth had $9.2 billion in loans secured by resi-
dential real estate, representing 33 percent of total loans,
up from 28 percent at December 31, 2001. These loans are
geographically dispersed across AmSouth’s markets. In
addition, AmSouth is subject to a geographic concentration
of credit because it operates primarily in the southeastern
region of the United States. Although it does not constitute
a significant concentration of credit risk, AmSouth has
material credit exposure to various industry sectors,
including nonowner-occupied real estate developers/
investors representing 13.5 percent of the total managed
loan portfolio, retail at 2.8 percent, public administration
and social services at 2.0 percent and automobile dealers at
1.8 percent. Levels of exposure to these and other industry
groups, together with an assessment of current trends and
expected future financial performance are carefully analyzed
for each industry in order to determine an adequate
allowance level.

AmSouth’s Credit Administration Department
prepares a comprehensive analysis of the allowance for
loan losses on a quarterly basis. The review is presented to
and approved by senior management and subsequently
reviewed and approved by the Audit and Community
Responsibility Committee of the Board of Directors.

At December 31, 2002, the allowance for loan losses was
$381.6 million versus $363.6 million at year-end 2001. The
allowance for loan losses to net loans at December 31, 2002,
was 1.40 percent while coverage of nonperforming loans
was 240 percent. This compared with an allowance
for loan losses to net loans at the end of 2001 and 2000 of
1.45 percent and 1.55 percent, respectively, and with
coverage of nonperforming loans for the same periods of
228 percent and 212 percent, respectively. The overall level of
allowance at December 31, 2002, versus December 31, 2001,
reflected loan growth during 2002, partially offset by a
reduction in risk associated with declining syndicated
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loans. During 2002, approximately $17.4 million of syndi-
cated loans were charged off. The allowance allocated to
commercial and industrial loans decreased by 8.5 percent
in 2002. This decrease reflected a lower level of impaired
and classified loans within the commercial portfolio. The
decrease in the allowance allocated to commercial loans
secured by real estate and construction loans reflected
lower nonaccruing loans in these categories. The increase
in the allowance allocated to real estate mortgages
reflected an increase in classified and nonaccruing loans.

On the consumer side of the portfolio, the allowance
allocated to residential mortgages reflected the overall
growth in this portfolio compared to December 31, 2001.
The increase in all other categories of consumer loans
reflected an increase in net charge-offs experienced in
" these categories which resulted in higher loss factors being
applied to these portfolios. In addition, the higher
allowance allocation for equity lending, dealer indirect
and revolving credit loans reflected higher loan balances in
these areas. The overall increase of $5.8 million in the
unallocated allowance reflected the general economic
weakness in 2002, the effect of continued weakness and its
impact on the consumer and commercial loan portfolios,
the performance of which normally lags that of the
economy as a whole, and the imprecision inherent in
estimates of expected credit losses.

The overall allowance at December 31, 2001, versus
December 31, 2000, primarily reflected a reduction of the
credit quality concerns associated with AmSouth’s syndicated
commercial loan portfolio. The allowance allocated to
commercial and industrial loans decreased by 15.2 percent
in 2001. The decrease reflected AmSouth’s decision to
aggressively address problem syndicated credits during
2001 which resulted in AmSouth recording approximately
$45.6 million in charge-offs of which $32 million was
specifically reserved for at December 31, 2000. By reducing
its exposure to these syndicated commercial loans, which
resulted in significantly higher charge-offs in its commer-
cial and industrial portfolio in 2001, AmSouth saw an
overall improvement in the credit quality of its commercial
and industrial loan portfolio at December 31, 2001 versus
the prior year-end. The improved credit quality in

AmSouth’s commercial and industrial portfolio was
evidenced by a $31.7 million decrease in nonperforming
commercial and industrial loans as well as a significant
decrease in classified commercial and industrial loans
at the end of 2001 compared to 2000. These actions also
reduced AmSouth’s exposure to the impact of a continu-
ing economic stowdown. These factors, combined with a
5.6 percent decrease in outstanding commercial loans at
December 31, 2001 versus 2000, primarily influenced the
reduction in allowance allocated to the commercial and
industrial portfolio.

The allowance allocated to commercial loans secured
by real estate and commercial real estate mortgages
reflected lower nonperforming loans in these categories
at December 31, 2001. The decrease in the allowance
allocated to construction lending reflected a reduction of
classified loans. While nonperforming construction loans
increased by approximately $23 million, very little
allowance was required due to high levels of collateral
values associated with these nonperforming loans. On the
consumer side of the portfolio, the allowance allocated to
residential mortgages reflected a decrease in delinquencies
within the residential mortgage portfolio compared
to December 31, 2000. Delinquencies as a percentage
of residential mortgages decreased from 5.75 percent
of outstanding residential loans to 3.84 percent at
December 31, 2001. The increase in all other categories of
consumer loans reflected an increase in net charge-offs
experienced in these categories which resulted in higher
loss factors being applied to these portfolios. In addition,
the higher allowance allocation for equity lending, dealer
indirect and revolving credit loans reflected higher loan
balances in these areas. The overall decrease of $11.8 million
in the unallocated allowance reflected a decrease in
AmSouth’s syndicated loan portfolio during 2001.

LINE OF BUSINESS RESULTS

AmSouth segregates financial information used to assess
its performance and allocate resources based on three
reportable segments. The three reportable segments
include Consumer Banking, Commercial Banking and
Wealth Management. The financial performance for
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each segment is determined based on the Company’s man-
agement accounting process, which assigns balance sheet
and income statement items to each segment based on
managerial responsibility. Segments are also defined by
customer base and product type. Performance of the
operating segments reflects the management process and
structure of AmSouth and is not necessarily comparable
with similar information for any other financial institution.
Selected financial information and a description of the
methodologies used to measure the financial performance
of the business segments are presented in Note 21 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consumer Banking delivers a full range of financial
services to individuals and small businesses through the
retail branch and ATM networks, and the Internet. Services
include loan and deposit products designed to meet the
personal finance needs of consumers and the financial needs
of small business owners. The increase in net income in the
Constimer Banking segment in 2002 reflected the continued
success of AmSouth’s strategic initiatives to grow the
Consumer and Business Banking businesses. In 2002, the
Consumer Banking segment produced net income totaling
$425.5 million compared to $340.3 million in 2001. The
increase over 2001 was the result of higher NII and NIR,
partially offset by higher NIE. Higher NII reflected growth
in average coasumer loans and low-cost deposits, while the
increase in NIR was a result of higher service charge
revenues. The increase in NIE represented the costs associ-
ated with the generation of higher revenues and branch
expansion during 2002.

Commercial Banking provides corporate lending,
leasing, international, capital markets, and corporate cash
management services to large and middle-market corporate
customers. In 2002, the Commercial Banking group con-
tributed $180.0 million of net income versus $151.3 million
in 2001. The higher level of income in 2002 was the result of
an $11.6 million increase in NIR, a reduction in commercial
charge-offs in 2002 related to AmSouths reduced exposure
to syndicated loans, and a $6.3 million decrease in NIE.

Wealth Management provides retirement and invest-
ment management services for both institutional and
individual clients. Producing fee-based income and

revenues associated with loans and deposits of Wealth
Management customers, this area includes trust, private
banking, consumer investment services, and the AmSouth
Mutual Funds. Wealth Management contributed net income
of $69.7 million in 2002 compared to $64.1 million in 2001.
The increase in net income was the result of higher interest
income associated with growth in private client services
(PCS) customers offset by a decrease in NIR as trust and
investment services income declined in 2002. The inclusion
of income and expenses from PCS customers reflects a
change in how AmSouth’s management records revenues
and expenses associated with PCS customers’ loans and
deposit balances for segment reporting purposes. In 2001,
prior to the reporting change, the estimated spread on the
PCS customers’ loans and deposit balances, as well as NIR
and NIE associated with those balances and accounts was
included in the Commercial or Consumer segments based
on the loan or deposit type. Beginning in 2002, these rev-
enues and expenses are also being included within the
Wealth Management segment since this segment is princi-
pally responsible for maintaining the relationships with
these customers. These shared revenues and expenses are
reversed within Treasury & Other to eliminate the double
counting. In accordance with current accounting guidance,
all prior year segment information has been changed to
reflect management’s new approach to reviewing segment
performance.

Treasury & Other represents balance sheet management
activities, corporate overhead, unallocated revenues such as
BOLI, and other nonrecurring gains, losses or special
charges. Treasury & Other does not represent a banking line
of business, but encompasses all other activities supporting
the business segments.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements made in this document which are not purely
historical are forward-looking statements as defined in the
“Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including
any statements regarding descriptions of management’s
plans, objectives or goals for future operations, products or
services, and forecasts of its revenues, earnings or other
measures of performance.
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AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Forward-looking statements are based on current
management expectations and, by their nature, are subject
to risks and uncertainties. A number of factors—many of
which are beyond AmSouth’s control—could cause actual
conditions, events or results to differ significantly from
those described in the forward-looking statements. Factors
which could cause results to differ materially from
management’s current expectations include, but are not
limited to: the execution of AmSouth’s strategic initiatives;
legislation; general economic conditions, especially in the
Southeast; the performance of stock and bond markets;
changes in interest rates, yield curves and interest rate
spread relationships; deposit flows; the cost of funds; cost
of federal deposit insurance premiums; demand for loan
products; demand for financial services; competition;
changes in the quality or composition of AmSouth’s
loan and investment portfolios including capital market
inefficiencies that may affect the marketability and valua-
tion of available-for-sale securities; changes in accounting
and tax principles, policies or guidelines; other economic,

competitive, governmental, and regulatory factors affecting
AmSouth’s operations, products, services and prices; unex-
pected judicial actions and developments; and the outcome
of litigation, which is inherently uncertain and depends on
the findings of judges and juries. To the extent that terrorist
attacks or other geopolitical conflicts cause a prolonged
negative impact on the economy, the effects may include:
adverse changes in customers’ borrowing, investing or
spending patterns; market disruptions; adverse effects on
the performance of the United States and foreign equity
markets; currency fluctuations; exchange controls; restric-
tion of asset growth; negative effects on credit quality; and
other effects that could adversely impact the performance,
earnings and revenue growth of the financial services
industry, including AmSouth.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date
they are made. AmSouth does not undertake a duty to
update forward-looking statements to reflect circumstances
or events that occur after the date the forward-looking
statements are made.




MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT ON RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of AmSouth is responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and all other
financial information included in this annual report. Management believes that the financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis to reflect, in all material
respects, the substance of events and transactions that should be included, and that the other financial information in the
annual report is consistent with those financial statements. The financial statements necessarily include amounts that are
based on management’s best estimates and judgements.

Management maintains and depends upon AmSouth’s accounting systems and related systems of internal controls.
The internal control systems are designed to ensure that transactions are properly authorized and recorded in the corpo-
ration’s finaricial records and to safeguard the corporation’s assets from material loss or misuse. The corporation maintains
an internal audit staff which monitors compliance with the corporation’s systems of internal controls and reports to
management and to the Audit and Community Responsibility Comumittee of the Board of Directors.

The Audit and Community Responsibility Committee of the Board of Directors, composed solely of outside directors,
has responsibility for recommending to the Board of Directors the appointment of the independent auditors for
AmSouth. The committee meets periodically with the internal auditors and the independent auditors to review the scope
and findings of their respective audits. The internal auditors, independent auditors and management each have full and
free access to meet privately as well as together with the Committee to discuss internal controls, accounting, auditing, or
other financal reporting matters.

The consolidated financial statements of AmSouth have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors,
who were engaged to express an opinion as to the fairness of presentation of such financial statements.

C. Dowd Ritter Sloan D. Gibson
Chairman, President and Vice Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
AmSouth Bancorporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of condition of AmSouth Bancorporation and
subsidiaries (AmSouth) as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of earnings,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of AmSouth Bancorporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the con-
solidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in 2002 AmSouth changed its method of accounting
for goodwill.

Gomeit M@W

Birmingham, Alabama
January 14, 2003




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Condition

December 31

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001

Assets
Cash and due rom DanKs ... .ot i e e s $ 1,221,985 $ 1,441,561
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementstoresell ................... ... ... ... 26,018 400,000
Trading SecurTties .. ... ot e 47,964 12,979
Available-for-5ale SECUIITIES ...\ttt ettt e et e e 4,744,866 4,829,512
Held-to-matu-ity securities (market value of $4,552,727 and $4,071,008, respectively) .................. 4,425,053 4,002,474
Loans held forsale ... ..o e e e 19,909 291,782
75 o U 28,062,413 25,852,221
Less: Allowance for loan I08Ses .. ... ittt i e e e e 381,579 363,607
UNearned INCOMIE ..ottt ittt et et e et e et e e e e 711,495 727,728
A 0 (0 o U Y 26,969,339 24,760,886
Other INterest- earning @SSELS . .« .ottt ettt ittt e 63,812 40,458
Premises and eQUIPIMENE TIEE . ... u .ttt ittt ettt et et e e e 838,906 729,383
Cash surrender value —bank-owned life insurance ............ oottt e 1,016,288 964,389
Accrued interest receivable and Other asSets . ... ..ttt ettt 1,197,132 1,126,990

$ 40,571,272 $ 38,600,414
Liabilities and. Shareholders’ Equity
Deposits and interest-bearing liabilities:
Deposits:
Noninterest-bearing demand ........ ... . i i e $ 5,494,657 $ 5,280,621
Interest-bearing demand and money market ........ ... . 11,436,996 10,518,922
VIS vt e e 1,303,788 1,229,871
TImIE e e e 6,384,206 6,800,056
Forelgn time . ... oo 640,663 309,641
Certificaies of deposit of $100,000 OF IIOTE « .. v vttt ttiitie st e e v narres e enne 2,055,314 2,027,906
TOtal dePOSIS « .o ettt e e 27,315,624 26,167,017
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase ........................ 1,769,547 2,080,296
Other borrawed TUNAS . .. oot e e e e e e 151,018 79,454
Long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances .............ooi i iiiiiiiiiinierineeenanas 5,838,268 5,093,834
Otherlong-termdebt .. ... i e 1,051,015 1,008,421
Total deposits and interest-bearing liabilities ........ ... .. o i 36,125,472 34,429,022
Accrued exper.ses and other labilities ...... ... e 1,329,803 1,216,293
TOtal LEaDILIEIES v vt vttt st e e e e e e, $ 37,455,275 $ 35,645,315

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — no par value:
Authorizad — 2,000,000 shares; Issued and outstanding—none ..............cccoiiiiiiien., -0- -0-
Comumnon stock — par value $1 a share:
Authorizad - 750,000,000 shares

Issued — 416,909,000 and 416,931,000 shares, respectively ............c.cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiienen.. 416,909 416,931
Capital SUTTIUS .. ..o e 706,081 699,863
Retained SarmINgS . ... ...oo ittt e 2,951,430 2,677,933
Cost of common stock in treasury — 63,485,000 and 53,896,000 shares, respectively................... (1,045,428) (848,005)
Deferred compensation on restricted stock ........ . i (15,954) (16,624)

Accumulated other comprehensive Income ...t 102,959 25,001
Total shareholders’equity ..... ... ... i 3,115,997 2,955,099
$ 40,571,272 $ 38,600,414

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Earnings

Years Ended December 31
(In thousands except per share data) 2002 2001 2000

Interest Income

Loans ..o $ 1,656,285 $ 1,930,640 $ 2,219,643
Available-for-sale securities . ........... o i 335,622 325,854 329,766
Held-to-maturity SeCUrities . .......ooineeiii i iia e 245,469 283,581 453,987
Trading SECUTIIES . .o vv ittt e 1,367 379 2,122
Loansheld forsale ........ ... .. o i 10,254 17,079 12,582
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell ......... 3,559 44,431 27,455
Other interest-earminZ asSEtS .. .. .uvuun et eree ittt e, 1,560 4,414 6,966

Total INTErest HCOME ...\t v ittt vttt e eaee s et iieenieeatarnaannns 2,254,116 2,606,378 3,052,521

Interest Expense

Interest-bearing demand and money market deposits ............ ...l 114,290 253,996 327,664
Savings dePosits ... vuut e e 6,769 15,714 37,030
TIME EPOSIES .« v e ettt et e e 241,013 407,071 445,713
Foreign time deposits . .. ....oo. ittt s 5,894 9,813 64,540
Certificates of deposit of $100,000 ormore .......oooviiii i 70,727 125,919 166,224
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to repurchase .. .. 27,693 72,888 188,410
Other borrowed fUnds .. ... oot i e e 3,898 8,988 96,808
Long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances .............................. 272,339 291,192 296,158
Otherlong-termdebt . ...... ... i 38,853 54,075 68,776

Total INTEreSt EXPERSE . . oottt it ittt e e et e e 781,476 1,239,656 1,691,323
Net INterest INCOMIE .« . vvv ittt et e e e e e 1,472,640 1,366,722 1,361,198
Provision for I0an 10SSES .o v vttt e e e 213,550 187,100 227,600
Net Interest Income After Provision for Loan Losses ................o.ooo, 1,259,090 1,179,622 1,133,598

Noninterest Revenues

Service charges on deposit accounts ............oiiiiii i 289,226 258,089 229,383
[0 1o 1o L= U 105,428 112,078 114,353
Consumer INvestmMent Services IMCOME . ...ttt i erie e nennerns 77,793 95,387 199,270
Other NONINTETEST FEVEITUES 4+ v v vttt vttt et et e et et e et e et e aanes 266,914 282,668 126,488

Total NONINTETESE TEVENUES . . . ot ittt et ettt ree e reite e 739,361 748,222 669,494

Noninterest Expenses

Salaries and employee benefits ....... ... ..o 584,264 566,288 565,889
EqUipment eXpense . ........co.vuiiiiiiii i 118,729 122,621 121,798
Net OCCUPANCY EXPEMSE .ottt in ettt e i n it ae e eeaes 118,548 113,174 114,783
Other RONINTErest EXPENSES . . . v\ v ettt et et ettt eaaeraneeanaenenns 305,081 355,149 546,060
Total noninterest expenses ............ e 1,126,622 1,157,232 1,348,530
Income Before Income TaxXes . ...vvvirt e e e e 871,829 770,612 454,562
INCOME tAXES « .o v ettt e e e 262,682 234,266 125,435
NetIncome . ... $ 609,147 $§ 536,346 $ 329,127
Average common sharesoutstanding . .. ............ o 358,176 367,404 382,031
Earnings per common share ....... ... . i s $ 1.70 $ 1.46 $ 0.86
Diluted average common shares outstanding ... 362,329 370,948 384,677
Diluted earnings per common share ................ ... $ 1.68 $ 1.45 $ 0.86

See notes to consolidated financial statements.




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

Deferred Accumulated
Compensation Other
Common Capital Retained Treasury on Restricted  Comprehensive
(In thousands) Stock Surplus Earnings Stock Stock Income (Loss) Total
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2000 $ 416949 $§ 690,820 $ 2,482,477 $ (376354) $ (5,838) $ (248,849) § 2,959,205
Comprehensive income:
Net income -0- -0- 329,127 -0- -0- -0- 329,127
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Changes in unrealized gains and
losses on securities, net of
reclassification adjustment
(net of $45,012 tax expense) -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 141,299 141,299
Comprehensive income 470,426
Cash dividends declared -0- -0- (307,221} -0- -0- -0- (307,221)
Cash dividends declared by Hooled companies -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- -0-
Common stock transactions:
Employee stock plans (8) 857 (29,526) 83,603 3,457 -0- 58,383
Dividend reivestment -0- -0- (8,809) 17,245 -0- -0- 8,436
Purchase of common stock -0- -0- -0- (375,822) -0- -0- (375,822)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2000 416,941 691,677 2,466,048 (651,328) (2,381) (107,550) 2,813,407
Comprehensive income:
Net income -0- -0- 536,346 -0- -0- -0- 536,346
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Cumulative ¢ffect of accounting
change (net of $6,324 tax expense) -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 32,262 32262
Changes in unrealized gains on derivative
instruments (net of $6,959 tax expense) -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 12,918 12,918
Changes in unrealized gains and
losses on securities, net of
reclassification adjustment
(net of $33,909 tax expense} -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 87,371 87,371
Comprehensive income 668,897
Cash dividends declared -0- -0- (316,119) -0- -0- -0- (316,119)
Common stock transactions:
Employee stack plans (10) 8,040 (7,998) 54,496 (14,243) -0- 40,285
Dividend reinvestment -0- 146 (344) 10,840 -0- -0- 10,642
Purchase of common stock -0- -0- -0- (262,013) -0- -0- (262,013)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2001 416,931 699,863 2,677,933 (848,005) (16,624) 25,001 2,955,099
Comprehensive ncome:
Net income -0- -0- 609,147 -0- -0- -0- 609,147
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Changes in uarealized gains on derivative
instruments (net of $4,880 tax benefit) -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- (9,063) (9,063)
Changes in uarealized gains and losses on
securities, net of reclassification
adjustment (net of $33,445 tax expense) -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 87,021 87,021
Comprehensive income 687,105
Cash dividends declared -0- -0- (320,129) -0- -0- -0- (320,129)
Common stock transactions:
Employee stock plans (22) 6,105 (15,517) 64,858 670 -0- 56,094
Dividend reirvestment -0- 113 (4} 9,823 -0- -0- 9,932
Purchase of common stock -0- -0- -0- (272,104) -0- -0- (272,104)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2002 $ 416,909 $ 706,081 $ 2,951,430 $ (1,045,428) $§  (15954) $ 102,959 § 3,115,997
Disclosure of 2002 reclassification amount:
Unrealized holdiag gains on securities
arising during; the period § 95242
Less: Reclassification adjustment for
net securities gains realized in net income 8,221
Net unrealized gains on securities, net of tax $ 87,021
Unrealized holding gains on derivatives
arising during; the period $ 7,434
Less: Reclassification adjustment for
gains realized in net income (net of $9,941 tax expense) 16,497
Net unrealized giins on derivatives, net of tax $ (9,063)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
N INCOIIE vttt et e e et e e et e e e 5 609,147 $ 536,346 $ 329,127
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Provision for loan 108ses .. ....ov v e 213,550 187,100 227,600
Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment ................... 92,638 89,659 84,292
Amortization of premiums and discounts on held-to-maturity securities
and available-for-sale securities .......... .. ... 6,076 (36,172) 3,213
Noncash portion of merger-related costs ..., -0- -0- 43,389
Net decrease {increase) inloansheld forsale .............. ... iiiin.L. 296,106 (200,433) 29,907
: Net (increase) decrease in trading securities .. ... (34,985) (940) 16,200
; Net (gains) losses on sales of available-for-sale securities ............... ... (13,174) (11,204) 95,301
Net gains on sales of loans to dealer conduits ........... ... -0- -0- (9,323)
Net gains on sales of loans to mortgage conduits -0- (1,993) (16,881)
Net foss on dealer securitization . ..........coeiiiiiii i -0- -0- 18,531
Net gain on guaranteed mortgage securitization (3,324) -0- -0-
Net loss on loans held for accelerated disposition -0- -0- 23,414
Write-down of mortgage conduitassets .. ... -0- -0- 24,751
Net gains on sales of business operations, subsidiaries and other assets ......... -0- (3,983) (19,959)
Net increase in accrued interest receivable, bank-owned
life insurance and other assets ... ........c..iiiiiiiiiiinii i, (99,243} (158,496) (58,989}
Net increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities . .............. 63,003 215,654 (176,666)
Provision for deferred inCome taxes ...........overviinneirinenrarianenennn 216,724 191,829 138,154
Amortization of intangibleassets .......... ... . 5,118 33,995 37,589
Other operating aCtiVIties, NET .. ..o\t e vt r e caen et eianens 51,146 41,057 60,890
Net cash provided by operating activities .. .........c.ooiiiiiviiiienn ., 1,402,782 882,419 855,540
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from maturities and prepayments of available-for-sale securities ... ...... 1,634,027 1,281,131 535,098
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities .......................ou.s. 978,314 607,575 4,523,131
Purchases of available-for-sale securities .. ...... ..o, (2,341,135) (2,601,349) (878,539)
Proceeds from maturities, prepayments and calls of held-to-maturity securities . . .. 2,399,038 1,963,162 979,239
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities ..............viiiniininnniinann... (2,733,495) (1,282,626) (559,395)
Net decrease (increase) in federal funds sold and securities purchased under
agreementstoresell ... ... o 373,982 1,755,665 (2,023,473)
Net (increase) decrease in other interest-earning assets .................coviuvnn. (23,354) 20,602 (43,196)
Net increase in loans, excluding mortgage and dealer securitizations and
mortgage and dealer conduitssales . ......... ... oo e (3,075,503) (887,830) (3,256,923)
Proceeds from sales of loans to dealer conduits .. ......ovtiineiii i, -0- -0- 1,001,106
Proceeds from sales of loans to mortgage conduits .......... ... .o o -0- 100,248 1,301,968
Proceeds from securitization of dealerloans .................. ... .. .ol -0- -0- 917,080
Proceeds from guaranteed mortgage loan securitization ...l 237,626 -0- 131,579
Net purchases of premises and equipment . ...........cooiiiiii it (202,161) (184,341) (51,300)
Net cash from sales of branches, business operations, subsidiaries
and OTNET SSETS .o ettt i e e e -0- 13,000 796,360
Net cash (used) provided by investing activities ................... ... .. (2,752,661) 784,737 3,373,235
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net increase (decrease) indeposits ....... ...t 1,159,654 (469,425) (806,172)
Net decrease in federal funds purchased and securities sold under
agreements t0 FePUICHASE ... .v.. it ittt e (310,749) (239,968) (1,775,483)
Net increase (decrease) in other borrowed funds 71,564 (457,394) (1,598,872)
Issuance of long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances
and other Jong-termdebt ... ... 776,592 600,983 5,379,388
Payments for maturing long-termdebt ........... .. i . (32,353) (410,081) (5,097,875)
Cashdividends paid ... . oot i i e (318,777) (311,620) (305,383)
Proceeds from employee stock plans and dividend reinvestment plan ............. 56,476 47,492 62,066
Purchase of common stock .. ..ot e e (272,104) (262,013) (375,822)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities .......................... 1,130,303 (1,502,026) (4,518,153)
Decrease (increase) in cash and cash equivalents .............. ..., (219,576) 165,130 (289,378)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . ................... 1,441,561 1,276,431 1,565,809
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1,221,985 $ 1,441,561 $ 1,276,431

See notes to consolidated financial statements.




AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Finarcial Statements

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AmSouth Bancorporation (AmSouth), through its banking
subsidiary, provides a broad array of financial products
and services through banking offices located in six
Southeastern states with leading market positions in
Tennessee, Florida, Alabama, and Mississippi. In addition,
AmSouth provides select financial services outside of its
banking merkets through its other subsidiaries. AmSouth’s
principal activities include Consumer Banking,
Commerclal Banking and Wealth Management. The
accounting policies of AmSouth and the methods of
applying those policies that materially affect the accompa-
nying financial statements are presented below.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of AmSouth and all of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. AmSouth has not consolidated any entity
which is not a wholly-owned subsidiary of AmSouth. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated. Certain amounts in the prior years’
financial statements have been reclassified to conform
to the 2002 presentation. These reclassifications are
immaterial and had no effect on net income.

Use of Estimates

The. preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and
assumpt.ons that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Flows

Cash and due from banks and time deposits in other
banks are considered cash and cash equivalents. For the
years enced December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, AmSouth
paid interest of $795,270,000, $1,294,156,000 and
$1,685,198,000, respectively. For the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, noncash transfers
from lozns to foreclosed properties were $50,305,000,
$35,591,000 and $26,001,000, respectively. Noncash

transfers from foreclosed properties to loans for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were $293,000,
$687,000 and $1,388,000, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2002, noncash transfers from loans to
available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities of
approximately $301,725,000 were made in connection
with a guaranteed mortgage loan securitization in which
AmSouth retained the securities in its investment portfolio.
For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, non-
cash transfers from loans to available-for-sale securities of
approximately $1,565,000 and $31,472,000, respectively,
were made in connection with the sale of loans to multi-
issuer third-party conduits and the securitization and sale of
automobile loans. For the year ended December 31, 2002,
noncash transfers were made from loans to other assets of
approximately $1,817,000 associated with mortgage ser-
vicing rights created as a result of a guaranteed mortgage
loan securitization. For the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, noncash transfers from loans to other
assets of approximately $1,000,000 and $23,965,000,
respectively, were made in connection with the sale of
loans to third-party conduits. During 2000, noncash
transfers of approximately $11,413,000 were made from
loans to other liabilities to establish reserves for off-balance
sheet credit exposures associated with dealer indirect
automobile loans sold to third-party conduits. During
2001, AmSouth had noncash transfers from held-to-
maturity securities to available-for-sale securities of
$2,107,919,000. The transfer between categories of securities
was associated with the adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133 at the beginning of 2001,

Securities

Securities are classified as either held-to-maturity,
available-for-sale or trading. AmSouth defines held-to-
maturity securities as debt securities which management
has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity.
Held-to-maturity securities are stated at cost, adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts on
the constant effective yield method. Trading securities are
carried at market. Market adjustments and realized gains
or losses on the sale of trading securities are reported as
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AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

other noninterest revenues. Available-for-sale securities
are defined as equity securities and debt securities not
classified as trading securities or held-to-maturity securities.
Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value.
Unrealized holding gains or losses, net of deferred taxes,
on available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings
and reported in accumulated other comprehensive income
within shareholders’ equity. AmSouth determines the appro-
priate classification of debt securities at the time of purchase.
Gains and losses from sales of available-for-sale securities
are computed using the specific identification method.

Loans Held for Sale

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, loans held for sale
represented residential mortgage loans held for sale. Loans
held for sale are carried at the lower of aggregate cost
or market value. Market adjustments and realized gains
and losses are classified as other noninterest revenues.

Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell

and Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase
Securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities
sold under agreements to repurchase are generally treated
as collateralized financing transactions and are recorded
at the amount at which the securities were acquired or
sold plus accrued interest. It is AmSouth’s policy to take
possession of securities purchased under resale agree-
ments. The market value of the collateral is monitored and
additional collateral obtained when deemed appropriate.
Securities sold under repurchase agreements are delivered
to either broker-dealers or to custodian accounts. The
broker-dealers may sell, loan or otherwise dispose of such
securities to other parties in the normal course of their
operations but have agreed to resell to AmSouth identical
securities at the maturity of the agreements.

Interest Rate Contracis and Other
Derivative Financial Instruments
AmSouth has from time to time utilized various derivative
instruments such as interest rate swaps, forward interest
rate swaps, interest rate caps, floors and futures contracts
to protect against the risk of adverse price or interest rate

movements on the value of certain assets and liabilities
and on future cash flows.

At January 1, 2001, AmSouth adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended, (Statement 133) which requires all derivative
instruments to be carried at fair value as either assets
or liabilities in the statement of financial condition. In
conjunction with its adoption of Statement 133, AmSouth
designated anew the derivative instruments used for risk
management into hedging relationships in accordance
with the requirements of the new standard. Derivative
instruments used to hedge changes in the fair value of
assets and liabilities due to changes in interest rates were
designated as fair value hedges. Derivative instruments
used to hedge the variability of forecasted cash flows
attributable to interest rate risk were designated as cash
flow hedges. The after-tax transition adjustment associ-
ated with the adoption of Statement 133 was immaterial
to net income and increased other comprehensive income
by approximately $5,650,000, of which $2,031,000 was
reclassified into earnings during 2001 due to the receipt of
variable interest on its hedged variable rate loans.
AmSouth also recorded an increase to other comprehen-
sive income of $26,612,000 as a result of transferring
$2,107,919,000 of securities from held-to-maturity to
available-for-sale in conjunction with the adoption of
Statement 133. Statement 133 provides special accounting
provisions for derivative instruments that qualify for
hedge accounting. To be eligible for hedge accounting
treatment, under Statement 133, AmSouth must specifically
designate a derivative as a hedging instrument as well
as identify the specific risk being hedged. The derivative
instrument then must be shown to meet specific effective-
ness requirements under Statement 133 to qualify for
special hedge accounting. During 2002 and 2001,
AmSouth had interest rate swaps designated as fair value
or cash flow hedges.

Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relation-
ship to mitigate exposure to changes in the fair value of
an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a
particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered




fair value hedges under Statement 133. For derivative
instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value
hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative
instrument are recorded in noninterest revenues and
are offset by the changes in the fair value related to the
risk being hedged of the hedged asset or liability. The
corresponding adjustment to the hedged asset or liability
is included in the basis of the hedged item, while the
correspondir.g change in the fair value of the derivative
instrument is recorded as an adjustment to other assets
or other liabilities.

Derivative instruments designated in a hedge relation-
ship to mitigate exposure to variability in expected future
cash flows, o other types of forecasted transactions, are
considered cash flow hedges. For derivative instruments
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the
fair value of the derivative instrument is recorded on the
statement of condition as either a freestanding asset or
liability. The ¢ffective portion of the change in fair value of
the derivative instrument is recorded as a component
of other comprehensive income and reclassified into
earnings in the same period or periods during which the
hedged transaction affects earnings. The remaining gain
or loss on the derivative instrument in excess of the
cumulative change in the present value of future cash
flows of the hedged item, if any, is recognized in other
noninterest revenue during the period of change. For
derivative instruments not designated as hedging instru-
ments, the derivative is recorded as a freestanding asset
or liability with the change in value being recognized in
current earnings during the period of change.

AmSouth, at the inception of any hedging relationship
and at least quarterly thereafter, performs a formal assess-
ment to determine whether changes in the fair values or
cash flows of the derivative instruments have been highly
effective in cffsetting changes in the fair values or cash
flows of the hedged items and whether they are expected
to be highly effective in the future. If it is determined
a derivative instrument has not been or will not continue
to be highly effective as a hedge, hedge accounting is
discontinued prospectively and the derivative instrument
continues to be carried at fair value with all changes in fair
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value being recorded in noninterest revenue but with no
corresponding offset being recorded on the hedged item
or in other comprehensive income for cash flow hedges.

AmSouth also enters into various derivative agreements,
such as forwards and options, to protect against changes
in interest rates and prices on its mortgage pipeline. These
derivatives, however, do not qualify for hedge accounting
under Statement 133, Therefore, these derivatives are
marked to market through earnings. Statement 133 also
requires that certain contracts and commitments
be recognized and recorded as derivatives when the
characteristics of those contracts and commitments meet
the definition of a derivative. In accordance with this
requirement, AmSouth also records as derivatives,
residential mortgage loan commitments associated with
mortgages held for sale.

AmSouth enters into various derivative agreements
with customers desiring protection from possible adverse
future fluctuations in interest rates or foreign currency
exchange rates. As an intermediary, AmSouth generally
maintains a portfolio of matched offsetting derivative
agreements. These contracts are marked to market
through earnings.

Prior to January 1, 2001, unrealized gains and losses
on derivatives used for hedging purposes were generally
not required to be recorded in the financial statements.
Realized gains and losses on contracts either settled or
terminated were recorded as an adjustment to the basis
of the asset or liability being hedged and amortized into
the income statement over either the remaining life of
the derivative instrument or the expected life of the asset
or liability. Net amounts receivable or payable of contracts
hedging either interest-earning assets or interest-bearing
liabilities were accrued as an adjustment to either interest
Income or interest expense.

Loans and Leases

Loans are carried at the principal amount outstanding,
net of unearned income, including net deferred loan fees
and costs. AmSouth defers certain nonrefundable loan
origination and commitment fees and the direct costs of
originating or acquiring loans. The net deferred amount
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is amortized over the estimated lives of the related loans
as an adjustment to the yield.

AmSouth reclassified its presentation of the fees and
origination costs associated with residential mortgage
originations. The reclassification conforms with guidance
in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 91,
“Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated
with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct
Costs of Leases” There was no impact to net income
associated with the reclassification. However, $28,162,000
and $17,905,000 for 2001 and 2000, respectively, was
reclassified from interest income on loans to salaries and
employee benefits expense. As a result of the reclassifi-
cations, these costs are now presented as a reduction of
salaries and employee benefits expense. See Note 24 for
the impact on previously reported quarterly information
in 2002 and 2001.

Interest income on commercial and real estate loans is
accrued daily based upon the outstanding principal
amounts except for those classified as nonaccrual loans.
Interest income on certain consumer loans is accrued
monthly based upon the outstanding principal amounts
except for those classified as nonaccrual loans. Interest
accrual is discontinued when it appears that future collec-
tion of principal or interest according to the contractual
terms may be doubtful. Interest collections on nonaccrual
loans for which the ultimate collectibility of principal is
uncertain are applied as principal reductions. Otherwise,
such collections are credited to income when received.

AmSouth engages in both direct and leveraged lease
financing. The net investment in direct financing leases is
the sum of all minimum lease payments and estimated
residual values, less unearned income. Unearned income
is added to interest income over the term of the leases
to provide a level yield. The investment in leveraged leases
is the sum of all lease payments (less nonrecourse debt
payments) plus estimated residual values, less unearned
income. Income from leveraged leases is recognized
over the term of the leases based on the unrecovered
equity investment.

Impaired loans are specifically reviewed loans for
which it is probable that the creditor will be unable to

collect all amounts due according to the terms of the loan
agreement. Impairment of a loan is measured by compar-
ing the recorded investment in the loan with the present
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the
loan’s effective interest rate, the loan’s observable market
price, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral
dependent. A valuation allowance is provided to the extent
that the measure of the impaired loans is less than the
recorded investment. A loan is not considered impaired
during a period of delay in payment if the ultimate
collectibility of all amounts due is expected. Larger groups
of homogeneous loans such as consumer installment,
bankcard and residential real estate mortgage loans are
collectively evaluated for impairment. Impaired loans are,
therefore, primarily commercial and commercial real
estate loans. Payments received on impaired loans for
which the ultimate collectibility of principal is uncertain
are generally applied first as principal reductions.
Impaired loans and other nonaccrual loans are returned to
accrual status if the loan is brought contractually current
as to both principal and interest, and future payments are
reasonably expected to continue and the repayment ability
can be reasonably demonstrated.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level
which is considered to be adequate to reflect estimated
credit losses for specifically identified loans, as well as
estimated probable credit losses inherent in the remainder
of the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. The
allowance for loan losses is determined based on various
components in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”
(Statement 5) for pools of loans and Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors
for Impairment of a Loan” (Statement 114) for individu-
ally impaired loans. A formal review of the allowance for
loan losses is prepared quarterly to assess the risk in the
portfolio and to determine the adequacy of the allowance
for loan losses. For purposes of the quarterly review, the
consumer loan portfolios are separated by loan type, and
each loan type is treated as a homogeneous pool. In
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accordance with the Interagency Policy Statement on the
Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses, issued by the Office
of the Comptroller of the Currency, Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, Federal Reserve Board, and Office
of Thrift Supervisior, the allowance allocated to each of
these pools is based upon historical charge-off rates and
trends in quarterly annualized charge-off rates for each
pool, adjusted for changes in these pools which includes
current information on the credit performance of each
pool of loans. Every commercial and commercial real
estate loan is assigned a risk rating on a 13-point numeri-
cal scale by loan officers using established credit policy
guidelines. These risk ratings are periodically reviewed,
and all risk ratings are subject to review by an indepen-
dent Credit Review Department. Each risk rating is
assigned an allocation percentage which, when multiplied
times the dollar value of loans in that risk category, results
in the amount of the allowance for loan losses allocated to
these loans. Exclusive of classified loans reviewed under
the guidance of Statement 114, the allocation of allowance
for loans with grades of pass and criticized is based upon
historical loss rates adjusted for current conditions that
include current economic developments. The allocation
for loans with a classified grade is based upon regulatory
guidance. Every nonperforming loan in excess of $500,000,
however, is reviewed quarterly by AmSouth’s Special
Assets Department to determine the level of loan losses
required to be specifically allocated to these impaired
loans. Management reviews its allocation of the allowance
for loan losses versus actual performance of each of its
portfolios and adjusts allocation rates to reflect the recent
performance of the portfolio as well as current underwrit-
ing standards and other factors which might impact the
estimated losses inherent in the portfolio.

In determining the appropriate level for the allowance,
management ensures that the overall allowance appropriately
reflects the current macroeconomic conditions, industry
exposure and a margin for the imprecision inherent in most
estimates of expected credit losses. This additional allowance
is reflected in the unallocated portion of the allowance.
Based on management’s periodic evaluation of the allowance
for loan losses, a provision for loan losses is charged to

operations if additions to the allowance are required.

Commercial and commercial real estate loans and
leases are generally charged off to the extent principal and
interest due exceed the net realizable value of the collateral,
with the charge-off occurring when available information
reasonably confirms that the loan is uncollectible and the
loss is reasonably quantifiable. Loans secured by residential
real estate are generally charged off to the extent principal
and interest due exceed 90 percent of the current appraised
value of the collateral and the loan becomes 180 days past
due. Consumer loans are subject to mandatory charge-oft
at a specified delinquency date and are usually not classified
as nonperforming prior to being charged off. Closed-end
consumer loans, which include automobile, student and
other installment loans are generally charged off in full no
later than when the loan becomes 120 days past due.
Equity loans are also subject to this charge-off policy.
Revolving credit loans, such as equity lines and credit card
loans, are generally charged off in full no later than when
the loan becomes 180 days past due.

Foreclosed Properties and Repossessions

Foreclosed properties is comprised principally of
commercial and residential real estate properties obtained
in partial or total satisfaction of nonperforming loans.
Repossessions are comprised of other nonreal estate
properties including automobiles obtained in partial or
total satisfaction of loans. Foreclosed properties and
repossessions are recorded at their estimated fair value
less anticipated selling costs based upon the property’s
appraised value at the date of transfer, with any difference
between the fair value of the property and the carrying
value of the loan charged to the allowance for loan losses.
Subsequent changes in values are reported as adjustments
to the carrying amount, not to exceed the initial carrying
value of the assets at the time of transfer. Gains or losses
not previously recognized resulting from the sale of
foreclosed properties or other repossessed items are
recognized on the date of sale. At December 31, 2002 and
2001, AmSouth had $33,828,000 and $27,443,000 of
foreclosed properties, respectively, and $4,346,000 and
$4,365,000 of other repossessed items, respectively.
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Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. The provisions for depreci-
ation and amortization are computed generally by the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets or terms of the leases, as applicable. The annual
provisions for depreciation and amortization have been
computed principally using estimated lives of five to forty
years for premises and three to twelve years for furniture
and equipment.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, primarily goodwill, are included in other
assets. On January 1, 2002, AmSouth adopted Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (Statement 142). Under the
provisions of Statement 142, goodwill is no longer ratably
amortized in the income statement over an estimated life,
but rather is tested at least annually for impairment. Other
identified intangible assets which have finite lives
continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives
and also continue to be subject to impairment testing
if events or changes in circumstances warrant it. Other
identified intangibles, primarily core deposit rights, are
amortized over a period no greater than fifteen years.
Prior to the adoption of Statement 142, goodwill was
amortized on a straight-line basis primarily over ten to
twenty-five years and was evaluated for impairment using
an undiscounted cash flow methodology. See discussion of
recent accounting pronouncements later within Note 1
and see Note 8 for additional information concerning
AmSouth’s goodwill and other intangible assets.

Income Taxes

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the accrual basis. When income and expenses are
recognized in different periods for financial reporting
purposes and for purposes of computing income taxes
currently payable, deferred taxes are provided on such
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recorded for the expected future tax consequences
of events that have been recognized in the financial

statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and lia-
bilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be realized or settled.

Stock-Based Compensation

AmSouth adopted the disclosure-only provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (Statement
123) which allows an entity to continue to measure
compensation cost for those plans using the intrinsic
value-based method of accounting prescribed by APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (Opinion 25). AmSouth has elected to follow
Opinion 25 and related interpretations in accounting
for its employee stock options. Compensation cost for
fixed and variable stock-based awards is measured by the
excess, if any, of the fair market price of the underlying
stock over the amount the individual is required to pay.
Compensation cost for fixed awards is measured at the
grant date, while compensation cost for variable awards is
estimated until both the number of shares an individual
is entitled to receive and the exercise or purchase price are
known (measurement date). See Note 16 for a further
description of the assumptions used for preparing the pro
forma disclosures as prescribed by Statement 123.

Marketing Costs
AmSouth expenses all marketing-related costs, including
advertising costs, as incurred.

Earnings Per Common Share

Earnings per common share is obtained by dividing
net income available to common stockholders by
the weighted-average outstanding shares of common
stock. The diluted calculation of earnings per common
share is obtained by dividing net income by the weighted-
average outstanding shares of common stock adjusted for
effects of stock options and restricted stock outstanding.
See Note 15 for the reconciliation of the numerators
and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per
share computations.
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Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Ligbilities

AmSouth periodically sells receivables, such as commercial
loans, residential mortgage loans and dealer loans, in secu-
ritizations and to third-party conduits. When AmSouth
sells these receivables, it may retain a continuing interest in
these receivables in the form of interest-only strips, one or
more subordinated tranches, servicing rights, or cash
reserve accounts. These retained interests are subject to the
rules contained in Statement 140. Under these rules, the
previous cerrying amount of the assets sold is allocated
between the retained interests and the assets sold based on
their relative fair values at the date of transfer. Any gain or
loss on the sale of the receivables depends in part on the
previous carrying amount of the financial assets involved
in the transfer, allocated between the assets sold and the
retained interests based on their relative fair value at the
date of transfer. To obtain fair values, quoted market prices
are used if available. However, quotes are generally not
available fcr retained interests, so AmSouth generally
estimates fair value based on the present value of expected
future cash flows using management’s best estimates of the
key assumptions—expected credit losses, prepayment
speeds, weighted-average life, and discount rates commen-
surate with the risks involved. In calculating prepayment
rates, AmSouth utilizes a variety of prepayment models
depending on the loan type and specific transaction
requirements. The models used by AmSouth include
the constant prepayment rate model (CPR), the absolute
prepayment speed model (ABS) and the Bond Market
Trade Association’s Mortgaged Asset-Backed Securities
Division’s prepayment model (PSA). See Note 22 for the
assumptions used by AmSouth in 2002, 2001 and 2000.
The interest-only strips are accounted for as debt securities
and classified as available-for-sale. Servicing assets are
recorded in other assets and the amortization of servicing
assets is determined in proportion to, and over the period
of, the estimated net servicing income and is recorded in
either mortgage income for mortgage servicing assets or in
other noninterest income for servicing assets associated
with nonmorrgage loans.

On a quarterly basis, AmSouth ensures that all retained
interests are valued appropriately in the financial statements.
Management reviews the historical performance of each
retained interest and the assumptions used to project future
cash flows. Assumptions are revised if past performance
and future expectations dictate and the present value of
cash flows is recalculated based on the revised assumptions.

Recent Accounting Proncuncements and

Accounting Changes

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued Statement No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (Statement 141), and Statement No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (Statement 142).
Statement 141 requires that the purchase method of
accounting be used for all business combinations initiated
after September 30, 2001, Statement 141 also specifies
the criteria for intangible assets acquired in a purchase
method business combination to be recognized and
reported apart from goodwill. Statement 142 requires
companies to no longer amortize goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives, but instead test these
assets for impairment at least annually in accordance with
the provisions of Statement 142. Under Statement 142
intangible assets with definite useful lives continue to be
amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to
their estimated residual values, and reviewed for impair-
ment in accordance with the FASB’s Statement No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (Statement 144).

AmSouth adopted the provisions of Statement 142
effective January 1, 2002, As of the date of adoption,
AmSouth had unamortized goodwill in the amount of
$288.4 million, and unamortized identifiable intangible
assets in the amount of $18.7 million, all of which were
subject to the transition provisions of Staterments 141 and
142. As part of its adoption of Statement 142, AmSouth
performed a transitional impairment test on its goodwill
assets, which indicated that no impairment charge was
required. AmSouth has also performed its annual impair-
ment test for 2002, which indicated that no impairment
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charge was required. AmSouth does not currently have
any other indefinite-lived intangible assets recorded in its
statement of financial condition. In addition, no material
reclassifications or adjustments to the useful lives
of finite-lived intangible assets were made as a result
of adopting the new guidance. See Note 8 for additional
discussion on goodwill and other intangible assets.

On January 1, 2002, AmSouth adopted Statement 144.
Statement 144 supersedes FASB Statement No. 121
(Statement 121) and provides a single accounting model
for long-lived assets to be disposed of. Although retaining
many of the fundamental recognition and measurement
provisions of Statement 121, the new rules significantly
change the criteria that would have to be met to classify an
asset as held for sale. Statement 144 also supersedes the
provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion
30 with regard to reporting the effects of a disposal of a
segment of a business and requires expected future oper-
ating losses from discontinued operations to be displayed
in discontinued operations in the period(s) in which the
losses are incurred (rather than as of the measurement
date as presently required by APB Opinion 30). In addition,
more dispositions will qualify for discontinued operations
treatment in the income statement. The adoption of
Statement 144 did not have a material impact on AmSouth’s
financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 145, “Recission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections” (Statement
145). Statement 145 rescinds Statement 4, which required
all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt to be
aggregated and, if material, classified as an extraordinary
item, net of related income tax effect. In addition,
Statement 145 amends Statement 13 on leasing to require
that certain lease modifications that have economic effects
similar to sale-leaseback transactions be accounted for
in the same manner as sale-leaseback transactions.
Provisions of Statement 145 related to the recission of
Statement 4 are effective for financial statements issued by
AmSouth after January 1, 2003. The provisions of the

statement related to sale-leaseback transactions were
effective for any transactions occurring after May 15, 2002.
All other provisions of the statement were effective as of
the end of the second quarter of 2002. The changes
required by Statement 145 are not expected to have a
material impact on the results of operations, financial
position or liquidity of AmSouth.

In July 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” {Statement
146). Statement 146 requires companies to recognize costs
associated with the exit or disposal of activities as they
are incurred rather than at the date a plan of disposal or
commitment to exit is initiated. Types of costs covered by
Statement 146 include lease termination costs and certain
employee severance costs that are associated with a restruc-
turing, discontinued operation, facility closing, or other
exit or disposal activity. Statement 146 will apply to all exit
or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. At
this time, AmSouth does not expect the adoption of the
provisions of Statement 146 to have a material impact on
AmSouth’s financial results.

In October 2002, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 147, “Acquisition of
Certain Financial Institutions” (Statement 147). Statement
147 amends the previous accounting guidance which
required for certain acquisitions of financial institutions
where the fair market value of liabilities assumed was
greater than the fair value of the tangible assets and
identifiable intangible assets acquired to recognize and
account for the excess as an unidentifiable intangible asset.
Under the old guidance this unidentifiable intangible asset
was to be amortized over a period no greater than the life
of the long-term interest-bearing assets acquired. Under
Statement 147, this excess, if acquired in a business com-
bination, represents goodwill that should be accounted for
in accordance with Statement 142. In addition, Statement
147 amends Statement 144 to include in its scope long-term
customer-relationship intangible assets of financial
institutions such as depositor- and borrower-relationship
intangible assets and credit cardholder intangible assets.
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Consequently, those intangible assets are subject to the
same undiscounted cash flow recoverability test and
impairment loss recognition and measurement provisions
that Statement 144 requires. The provisions of Statement
147 were effective October 1, 2002. The adoption of the
provisions of Statement 147 did not have a material
impact on AmSouth’s financial results.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No.
45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others (Interpretation 45). Interpretation
45 requires certain guarantees to be recorded at fair value.
In general, Interpretation 45 applies to contracts or
indemnification agreements that contingently require the
guarantor 1o make payments to the guaranteed party
based on changes in an underlying that is related to an
asset, liability, or an equity security of the guaranteed
party. The initial recognition and measurement provisions
of Interpretation 45 are applicable on a prospective basis
to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002.
Interpretation 45 also requires new disclosures, even when
the likelihood of making any payments under the guarantee
is remote. These disclosure requirements are effective for
financial statements of interim or annual periods ending
after December 15, 2002. See Note 13 for the disclosures
required by Interpretation 45. On January 1, 2003,
AmSouth began recording a liability and an offsetting
asset for the fair value of its standby and performance
letters of credit. There could be other contracts or indem-
nification agreements that AmSouth may enter into
during the course of the upcoming year that could require
recognition of a liability in the financial statements.
Therefore, it is not known, at this time, what the full
impact of adopting Interpretation 45 will be on AmSouth’s
financial results.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure”
(Statement 148). Statement 148 amends Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” (Statement 123) to provide
alternative methods of accounting for stock-based

employee compensation. In addition, this statement
amends the disclosure requirements of Statement 123 to
require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim
financial statements about the method of accounting for
stock-based compensation and the effect of the method
used on reported results. AmSouth continues to account
for its stock-based compensation plans under Opinion 25
as discussed in the Stock-Based Compensation section of
this footnote. Therefore, Statement 148 is not expected to
have a material impact on AmSouth’s financial results.
See Note 16 for disclosures required by Statements 148
and 123.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation
of ARB No. 51 (Interpretation 46). Interpretation 46
addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable
interest entities which have one or both of the following
characteristics: (1) The equity investment at risk is not
sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities with-
out additional support from other parties, which is
provided through other interests that will absorb some or
all of the expected losses of the entity. (2) The equity
investors lack one or more of the following essential char-
acteristics of a controlling financial interest: (a) the direct
or indirect ability to make decisions about the entity’s
activities through voting rights or similar rights, (b) the
obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity
if they occur, which makes it possible for the entity
to finance its activities, or (c) the right to receive the
expected residual returns of the entity if they occur, which
is the compensation for the risk of absorbing expected
losses. Interpretation 46 does not require consolidation by
transferors to qualifying special purpose entities.
Interpretation 46 applies immediately to variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable
interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest
after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim
period beginning after June 15, 2003, to variable interest
entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest
that it acquired before February 1, 2003. AmSouth is cur-
rently assessing the impact of Interpretation 46. AmSouth,
however, has identified two limited liability corporations
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which it anticipates that it will be required to consolidate
beginning in the third quarter of 2003. AmSouth entered
into a 50% ownership interest in these corporations, both
of which are asset management companies. Under the
agreements, AmSouth provided funding for the first two
to three years of operations and upon these companies
meeting certain profitability targets, AmSouth would
receive profits equal to 100% of any losses it had funded
plus a set percentage of the companies revenues. Total
assets of these two companies totaled $2.0 million at
December 31, 2002. AmSouth had a recorded investment
on its books associated with these two companies of
$821 thousand, which represents AmSouth’s maximum
exposure to loss related to its investments in these two
companies. In addition to these two companies, AmSouth
has limited partnership investments in affordable housing
projects, for which it provides funding as a limited partner
and receives tax credit for any losses incurred by the projects
based on its partnership share. At December 31, 2002,
AmSouth had recorded investments in other assets on its
balance sheet of approximately $57.4 million associated
with these investments. AmSouth currently adjusts the
carrying value of these investments for any losses incurred
by the limited partnership through earnings. While these
entities may be considered variable interest entities,
AmSouth has not yet determined how many of these enti-
ties, if any, will need to be consolidated by AmSouth.
AmSouth is also reviewing the structures of its leveraged
lease portfolio to determine if any of the structures meet
the definition of a variable interest entity. Currently,
AmSouth consolidates these entities. See Note 5 for details
of AmSouth’s exposures to leveraged leases.

NOTE 2 -~ MERGER-RELATED COSTS

In 2000, AmSouth recorded merger and integration
charges of $77.4 million and other merger-related charges
of $32.8 million associated with the acquisition of First
American. Merger and integration costs in 2000 included
$15.9 million of severance and personnel-related costs,
$.9 million of investment banking and other transaction
costs, $40.8 million of occupancy and equipment charges
and $19.8 million of charges associated with systems and
operations conversions.

Severance and personnel-related costs included the
cost of severance, retention, change-in-control, outplace-
ment, and other benefits associated with the termination
of employees primarily in corporate support and data
processing functions. For the First American merger,
approximately 2,200 positions were eliminated, of which
approximately 1,700 were through merger-related
workforce reduction and 500 were through merger-related
divestitures. Occupancy and equipment charges repre-
sented lease termination costs and impairment of assets
for redundant office space, equipment and branches
vacated and disposed of as part of the integration plan.
Systems and operations conversion costs resulted from the
conversions and integration of the acquired branches and
operations and included incremental costs such as special
contract labor and incentives, consulting fees and mailing
and preparation costs for customer communications
for the conversion of customer accounts. Other merger-
related costs included printing and distribution of
conversion-related instructional materials and manuals
and relocation expenses.
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The following table presents a summary of activity with respect to AmSouth’s merger and integration accrual:

(In millions) 2002 2001 2000
Balance at the beginning of the year $ 268 $ 396 $ 707
Provision charged to operating expense -0- -0- 44.8
Cash outlays (4.3) (10.8) (75.0)
Noncash write-downs and charges (0.1) (2.0) (0.9)
Balance at the end of the year $ 224 $ 268 $ 396

The components of the merger and integration accrual at December 31 were as follows:

(In milkior.s) 2002 2001
Severance and personnel-related costs $ 189 $ 200
Occupancy and equipment charges 35 6.8
Total $ 224 $ 268

At December 31, 2002, the liability for severance and
personnel-related costs was accrued for retirement and
severance liabilities that will be paid out over an extended
period of time based on the retirement and life expectancy of
the beneficiaries. The remaining occupancy and equipment
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accrual is related to long-term lease agreements on redun-
dant branch and office space vacated as part of the merger
restructuring. This liability will be paid down over the
lives of the various leases.
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NOTE 3 - AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES
The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities at December 31:

2002 2001
Gross Gross Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized  Carrying Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Carrying

(In thousands) Cost Gains Losses ~ Amount Cost Gains Losses  Amount
U.S. Treasury and

federal agency

securities $ 61636 $ 5429 § -0-$ 67065 $ 6908 § 3378 § 21% 72442
Mortgage-backed

securities 4,000,675 150,117 565 4,150,227 4,020,414 73,649 10,716 4,083,347
State, county and

municipal securities 66,248 3,478 5 69,721 86,947 2,268 167 89,048

Other debt securities 47,500 37,082 1,503 83,079 212,913 39,708 1,839 250,782

Equity securities 376,801 74 2,101 374,774 337,053 31 3,191 333,893

$ 4,552,860 $ 196,180 § 4,174 $4,744866  $4,726,412 $ 119,034 $ 15934 § 4,829,512

The carrying amount and amortized cost of available-for-sale securities by maturity at December 31, 2002, are as follows:

—
Amortized Carrying

(In thousands) Cost Amount
Due within 1 year $ 47,482 $  82.2:m
Due after 1 year through 5 years 73,962 80,570
Due after 5 years through 10 years 36,739 38,832
Due after 10 years 17,201 18,171
Mortgage-backed securities 4,000,675 4,150,227
Equity securities 376,801 374,774

$ 4,552,860 § 4,744,866

In 2002, 2001 and 2000, AmSouth realized gross gains  securities included $329.7 million and $336.5 million of
of $13,869,000, $11,779,000 and $10,784,000, respectively,  amortized costs related to Federal Reserve Bank stock and
and gross losses of $695,000, $575,000 and $106,085,000,  Federal Home Loan Bank stock as of December 31, 2002
respectively, on sales of available-for-sale securities. Equity ~ and 2001, respectively.
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NOTE 4 - HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES

The amounts at which held-to-maturity securities are carried and their approximate fair market values at December 31

are summarized as follows:

2002 2001
Gross Gross Gross Gross
Carrying  Unrealized Unrealized Market Carrying Unrealized Unrealized Market
(In thousands) Amount Gains Losses Value Amount Gains Losses Value
U.S. Treasury and federal

agency securities $ 23678 $ 1,097 $ -0- $ 24775 § 91,280 $ 3239 $ 1,882 § 92,637
State, county and

municipal securities 340,028 27,585 116 367,497 342,235 17,194 7,652 351,777
Mortgage-backed

securities 4,057,633 102,117 3,276 4,156,474 3,450,737 73,934 19,965 3,504,706

Other securities 3,714 267 -0- 3,981 118,222 3,668 2 121,888

$ 4,425,053 $ 131,066 $ 3,392 $4,552,727 $ 4,002,474 $ 98,035 $29,501 $ 4,071,008

The carrying amount and approximate market value of held-to-maturity securities by maturity at December 31, 2002

are as follows:

Carrying Market

{In thousands) Amount Value
Due within 1 year $ 6,681 $ 6,931
Due after 1 year through 5 years 19,032 20,381
Due after 5 years through 10 years 84,860 92,995
Drue after 10 years 256,847 275,947
Mortgage-backed securities 4,057,633 4,156,473
$ 4,425,053 $ 4,552,727

>

On January I, 2001, in connection with AmSouth’s
adoption of Statement 133, certain held-to-maturity secu-
rities with a total amortized cost of $2,107,919,000 were
transferred to available-for-sale. The unrealized net gain at
the date of transfer was $26,612,000. There were no sales
of held-to-maturity securities during 2002, 2001 or 2000.

Held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities with a
carrying amount of $6,376,723,000 and $6,317,593,000 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, were pledged to
secure short-term and long-term borrowings, public deposits,
trust funds, securities sold under repurchase agreements,
and for other purposes as required or permitted by law.
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NOTE § - LOANS

The major categories of loans net of unearned income at December 31 are summarized as follows:

Total commercial real estate
Consumer:
Residential first mortgages
Equity loans and lines
Dealer indirect
Revolving credit
Other consumer

Total consumer

2002 2001
{Dollars in thousands) Amount  Percent Amount  Percent
Commercial:
Commercial and industrial 5,150,778 18.8% $ 5,271,773 21.0%
Commercial loans secured by real estate 1,726,362 6.3 1,682,030 6.7
Commercial leases 1,780,555 6.5 1,619,216 6.4
Total commercial 8,657,695 31.6 8,573,019 34.1
Commercial real estate:
Commercial real estate mortgages 2,304,381 84 2,137,440 8.5
Real estate construction 2,088,245 7.7 2,364,527 9.4

4,392,626 16.1 4,501,967 17.9

2,794,072 10.2 1,666,287 6.6
6,359,945 23.3 5,404,662 215
3,731,364 13.6 3,382,092 13.5
541,165 2.0 519,761 2.1
874,051 3.2 1,076,705 4.3
14,300,597 52.3 12,049,507 48.0

$ 27,350,918 100.0% $ 25,124,493 100.0%

Included in commercial leases was $1,852,209,000 and
$1,701,013,000 of rentals receivable on leveraged leases,
$395,484,000 and $367,034,000 of estimated residuals on
leveraged leases, net of $728,646,000 and $717,989,000 of
unearned income on leveraged leases at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively. Pre-tax income from leveraged
leases for the years ending December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 was $74,641,000, $51,921,000 and $40,373,000,
respectively. The tax effect of this income was an expense
of $10,691,000, a benefit of $5,569,000, and a benefit of
$7,530,000 for the years ending December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively. The tax effect benefits received in
2001 and 2000 are associated with transfers made by
AmSouth during 2001 and 2000 of the responsibility for
the management of certain operations associated with
lease assets located outside of the United States to a foreign

subsidiary, thereby lowering the effective tax rate on certain
existing leveraged lease investments. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13,
“Accounting for Leases,” net income from the leases
was recalculated from their inception based on the new
effective tax rate increasing net income for 2001 and 2000
by $11.1 million and $7.0 million, respectively. These
adjustments included a deferral of previously recognized
pre-tax leveraged lease earnings to later periods, which
reduced pre-tax net interest income by $20.9 million, and
$24.5 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Total pre-tax
income over the terms of the leveraged leases will be
unaffected by the change in the effective tax rate. The
year-to-date reduction in net interest income was more
than offset by a $31.9 million and $31.5 million reduction
in deferred income taxes in 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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AmSouth intends to permanently reinvest earnings of this
foreign subsidiary and, therefore, in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” deferred taxes of
$84.8 million, $63.4 million, and $31.5 million had
not been provided as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, nonaccrual loans
totaled $158,829,000 and $159,274,000, respectively. The
amount of interest income actually recognized on these
loans during 2002 and 2001 was approximately
$2,500,000 and $3,915,000, respectively. The additional
amount of interest income that would have been recorded
during 2002 and 2001 if these loans had been current
in accordance with their original terms was approximately
$11,242,000 and $16,935,000, respectively. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, AmSouth had loans past
due 90 days or more and still accruing of $91,045,000
and $116,576,000, respectively.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the recorded
investment in loans that were considered to be impaired
was $99,758,000 and $107,303,000, respectively (primarily
all of which were on a nonaccrual basis). There was
approximately $30,549,000 and $24,832,000 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, in the

NOTE 6 - ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

allowance for loan losses specifically allocated to
$85,680,000 and $80,166,000 of impaired loans. No
specific reserve was required for $14,078,000 and
$27,137,000 of impaired loans at December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively. The average recorded investment in
impaired loans for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000 was approximately $102,745,000,
$123,220,000 and $70,471,000, respectively. No material
amount of interest income was recognized on impaired
loans for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000.

Certain executive officers and directors of AmSouth
and their associates were loan customers of AmSouth during
2002 and 2001. Such loans are made in the ordinary
course of business at normal credit terms, including interest
rates and collateral, and do not represent more than a
normal risk of collection. Total loans to these persons at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, amounted to approximately
$23,548,000 and $28,500,000, respectively. Activity during
2002 in loans to related parties included loans of approxi-
mately $133,527,000 and payments of approximately
$118,296,000. Reductions of $20,193,000 were made for
directors and their affiliates that are no longer related parties,
and net additions of $43,000 were made representing
other changes.

A summary of changes in the allowance for loan losses is shown below:

(Int thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Balance at January 1 $ 363,607 $ 380,434 $ 354,679
Loans charged off (237,925) (249,886) (178,388)
Recoveries of loans previously charged off 42,347 45,959 54,037
Net charge-offs (195,578) (203,927) (124,351)
Addition to allowance charged to expense 213,550 187,100 227,600
Allowance sold/transferred to loans held for sale, net -0- -0- (74,591)
Allowance transferred to other liabilities -0- -0- (2,903)
Balance at December 31 $ 381,579 $ 363,607 $ 380,434
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NOTE 7 - PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

Premises and equipment at December 31 are summarized as follows:

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Land $ 130,505 $ 114,154
Buildings 589,229 470,189
Furniture and fixtures 528,627 541,310
Software 176,104 167,418
Leasehold improvements 149,903 134,411
1,574,368 1,427,482

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 735,462 698,099
$ 838,906 $ 729,383

NOTE 8 - GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Upon the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
(Statement 142) on January 1, 2002, AmSouth ceased
amortizing its goodwill, which decreased noninterest

expense and increased net income in 2002 as compared
to 2001 and 2000. The following table shows the pro
forma effects of applying Statement 142 to the 2001 and
2000 periods:

For the Years Ended
December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Earnings Earnings
(In thousands except per share data) Net Income  Per Share Net Income  Per Share
Earnings per common share computation:

Net income/EPS as reported $ 536,346 $ 146 § 329,127 $ 0.86

Add back: Goodwill amortization 29,385 0.08 32,463 0.09

Less: Tax on deductible goodwill 442 0.00 366 0.00

Adjusted net income/EPS $ 565,289 $ 154 $ 361,224 $ 0.95
Diluted earnings per common share computation:

Net income/EPS as reported $ 536,346 $ 145 $ 329,127 $ 0.86

Add back: Goodwill amortization 29,385 0.07 32,463 0.08

Less: Tax on deductible goodwill 442 0.00 366 0.00

Adjusted net income/EPS $ 565,289 $ 152 $ 361,224 $ 094
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As of December 31, 2001, AmSouth had goodwill
assets of $288.4 million included in other assets. AmSouth
has had no changes in the carrying amount of goodwill
during the year ended December 31, 2002. The balance of
goodwill by reportable segment for both December 31, 2002
and 2001 is listed below (in millions):

Consumer Banking: $ 2177
Commercial Banking: 46.8
Wealth Management: 239
Total § 2884

At December 31, 2002, the aggregate maturities, in
thousands, of time deposits are summarized as follows:

2003 $5,571,886
2004 1,721,842
2005 904,560
2006 666,628
2007 and thereafter 215,267

$9,080,183

NOTE 10 - OTHER BORROWED FUNDS

AmSouth has finite-lived intangible assets capitalized
in other assets on its balance sheet in the form of core
deposit intangibles. These intangible assets continue to be
amortized over their estimated remaining useful lives in
accordance with Statement 142, which ranges from one to
four years. There were no adjustments to the useful lives
of these intangible assets as a result of the adoption of
Statement 142. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the gross
carrying amount of core deposit intangibles was
$52.1 million and $63.6 million, respectively, with accu-
mulated amortization of $38.6 million and $44.9 million,
respectively. The aggregate amortization expense recorded
on core deposit intangibles during 2002, 2001 and 2000
was $5.2 million, $4.7 million and $5.1 million,
respectively. Amortization expense on core deposit
intangibles is expected to total $4.8 million, $4.2 million,
$2.6 million and $1.9 million in 2003, 2004, 2005 and
2006, respectively. All core deposit intangibles should be
fully amortized by the end of 2006.

NOTE 9 - DEFOSITS

The aggregate amount of time deposits of $100,000 or
more, excluding certificates of deposit of $100,000 or
more, in domestic bank offices was $224,337,000 and
$209,955,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
In addition, a majority of foreign time deposits were in
amounts in excess of $100,000.

Other borrowed funds at December 31 are summarized
as follows:

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Treasury, tax and loannotes  $ 49,990  § 25,000

Short-term Federal Home
Loan Bank advances 50,000 -0-
Comumercial paper 5,156 9,905
Other borrowings 45,872 44,549
$ 151,018 $ 79,454

At December 31, 2002, AmSouth had a line of credit
arrangement enabling it to borrow up to $25,000,000
subject to such terms as AmSouth and the lender may
mutually agree. The arrangement is reviewed annually
for renewal of the credit line. The line was not in use at
December 31, 2002.

The interest rate on the treasury, tax and loan notes
was 1.16% and 1.52% at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. All other borrowed funds had interest rates
ranging from 0.51% to 12.50% at December 31, 2002 and
from 0.56% to 11.61% at December 31, 2001. The
weighted-average interest rate for other borrowed funds
outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was 3.06%
and 5.42%, respectively.
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NOTE 11 - LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt at December 31 is summarized as follows:

(In thousands) 2002 2001
Long-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances $ 5,838,268 $ 5,093,834

Other fong-term debt:
6.45% Subordinated Notes Due 2018 302,528 303,025
6.125% Subordinated Notes Due 2009 174,726 174,640
6.75% Subordinated Debentures Due 2025 149,950 149,933
7.75% Subordinated Notes Due 2004 149,870 149,778
7.25% Senior Notes Due 2006 99,762 99,691
6.875% Subordinated Notes Due 2003 49,990 49,958
6.625% Subordinated Notes Due 2005 49,841 49,788
Long-term notes payable 2,794 2,813
Capitalized lease obligations 583 759
Statement 133 valuation adjustments 70,971 28,036
Total other long-term debt 1,051,015 1,008,421
$ 6,889,283 $ 6,102,255

Long-term advances from the Federal Home Loan
Bank (FHLB) had maturities ranging from 2003 to 2021
and had weighted-average interest rates of 4.70% at
December 31, 2002, and 5.31% at December 31, 2001.
These advances had a combination of fixed and floating
rates. Of the balances outstanding at December 31, 2002,
$4.97 billion is callable by the FHLB during the first quarter
of 2003. Under the Blanket Agreement for Advances and
Security Agreement with the FHLB, commercial real
estate loans, residential mortgage loans, mortgage-backed
securities and home equity lines and loans are pledged as
collateral for the FHLB advances outstanding.

The 6.45% Subordinated Notes Due 2018 were
issued February 1, 1998, by AmSouth’s bank subsidiary
(AmSouth Bank) at a price of 101.702%. The net proceeds
to AmSouth Bank after commissions totaled $303,156,000.
The notes will mature February 1, 2018, and were issued
with embedded put and call options that could require

AmSouth Bank to repurchase the notes at face value
on February 1, 2008. If the bank does not repurchase
the debt, the interest rate on the notes will be reset on
February 1, 2008, based on a set formula. AmSouth Bank
entered into interest rate swaps in the notional amount of
$175,000,000 to hedge the fair value of these notes. These
swaps require AmSouth Bank to pay variable rates based
on the 30-day and 90-day London Interbank Offered Rate
(LIBOR) on notional amounts of $75,000,000 and
$100,000,000, respectively.

The 6.125% Subordinated Notes Due 2009 were
issued March 1, 1999, at a discounted price of 99.175%.
The net proceeds to AmSouth after commissions totaled
$172,419,000. The notes will mature March 1, 2009, and
AmSouth may redeem some, or all, of the notes prior to
March 1, 2009, at the greater of 100% of the principal
amount, or an amount based on a preset formula.
AmSouth entered into interest rate swaps in the notional
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amount of $175,000,000 to hedge the fair value of these
notes. These swaps require AmSouth to pay variable
interest rates based on the 30-day LIBOR on notional
amounts of $175,000,000.

The 6.75% Subordinated Debentures Due 2025,
were issued November 6, 1995, at a discounted price of
99.883%. The net proceeds to AmSouth after com-
missions totaled $148,900,000. The debentures will
mature on November 1, 2025, and may be redeemed
on November 1, 2005, at the option of the registered
holders thereof.

The 7.75% Subordinated Notes Due 2004 were issued
May 19, 1994, at a discounted price of 99.389%. The
net proceeds to AmSouth after commissions totaled
$148,100,000. The notes will mature on May 15, 2004, and
are not redeemable prior to maturity. AmSouth has
entered intc interest rate swaps in the notional amount of
$125,000,0C0 to hedge the fair value of these notes. These
swaps require AmSouth to pay variable interest rates
based on 30-day LIBOR.

The 7.25% Senior Notes Due 2006, were issued
April 26, 1996, at a discounted price of 99.381%. The net
proceeds to AmSouth after commissions totaled
$98,731,000. The notes will mature May 1, 2006, and are
not redeemable prior to maturity. AmSouth has entered
into interest rate swaps in the notional amount of
$100,000,000 to hedge the fair value of these notes. These
swaps require AmSouth to pay variable interest rates
based on 30-day LIBOR.

The 6.875% Subordinated Notes Due 2003 were
issued April 22, 1993, at a discounted price of 99.36%.
The net proceeds to AmSouth after commissions totaled
$49,355,000. The notes will mature April 15, 2003, and are
not redeemable prior to maturity.

The 6.623% Subordinated Notes Due 2005 were issued
December 18, 1995, at a discounted price of 99.675%. The
net proceeds to AmSouth after commissions totaled
$49,512,500. The notes will mature December 18, 2005,
and are not redeemable prior to maturity. AmSouth has
entered into interest rate swaps in the notional amount of
$50,000,000 to hedge the fair value of these notes. These
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swaps require AmSouth to pay variable interest rates
based on 30-day LIBOR.

Long-term notes payable at December 31, 2002,
included a $2.6 million note with an interest rate of 1.26%
maturing in 2004 and a $240 thousand note with an
interest rate of 8.00% maturing in 2012.

The aggregate stated maturities, in thousands, of
long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2002, are
summarized as follows:

2003 $ 880,343
2004 159,831
2005 1,266,799
2006 99,778
2007 275,760
Thereafter 4,206,772

$ 6,889,283

NOTE 12 - DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL AGREEMENTS
AmSouth uses a variety of derivative financial instruments
to enable it to manage its exposure to changes in interest
rates. AmSouth also enters into similar instruments to
help customers manage their exposure to interest rate and
foreign currency fluctuations.

Forward contracts provide AmSouth and its customers a
means of managing the risks of changing interest and foreign
exchange rates. These contracts represent commitments either
to purchase or sell securities, loans, other money market
instruments or foreign currency at a future date and at a
specified price. AmSouth is subject to the market risk associ-
ated with changes in the value of the underlying financial
instrument as well as the credit risk that another party will fail
to perform. The gross contract amount of forward contracts
represents the extent of AmSouth’s involvement. However,
those amounts significantly exceed the future cash require-
ments as AmSouth intends to close out open trading positions
prior to settlement and thus is subject only to the change
in value of the instruments. The gross amount of contracts
represents AmSouth’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

Interest rate swaps are agreements to exchange interest
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payments computed on notional amounts. Swaps subject
AmSouth to market risk associated with changes in interest
rates, as well as the credit risk that another party will fail
to perform. Interest rate caps and floors are contracts in
which a counterparty pays or receives a cash payment
from another counterparty if a floating rate index rises
above or falls below a predetermined level. The present
value of purchased caps and floors in a gain position
represents the potential credit risk to AmSouth.

Market risk resulting from a position in a particular
derivative financial instrument may be offset by other
balance sheet transactions. AmSouth monitors overall
sensitivity to interest rate changes by analyzing the net
effect of potential changes in interest rates on the market
value of both derivative and other financial instruments
and the related future cash flow streams. Certain
derivative contracts also present credit risk because the
counterparty may not meet the terms of the contract.
Credit risk, which excludes the effects of any collateral or
netting arrangements, is measured as the cost to replace,
at current market rates, contracts in a profitable position.
The amount of this exposure is represented by the gross
unrealized gains on derivative and foreign exchange
contracts. To mitigate credit risk, AmSouth deals
exclusively with counterparties that have high credit
ratings. AmSouth also manages the credit risk of counter-
party defaults in these transactions by limiting the total
amount of arrangements outstanding, both by individual
counterparty and in the aggregate, and by monitoring the
size and maturity structure of the derivative portfolio.
AmSouth requires collateralization by a counterparty on
credit exposure above a specified credit limit. AmSouth
also manages its exposure to credit risk by entering
into master netting arrangements with interest rate swap
and foreign exchange counterparties. These arrangements
effectively reduce credit risk by permitting settlement,
on a net basis, of contracts entered into with the same
counterparty. AmSouth has not experienced any material
credit losses associated with derivative or foreign
exchange contracts.

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT:

As part of managing interest rate risk, AmSouth uses a
variety of derivative instruments to protect against the
risk of interest rate movements on the value of certain
assets and liabilities or on future cash flows. The nature
and volume of derivative instruments used by AmSouth to
manage interest rate risk related to loans, deposits and
long-term debt depend on the level and type of these
on-balance sheet items and AmSouth’s risk management
strategies given the current and anticipated interest rate
environment. Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements includes a summary of how derivative
instruments used for interest rate risk management
are accounted for in the financial statements.

Fair Value Hedging Strategy

AmSouth has entered into interest rate swap agreements
for interest rate risk exposure management purposes.
The interest rate swap agreements utilized by AmSouth
effectively modify AmSouth’s exposure to interest rate risk
by converting a portion of AmSouths fixed-rate certificates
of deposit to floating rate. AmSouth also has interest rate
swap agreements which effectively convert portions of its
fixed-rate long-term debt to floating rate. For the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, AmSouth recognized
expense of $2,616,000 and income of $544,000, respectively,
related to the ineffective portion of its hedging instruments.
This expense/income is reflected in other noninterest
revenue. There were no components of derivative instru-
ments which were excluded from the assessment of hedge
ineffectiveness during 2002 and 2001.

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

AmSouth has entered into interest rate swap agreements
that effectively convert a portion of its floating-rate loans
to a fixed-rate basis, thus reducing the impact of interest
rate changes on future interest income. Approximately
$350,000,000 and $725,000,000 of AmSouth’s loans were
designated as the hedged items to the interest rate swap
agreements at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001,
AmSouth recognized expense of $48,000 and income
of $26,000, respectively, related to the ineffective portion
of its hedging instruments. This expense/income is
reflected in other noninterest revenue. There were no

components of derivative instruments which were
excluded from the assessment of hedge ineffectiveness
during 2002 and 2001. At January 1, 2001, AmSouth
recorded an increase of $5,650,000 in other comprehen-
sive income related to cash flow hedges as a part of the
Statement 133 transition adjustment. At December 31,
2002 and 2001, AmSouth had $9,506,000 and $18,569,000,
respectively, of other comprehensive income resulting
from its cash flow hedges. During 2003, AmSouth expects
to reclassify out of other comprehensive income and into
earnings approximately $7,703,000 due to the receipt of
variable interest on its hedged variable rate loans.

AmSouth’s credit exposure related to interest rate swaps
used for interest rate risk management purposes was
$85,516,000 and $70,425,000 at December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively. This amount represents the unrealized
gains on these derivative instruments.

In addition to these hedging strategies, AmSouth has
historically utilized forward and option contracts to protect
against changes in interest rates and prices of its mort-
gages and mortgage pipeline for mortgages which it
intends to sell. At December 31, 2001, AmSouth had
$3,876,000 recorded in other assets associated with
$228 million notional amount of open forward contracts
to sell residential mortgage loans. As a result of
AmSouth’s decision to suspend the practice of selling
a specific portion of its residential mortgages into the
secondary market, AmSouth had no open forward
contacts to sell mortgage loans at December 31, 2002. See
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for an

additional discussion of AmSouth’s accounting policy
associated with these contracts.

TRADING PORTFOLIO
In addition to using derivative contracts as an interest rate
risk management tool, AmSouth also enters into various
derivative instruments to help its corporate customers
manage their exposure to interest rate and foreign
currency fluctuations. Te mitigate the interest rate risk
associated with these customer contracts, AmSouth enters
into offsetting derivative contract positions. AmSouth
manages its credit risk or potential risk of default by its
corporate customers through credit limit approval and
monitoring procedures. Both the derivative contracts
entered into with its customers and the offsetting deriva-
tive positions are recorded at their estimated fair value.
Market value changes on these derivative instruments are
recognized in income in the period of change. At
December 31, 2002, AmSouth had $110,847,000 recorded
in other assets and $109,787,000 recorded in other liabili-
ties associated with $3.5 billion notional amount of open
interest rate contracts. At December 31, 2001, AmSouth
had $12,171,000 recorded in other assets and $12,171,000
recorded in other liabilities associated with $1.2 billion
notional amount of open interest rate contracts. At
December 31, 2002, AmSouth also had $449 thousand in
recorded asset balances and $402 thousand in recorded
liability balances associated with $22 million notional
amount of open foreign exchange contracts. At December
31, 2001, AmSouth had $438 thousand in recorded asset
balances and $381 thousand in recorded liability balances
associated with $67 million in notional amount of open
foreign exchange contracts. The asset balances, or unreal-
ized gains, represent AmSouth’s credit exposure related to
these interest rate and foreign exchange contracts.
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NOTE 13 - GUARANTEES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
AmSouth issues off-balance sheet financial instruments
in connection with commercial and consumer lending
activities. The credit risk associated with these instruments
is essentially the same as that involved in extending loans
to customers and is subject to AmSouth’s credit policies.
Collateral is obtained based on management’s assessment of
the customer. Credit risk associated with these instruments
is represented by the contractual amounts indicated in the
following table:

December 31,

(In thousands) 2002 2001

Unused commitments to

extend credit $19,711,404 $ 19,030,193
$ 2,699,283 $ 2,286,580

61,485 § 49,417

Standby letters of credit

Commercial letters of credit  §

Unused Commitments to Extend Credit

Commitments to extend credit are Jegally binding agreements
to lend to a customer, provided there is no violation of any
condition established in the contract. These commitments
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination
clauses and may require payment of a fee. Since many
commitments expire without being drawn upon, the total
contractual amount of commitments does not necessarily
represent future cash requirements of AmSouth.

Standby Letters of Credit

AmSouth, as part of its ongoing business operations,
issues financial guarantees in the form of financial and
performance standby letters of credit. Standby letters of
credit are contingent commitments issued by AmSouth
generally to guarantee the performance of a customer
to a third party. A financial standby letter of credit is a
commitment by AmSouth to guarantee a customer’s
repayment of an outstanding loan or debt instrument.
In a performance standby letter of credit, AmSouth guar-

antees a customer’s performance under a contractual
nonfinancial obligation for which it receives a fee.
Revenues are recognized ratably over the life of the
standby letter of credit. At December 31, 2002, AmSouth
had standby letters of credit outstanding with maturities
ranging from less than one year to greater than five years.
The maximum potential amount of future payments
AmSouth could be required to make under its standby
letters of credit at December 31, 2002 was $2.7 billion
and represents AmSouth’s maximum credit risk.
At December 31, 2002, the carrying value of AmSouth’s
standby letters of credit was zero. AmSouth holds
collateral to support standby letters of credit when
deemed necessary. The fair value of collateral held at
December 31, 2002 was $72.9 million.

Commercial Letters of Credit

Commercial letters of credit are issued to facilitate foreign
or domestic trade transactions. Under the terms of a
commercial letter of credit, as a general rule, drafts will be
drawn when the underlying transaction is consummated
as intended. Since the conditions requiring AmSouth
to fund letters of credit may not occur, AmSouth expects
its liquidity requirements to be less than the total out-
standing commitments.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

AmSouth and its subsidiaries lease land, premises
and equipment under cancelable and noncancelable
leases, some of which contain renewal options under
various terms. The leased properties are used primarily for
banking purposes.

The total rental expense on operating leases for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was
$63,297,000, $58,431,000 and $68,574,000, respectively.
Rental income on bank premises for 2002, 2001 and 2000
was $8,562,000, $6,967,000 and $7,089,000, respectively.
There were no material contingent rental expenses for
2002, 2001, or 2000.
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Future minimum payments, in thousands, by year and
in the aggregate, for noncancelable operating leases with
initial or remaining terms of one year or more consisted of
the following at December 31, 2002:

2003 $ 49,934
2004 46,002
2005 37,417
2006 35,087
2007 34,471
Thereafter 210,968

$ 413,879

Various legal proceedings are pending against AmSouth
and its subsidiaries. Some of these proceedings seek relief
or allege damages that are substantial. The actions arise in
the ordinary course of AmSouth’s business and include
actions relating to its imposition of certain fees, lending,
collections, loan servicing, deposit taking, investment,
trust, and other activities. Because some of these actions
are complex and for other reasons, it may take a number of
years to finelly resolve them. Although it is not possible to
determine with certainty AmSouth’s potential exposure
from these proceedings, based upon legal counsel’s opinion,
management considers that any liability resulting from the
proceedings would not have a material impact on the
financial cordition or results of operations of AmSouth.

NOTE 14 - SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

AmSouth offers a Dividend Reinvestment and Common
Stock Purchase Plan, whereby shareholders can reinvest
dividends to acquire shares of common stock. Shareholders
may also invest additional cash up to $5,000 per quarter
with no brokerage commissions or fees charged.

AmSouth has a Stockholder Protection Rights agreement
which attaches a Right to every common share outstanding.
Each Right entitles its registered holder, upon occurrence
of certain events, to purchase from AmSouth one one-
thousandth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock, without
par value, fcr $88.89, subject to adjustment for certain
events. The Rights will be exercisable only if a person or
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group acquires 15% or more of AmSouth’s common stock
or commences a tender offer that will result in such person
or group owning 15% or more of AmSouth’s common stock.
The Rights may be redeemed by action of the Board for
$.0044 per Right.

On April 20, 2000, AmSouth’s Board approved the repur-
chase by AmSouth of 35,000,000 shares of its common stock
over a two-year period. During 2001 and 2000, AmSouth
purchased 12,263,000 and 22,322,000 shares, respectively, at
a cost of $219,888,000 and $369,696,000 under this plan,
respectively. This authorization expired at the end of 2001.

On September 19, 2001, AmSouth’s Board approved the
repurchase by AmSouth of 25,000,000 shares of common
stock over a two-year period. During 2002 and 2001,
AmSouth purchased 13,274,000 and 2,270,000 shares,
respectively, at a cost of $272,103,000 and $41,157,000,
respectively, under this authorization.

At December 31, 2002, there were 3,254,000 shares
reserved for issuance under the Dividend Reinvestment and
Common Stock Purchase Plan, 52,598,000 shares reserved
for issuance under stock compensation plans (26,843,000
shares represent stock options outstanding), 574,000 shares
reserved under the AmSouth Deferred Compensation Plan,
and 393,000 shares reserved for issuance under the employee
stock purchase plan for a total of 56,819,000 shares.

In 2002, AmSouth increased its dividend per share to
$0.89 per common share, compared to $0.85 in 2001 and
$0.81 in 2000.

At December 31, 2002, other comprehensive income
included $9,506,000 associated with the effective portion of
AmSouth’s cash flow hedges and $93,453,000 of net unreal-
ized gains on AFS securities. At December 31, 2001, other
comprehensive income included $18,569,000
associated with the effective portion of AmSouth’s cash flow
hedges and $6,432,000 of net unrealized gains on AFS secu-
rities. Included in the net unrealized gains on AFS securities
at December 31,2002 and 2001, respectively was
$26,014,000 and $57,482,000, respectively, of unrealized
securities losses associated with the transfer of available-for-
sale securities to held-to-maturity at the time of AmSouth’s
merger with First American. These unrealized securities

losses are being amortized over the estimated lives of the
transferred securities.
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NOTE 15 - EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common share:

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Earnings per common share computation:
Numerator:
Net income $ 609,147 $ 536,346 $ 329,127
Denominator:

Average common shares outstanding 358,176 367,404 382,031
Earnings per common share $ 1.70 $ 1.46 $ 0.86
Diluted earnings per common share computation:

Numerator:
Net income $ 609,147 $ 536,346 $ 329,127
Denominator:

Average common shares outstanding 358,176 367,404 382,031

Dilutive shares contingently issuable 4,153 3,544 2,646

Average diluted common shares outstanding 362,329 370,948 384,677
Diluted earnings per common share $ 1.68 $ 1.45 $ 0.86

The effect from assumed exercise of 12.4 million,
4.5 million and 13.0 million of stock options was not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per
common share for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
because such shares would have had an antidilutive effect
on earnings per share.

NOTE 16 - LONG-TERM INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLANS

AmSouth has long-term incentive compensation plans
which permit the granting of incentive awards in the
form of stock options, restricted stock awards and stock

appreciation rights. Generally, the terms of these plans
stipulate that the exercise price of options may not be less
than the fair market value of AmSouth’s common stock
at the date the options are granted. Options granted
generally vest between one and three years from the date
of the grant. All of the options granted during 2002 and
2001 expire ten years from the date of grant. All other
options granted generally expire not later than ten years
from the date of the grant.

FASB Statement 123 requires pro forma information
regarding net income and earnings per share. This pro
forma information has been determined as if AmSouth
had accounted for its employee stock options under the
fair value method of that statement. The fair value for
these options was estimated at the date of grant using a
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions for 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively: a risk-free interest rate of 4.92%, 5.00% and
6.83%, a dividend yield of 4.36%, 4.99% and 5.04%,
a volatility factor of 31.39%, 31.51% and 23.83%, and
a weighted-average expected life of the options of seven
years for all three years. The weighted-average fair value of
options granted during 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $4.93,
$3.79 and $3.21, respectively.

No option-based employee compensation cost is
reflected in reported net income, as all options granted
had an exercise price equal to the market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant. For
purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value
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of the options is amortized to expense over the options’ vesting period. AmSouth’s pro forma information follows (in
thousands except for earnings per share information):

2002 2001 2000
Net income:
As reported $ 609,147 $ 536,346 $ 329,127
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair-value-based method for all awards,
net of related tax effects (24,541) (22,690) (10,007)
Pro forria $ 584,606 $ 513,656 $ 319,120
Earnings per common share:
As reported $ 1.70 $ 1.46 $ 086
Pro forma 1.63 1.40 0.84
Diluted ea:nings per common share:
As reported $ 1.68 $ 1.45 $ 086
Pro forma 1.62 1.38 0.83

The following table summarizes AmSouth’s stock option activity and related information during 2000, 2001 and 2002:

Number Option Price Weighted-Average

of Shares per Share Exercise Price
Balance at January 1, 2000 13,998,595 $ 2.91-$32.92 $ 16.94
Options exercised (2,319,473) 291-17.84 9.31
Options forfeited (2,855,369) 6.11-27.49 20.12
Options granted 7,821,044 12.00 - 19.19 16.08
Balance at December 31, 2000 16,644,797 3.17 - 32.92 17.01
Options exercised (1,127,404) 3.17 - 19.78 8.89
Options forfeited (694,772) 6.81 - 32.92 18.54
Options granted 6,509,400 16.04 - 19.96 17.06
Balance at December 31, 2001 21,332,021 4,31 -32.92 17.28
Options exercised (2,376,150) 4.31-2242 13.90
Options forfeited (1,044,674) 6.11-27.49 21.15
Options granted 8,932,100 18.33 - 22.81 20.42
Balance at December 31, 2002 26,843,297 $ 5.14-32.92 $ 18.43
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Of the options outstanding at December 31, 2002,
those options granted since January 1, 2000, had vesting
periods between one and three years from the date of
grant. All other options outstanding were exercisable.
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, options exercisable
totaled 12,055,611 and 8,157,132, respectively, and had a

weighted-average exercise price per share of $18.23 and
$18.07, respectively.

The following table presents the weighted-average
remaining life as of December 31, 2002, for options out-
standing within the stated exercise price ranges.

Qutstanding Exercisable

Exercise Price Numberof  Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Number of Weighted-Average
Range Per Share Options Exercise Price Remaining Life Options Exercise Price
$5.14 - $7.42 127,915 $ 643 .69 years 127,915 $ 643
7.75 - 11.55 1,083,658 9.26 1.81 years 1,083,658 9.26
11.66 - 17.25 12,873,842 16.14 5.91 years 6,686,553 16.22
17.44 - 25.63 11,816,659 21.06 8.38 years 3,216,262 22.78
26.32 - 3292 941,223 28.86 6.03 years 941,223 28.806

AmSouth also has issued common stock as restricted
stock awards to key officers with the restriction that they
remain employed with AmSouth for periods of three years
or longer. The following table summarizes AmSouth’s

restricted stock grants, the weighted-average fair values at
grant date and compensation expense recognized on
restricted stock awards:

2002 2001 2000
Shares granted 166,028 1,047,995 75,412
Weighted-average fair value of restricted stock granted during the year $ 2068 $ 17.09 $ 1530
Compensation expense recognized (in thousands) $ 3,376 $ 2,850 $ 4,626

At December 31, 2002, there were no stock appreciation
rights outstanding.

NOTE 17 - REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS AND RESTRICTIONS

Capital is the primary tool used by regulators to monitor
the financial health of insured banks and savings institu-
tions. The Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation have historically had similar
capital adequacy guidelines involving minimum leverage
capital and risk-based capital requirements. Under the
capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework
for prompt corrective action, AmSouth and its banking
subsidiary must meet specific capital guidelines that
involve quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities

and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under
regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts and
classification are also subject to qualitative judgements by
the regulators about components, risk weightings and
other factors. Based on the risk-based capital rules and
definitions prescribed by the banking regulators, should
an institution’s capital ratios decline below predetermined
levels, it would become subject to a series of increasingly
restrictive regulatory actions. AmSouth and its subsidiary
bank are required to have core capital (Tier 1) of at least
4% of risk-weighted assets, total capital of 8% of risk-
weighted assets and a leverage ratio of 3% of adjusted
quarterly average assets. Tier 1 capital consists principally
of shareholders’ equity, excluding unrealized gains




and losses on securities available-for-sale and the effective
portion of cash flow hedges, less goodwill and certain
other intangibles. Total capital consists of Tier 1 capital
plus certain debt instruments and the reserve for credit
losses, subiect to limitation. Both the Tier 1 and the total
risk-based capital ratios are computed by dividing the
respective capital amounts by risk-weighted assets, as
defined by banking regulators. The leverage ratio reflects
Tier 1 capiral divided by average assets for the most recent
quarter. Average assets used in the calculation exciudes
certain intangible and mortgage servicing assets. The reg-
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ulations also define well-capitalized levels of Tier 1 capital,
total capital and leverage as ratios of 6%, 10% and 5%,
respectively, for banking entities. AmSouth’s banking sub-
sidiary had Tier 1 capital, total capital and leverage ratios
above the well-capitalized levels at December 31, 2002 and
2001. Management believes that no changes in conditions
or events have occurred since December 31, 2002, which
would result in changes that would cause AmSouth Bank
to fall below the well-capitalized level. The actual capital
ratios and amounts for AmSouth and AmSouth Bank
are as follows:

2002 2001

(Dollars in *housands) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Tier 1 capital:

AmSouth $ 2,709,981 7.80% $ 2,622,356 7.72%

AmSouth Bank 3,301,450 9.52 3,289,428 9.71
Total capital:

AmSouth $ 3,682,836 10.60% $ 3,721,005 10.96%

AmSouth Bank 3,989,689 11.50 3,963,728 11.70
Leverage:

AmSouth $ 2,709,981 6.85% $ 2,622,356 6.98%

AmSouth Bank 3,301,450 8.35 3,289,428 8.73

AmSouth’s banking subsidiary is required to maintain
reserve balances with the Federal Reserve Bank based on a
percentage of deposits reduced by its cash on hand. The
average amount of those reserves was approximately
$10,996,000 and $32,030,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Certain restrictions exist regarding the ability of bank-
ing subsidiaries to transfer funds to the parent company as
loans, advances or dividends. The subsidiary bank can ini-
tiate dividerd payments in 2003, without prior regulatory
approval, of an amount equal to $19.8 million plus its net
profits for 2003, as defined by statute, Substantially all of
the parent company’s retained earnings at December 31,
2002 and 2001, represented undistributed earnings of its
banking subsidiary.
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NOTE 18 - PENSION AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

AmSouth sponsors a noncontributory defined benefit
pension plan, covering substantially all regular full-time
employees and part-time employees who work over one
thousand hours a year. Benefits are generally based
on years of service and the employee’s earnings during
the five consecutive calendar years out of the last ten years
of employment that produce the highest average.
Actuarially determined pension costs are charged to
current operations using the projected unit credit
method. AmSouth’s funding policy is to contribute an
amount that meets the minimum funding requirements
set forth in the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, plus such additional amounts as the corporation
determines to be appropriate.




In addition to pension benefits, AmSouth provides
postretirement medical plans to all current employees
who retire between the ages of 55 and 65 with five calendar
years of service and provides certain retired and grand-
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employees and retirees. Costs associated with these
postretirement benefit plans are charged to operations
based on actuarial calculations. The following table
summarizes the change in benefit obligation and plan

assets and the funded status of the pension and other
postretirement plans at December 31, 2002 and 2001:

fathered retired participants with postretirement
healthcare benefits past age 65. Postretirement life
insurance is also provided to a grandfathered group of

Retirement Plans Other Postretirement Benefits
(In thousands) 2002 2001 2002 2001
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 521,059 $ 473,338 $ 44,552 $ 44,006
Service cost 15,510 15,304 915 1,148
Interest cost 38,001 37,253 3,208 3,313
Amendments -0- 7,466 -0- -0-
Actuarial loss/{gain) 75,088 10,046 3,430 (1,473)
Benefits and expenses paid (31,464) (22,348) (3,486) (2,442)
| Benefit obligation at end of period 618,194 521,059 48,619 44,552
] Change in plan assets:
;;; Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period 563,816 644,079 3,847 3,838
n Actual return on plan assets (54,696) (58,469) 616 180
Company contribution 80,527 554 -0- -0-
’ Benefits and expenses paid (31,464) {22,348) -0- 171)
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 558,183 563,816 4,463 3,847
Funded status of the plan (60,011) 42,757 (44,156} (40,705)
Unrecognized actuarial loss 249,106 58,142 16,620 14,253
Unamortized prior service (credit)/cost (L121) (1,421) 278 371
Unrecognized net transition obligation 1,732 1,925 2,210 2,431
Prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost $ 189,706 $ 101,403 $ (25,048) $ (23,650)
Amounts recognized in the statement of condition:
Prepaid benefit cost $ 214,245 $ 117,748 $ 854 $ 702
Accrued benefit liability (28,659) (20,917) (25,902) (24,352)
Intangible assets 4,120 4,572 -0- -0-
Net amount recognized $ 189,706 $ 101,403 $ (25,048) $ (23,650)
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Net periodic benefit (credit)/cost includes the following components for the years ended December 31:

Retirement Plans Other Postretiremnent Benefits

(Dollars in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Service cost $ 15,510 $ 15,304 $ 13,731 $ 915 $ 1,148 $ 1,174
Interest cost 38,001 37,253 34,210 3,208 3,313 3,196
Expected return on plan assets (61,576) (62,211) (59,600) (243) (242) (222)
Amortization of prior service

(credit)/cost (300) (311) (1,007) 93 (419) (1,091)
Amortization of transitional

obligation/(asset) 192 140 (709) 221 278 278
Reccgnized actuarial loss/(gain) 367 (2,597) (5,213) 775 946 969
Net periodic benefit (credit)/cost $ (7.806) $(12,422)  $(18,588) $ 4,969 $ 5,024 $ 4,304
Additional (gain)/loss recognized

due to:

Curtailment $ -0- $ -0- $ (4,450) $  -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Assumptions:

Discount rate 6.65% 7.50% 7.75% 6.65% 7.50% 7.75%

Expected long-term rate of 9.50 9.50 9.50 6.50 6.50 6.50

return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase 4.40 5.25 5.50 N/A N/A N/A

During 2000, AmSouth experienced a net curtailment
gain of $4.5 million. The gain was primarily the result of
employee terminations associated with the First American
merger. This gain was recorded as a reduction to merger
and integration costs.

cost trend rates have an insignificant effect on the costs and
the liabilities reported for the healthcare plan. A one-per-
centage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend
rates would have the following effects:

For measurement purposes, the increase in the per
capita cost of covered healthcare benefits varies by medical
benefit and date of retirement. For retirements after
December 31, 1992, AmSouth’s subsidies for all medical
benefits will be capped at a level dollar amount in approxi-
mately seven years. For retirements before January 1, 1993,
the rates are graded, starting at 10.0% in 2000 and dropping

1-Percentage  1-Percentage

(In thousands) Point Increase Point Decrease
Effect on total of

service cost and interest

cost components $ 71 $ (71)

Effect on postretirement

benefit obligation (885)

to an ultimate rate of 5.0% in ten years. Assumed healthcare
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The Qualified Retirement Plan has a portion of its
investments in AmSouth common stock. The number of
shares and the market value of the common stock were
1,080,307 and $20,741,894, respectively, as of December
31, 2002. Dividends paid on the AmSouth common stock
totaled $950,670 during the current year.

AmSouth also maintains a thrift plan and an employee
stock purchase plan that cover substantially all regular
full-time employees. AmSouth matches pre-tax con-
tributions dollar for dollar on the first 6% of base pay that
each employee contributes to the thrift plan. After-tax
contributions to the thrift plan are matched at 50 cents
for every dollar contributed by an employee through the
first 6% of base pay. Employees may make both pre-tax
and after-tax contributions, but no matching contri-
butions are made on any employee contributions above
6%, with pre-tax contributions being matched first. All
company-matching contributions are made in AmSouth

NOTE 19 - INCOME TAXES

common stock and allocated to the AmSouth common
stock investment option. Effective March 1, 2002, par-
ticipants may transfer company-match contributions
out of the AmSouth common stock investment option
to other investment options at any time. The cost of the
thrift plans for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000 was $15.8 million, $15.7 million and
$16.6 million, respectively. Under the employee stock
purchase plan, an employee may invest up to $2,000 each
calendar year in purchases of AmSouth common stock
and AmSouth will contribute a matching 25% toward the
purchase. Additional purchases of up to $8,000 may be
made on an unmatched basis with no administrative
or brokerage fees charged. Under the employee stock
purchase plan, 191,119 and 227,158 shares of AmSouth
common stock were purchased during 2002 and 2001,
respectively, with weighted-average fair values of $20.31
and $17.57, respectively.

The provisions for income taxes charged to earnings are summarized as follows:

Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Current tax expense (benefit):
Federal $ 44433 $ 41,916 $ (13,370)
State 1,525 521 651
45,958 42,437 (12,719)
Deferred tax expense:
Federal 191,806 170,099 130,833
State 24,918 21,730 7,321
216,724 191,829 138,154
$ 262,682 $ 234,266 $ 125435




The differences between the actual income tax expense
and the amount computed by applying the statutory
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federal income tax rate to income before income taxes
are as follows:

Years Ended December 31

(In thouscnds) 2002 2001 2000
Tax at statutory federal income tax rate $ 305,140 $ 269,714 $ 159,097
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefits 17,188 14,464 5,182
Acquisition cost -0- -0~ 1,290
Goodwill amortization -0- 9,899 17,341
Tax exempt interest (8,898) (9,756) (9,584)
Bank-owned life insurance income (24,273) (21,775) (19,889)
Lease residual option benefit (17,152) (24,514) (22,853)
Other (9,323) (3,766) (5,149)

$ 262,682 $ 234,266 - $ 125,435

The significant temporary differences that created deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

December 31
(In thousands) 2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Loan loss reserves $ 148419 $ 141,365
Accrued expenses 2,518 4,210
Mortgage servicing rights 12,045 11,180
Federal tax credit carryforwards 29,223 33,372
State et operating loss carryforwards 25,476 21,271
Other 22,970 22,752
240,651 234,150
Deferred tax liabilities:
Leasing activities (883,748) (687,724)
Depreciation (8,704) (10,478)
Employee benefits (31,579) (1,373)
Purchase accounting (4,155) (6,675)
Statement 115 equity adjustment (72,315) (38,412)
Deferred loan fees (3,026) (2,146)
Other (20,381) (22,772)
(1,023,908) (769,580)
Net deferred tax liability $ (783,257) $ (535,430)
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At December 31, 2002, for income tax purposes,
AmSouth had alternative minimum tax (AMT) federal
tax credit carryforwards of $29.2 million. The AMT credit
carryforwards have no expiration date. AmSouth also had
a deferred state tax asset of $25.5 million resulting from net
operating loss carryforwards. These carryforwards begin
expiring in 2006, with the last one expiring in 2022. There
was no valuation allowance recorded in 2002 because it is

AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
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NOTE 20 - OTHER NONINTEREST REVENUES AND OTHER NONINTEREST EXPENSES

more likely than not that all deferred tax assets will be realized.

Income taxes paid/(refunded) were $39,238,000,
$6,481,000 and $(5,927,000) for the years ended December
31,2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Applicable income
tax expense/(benefit) of $4,953,000, $4,213,000 and
$(35,833,000) on securities gains and losses for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
is included in the provision for income taxes.

The components of other noninterest revenues and other noninterest expenses are as follows:

Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Other noninterest revenues:
Interchange income $ 63,429 $ 56,581 $ 50,154
Bank-owned life insurance policies 59,899 53,846 48,794
Mortgage income 24,148 32,627 18,019
Gains/(losses) on sales of available-for-sale securities 13,174 11,204 (95,301)
Other portfolio income/(loss) 4,337 1,987 (9,966)
Gains on sales of businesses -0- -0- 19,959
Other 101,927 126,423 94,829
$ 266,914 $ 282,668 $ 126,488
Other noninterest expenses:
Postage and office supplies $ 49,091 $ 49,472 $ 49,721
Marketing 35,609 34,812 37,408
Professional fees 31,051 28,433 22,399
Communications 28,438 40,484 41,246
Amortization of intangibles 5,161 34,039 37,589
Subscribers’ commissions -0- -0- 82,618
Merger-related costs -0- -0- 110,178
Other 155,731 167,909 164,901
$ 305,081 $ 355,149 $ 546,060
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NOTE 21 - BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

AmSouth has three reportable segments: Consumer
Banking, Commercial Banking, and Wealth Management.
Each of these units provides unique products and services
to a variety of customer groups and has its own manage-
ment team. Consumer Banking delivers a full range of
financial services to individuals and small businesses.
Services include loan products such as residential
mortgages, equity lending, credit cards, and loans for
automobile and other personal financing needs, and
various products designed to meet the credit needs of
small businesses. In addition, Consumer Banking offers
various deposit products that meet customers’ savings and
transaction needs. Commercial Banking meets corporate
and middle-market customers’ needs with a comprehen-
sive array of credit, treasury management, international,
and capital markets services. Included among these
are several specialty services such as real estate finance,
assei-based lending, commercial leasing, and healthcare
banking. Wealth Management is comprised of trust,
institutional, retirement, private client services (PCS) and
broker/dealer services, and provides primarily fee-based
income. Wealth Management includes not only traditional
trust services, but also a substantial selection of investment
management services including AmSouth’s proprietary
mutual fund family. This area also includes commercial
and consumer loan and deposit products associated with
PCS customers. Treasury & Other is comprised of balance
sheet management activities that include the investment
portfolio, non-deposit funding and off-balance sheet
financial instruments. Treasury & Other also includes
income from bank-owned life insurance policies, gains

and losses 021 sales of fixed and other assets, taxable equiv-
alent adjustments associated with lease residual option
benefits related to lease restructuring transactions in 2001
and 2000 as well as corporate expenses such as corporate
overhead and the amortization of goodwill and deposit
intangibles for all years shown. Treasury & Other for 2002
and 2001 includes gains and losses related to the ineffec-
tive portior of derivative hedging instruments. Other
items included in Treasury & Other for 2000 include a
dealer securitization loss and losses on the sales of Assets

Held for Accelerated Disposition loans. Merger-related
costs and net gains on sales of businesses were included in
Treasury & Other for 2000 as well as all revenues and
expenses of [FC Holdings, Inc. prior to its sale at the end
of the third quarter of 2000.

In 2002, AmSouth’s management changed the way
revenues and expenses associated with PCS customers’
loans and deposit balances are reviewed for business
segment purposes. Prior to the reporting change, the
estimated spread on the PCS customers’ loan and deposit
balances, as well as NIR and NIE associated with those
balances and accounts, was included within the
Commercial or Consumer segments based on the loan or
deposit type. Beginning in 2002, these revenues and
expenses are also being included within the Wealth
Management segment since this segment is principally
responsible for maintaining the relationships with these
customers. These shared revenues and expenses are
reversed within Treasury & Other to eliminate the double
counting. Segment information for 2001 and 2000 has
been restated to reflect this reporting change. For the years
ended 2002, 2001 and 2000, $46.9 million, $33.5 million
and $24.2 million of net income, respectively, was added
to Wealth Management’s results and eliminated within
Treasury & Other. Revenues from external customers
reflect net interest income and NIR earned from external
customers and excludes the impact of recording PCS
customer account revenues in Wealth Management.

Measurement of Segment Profit or Loss and Segment Assets
AmSouth evaluates performance and allocates resources
based on profit or loss from operations. The accounting
policies of the reportable segments are the same as those
described in Note 1 except that AmSouth uses matched
maturity transfer pricing to fairly and consistently assign
funds costs to assets and earnings credits to liabilities with
a corresponding offset in Treasury & Other. AmSouth
allocates noninterest expenses to match revenues based on
various activity statistics. AmSouth is disclosing net interest
income in lieu of interest income. Performance is assessed
primarily on net interest income by the chief operating
decision makers. Excluding the internal funding and the
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Consumer Commercial Wealth Treasury &

(In thousands) Banking Banking Management Other Total
2002
Net interest income before

internal funding $ 764,814 $ 506,921 $ 138,620 $ 62,285 $ 1,472,640
Internal funding 393,175 (121,723) (26,616) (244,836) -0-
Net interest income/(expense) 1,157,989 385,198 112,004 (182,551) 1,472,640
Noninterest revenues 368,428 120,353 187,901 62,679 739,361
Total revenues 1,526,417 505,551 299,905 (119,872) 2,212,001
Provision for loan losses 144,136 42,130 911 26,373 213,550
Noninterest expenses 700,408 174,923 187,360 63,931 1,126,622
Income/(Loss) before income taxes 681,873 288,498 111,634 (210,176) 871,829
Income taxes 256,384 108,475 41,974 (144,151) 262,682
Segment net income/(loss) $ 425489 §$ 180,023 3 69,660 % (66,025) $ 609,147
Revenues from external customers $ 1,133,242  $ 627,274 $ 180,805 $ 270,680 $ 2,212,001
Ending assets $ 18,531,879 $ 10,839,794 $ 3,253,880 $ 7,945,719 $ 40,571,272
2001
Net interest income before

internal funding $ 494,794 $ 648,561 $ 104,445 $ 118,922 $ 1,366,722
Internal funding 509,005 (257,861) (19,446) (231,698) -0-
Net interest income/(expense) 1,003,799 390,700 84,999 (112,776) 1,366,722
Noninterest revenues 351,848 108,716 211,604 76,054 748222
Total revenues 1,355,647 499,416 296,603 (36,722) 2,114,944
Provision for loan losses 126,454 75,621 749 (15,724) 187,100
Noninterest expenses 683,838 181,268 193,159 98,967 1,157,232
Income/(Loss) before income taxes 545,355 242,527 102,695 (119,965) 770,612
Income taxes 205,054 91,190 38,613 (100,591) 234,266
Segment net income/(loss) $ 340,301 $ 151,337 $ 64,082 $ (19,374) $ 536,346
Revenues from external customers $ 846,642 $ 757,277 $ 206,616 $ 304,409 $ 2,114,944
Ending assets $ 16,172,251 $ 11,061,055 $ 2,838,565 $ 8,528,543 $ 38,600,414
2000
Net interest income before

internal funding $ 418,004 $§ 799,757 $ 78,113 § 65,324 $ 1,361,198
Internal funding 516,064 (387,066) (14,737) (114,261) -0-
Net interest income/{expense) 934,068 412,691 63,376 (48,937) 1,361,198
Noninterest revenues 322,261 89,249 207,907 50,077 669,494
Total revenues 1,256,329 501,940 271,283 1,140 2,030,692
Provision for loan losses 96,454 27,896 575 102,675 227,600
Noninterest expenses 673,153 159,559 169,568 346,250 1,348,530
Income/(Loss) before income taxes 486,722 314,485 101,140 (447,785) 454,562
Income taxes 183,088 118,185 38,020 (213,858) 125,435
Segment net income/(loss) $ 303634 $ 196,300 $ 63,120 $ (233,927) § 329,127
Revenues from external customers $ 740,265 3 889,006 ) 203,653 $ 197,768 $ 2,030,692
Ending assets $ 14,698,132 $ 11,787,168 $ 2,317,849 $ 10,132,829 $ 38,935,978
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impact of recording PCS customer revenues and expenses in
Wealth Management, AmSouth does not have intracompany
revenues or expenses. The provision for loan losses for each
segment reflects the net charge-offs in each segment. The
difference between net charge-offs and the provision is
included in Treasury & Other. Additionally, segment income
tax expense is calculated using the marginal tax rate. The

difference between the marginal and effective tax rate is
included in Treasury & Other.

AmSouth operates primarily in the United States;
accordingly, geographic distribution of revenue and
long-lived assets in other countries is not significant.
Revenues from no individual customer exceeded 10% of
consolidated total revenues. AmSouth’s segments are not
necessarily comparable with similar information for any
other financial institution.

NOTE 2% - SECURITIZATIONS

During 2002, AmSouth sold commercial loans to third-
party multi-issuer conduits. During 2001 and 2000,
AmSouth sold commercial and residential mortgage loans
to third-party multi-issuer conduits. During 2000,
AmSouth also sold dealer loans to third-party multi-issuer
conduits and sold dealer loans and residential mortgage
loans in securitization transactions. AmSouth retained
servicing responsibilities in all of these sales and securitiza-
tion transactions. In addition, AmSouth also retained an
interest in excess interest spreads and in some cases, sub-
ordinated interests. As part of the sale and securitization of
loans to conduits, AmSouth provides credit enhancements
to the conduits in the form of letters of credit for which
liabilities of $6,247,000, $10,693,000 and $18,461,000
were recorded at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.
AmSouth also provides liquidity lines of credit to
support the issuance of commercial paper under 364-day
loan commitments. These liquidity lines can be drawn

upon in the unlikely event of a commercial paper market
disruption or other factors, which could prevent the asset-
backed commercial paper issuer from being able to issue
commercial paper. At December 31, 2002, AmSouth had
liquidity lines of credit supporting these conduit transac-
tions of $2.5 billion. In addition to these transactions,
AmSouth also engaged in an ongoing program of selling
residential mortgage loans to third parties in which no
servicing or other interest was retained. During 2002,
2001 and 2000, $963,000,000, $1,507,000,000 and
$464,000,000, respectively, in residential mortgage
loans were sold as part of this ongoing mortgage loan sales
program, which resulted in net gains of $9,282,000,
$14,586,000 and $3,784,000, respectively. ,

During 2002, AmSouth recognized a gain of $3,324,000
associated with a guaranteed mortgage securitization of
$232,708,000 of mortgage loans to the Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation and the Federal National Mortgage
Association where AmSouth retained servicing rights and
recorded a mortgage servicing asset of approximately $1.8
million. During 2001 and 2000, AmSouth recognized
$1,993,000 and $16,381,000, respectively, in gains on sales of
residential mortgage loans to conduits. During 2000,
AmSouth also recorded $9,323,000 in gains on sales of dealer
loans to conduits, a loss of $18,531,000 on the securitization
of dealer loans, and a gain of $131,000 on the securitization
of mortgage loans to the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation. No gains or losses were recognized on commer-
cial loans sold to third-party conduits nor was any retained
interest recorded due to the relatively short life of the
commercial loans sold into the conduits (average life of 30
days). The following table summarizes the key assumptions
used in the calculation of retained interests and the gain or
loss on the sales and securitization transactions during 2002,
2001 and 2000 in which AmSouth retained a continuing
interest in the sold and securitized loans.
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2002 2001 2000
Residential Residential Residential Residential
Mortgage Mortgage Mortgage Mortgage Dealer

{Dollars in millions) Securitization Conduit Conduit Securitization Securitization  Conduit
Valuation assumptions at

the time of the transactions:

Discount rate 8.75% 15-20% 15-20% 10% 15% 15%

Prepayment rate 483 PSA 30% CPR 9-24% CPR  133-300 PSA 1.5% ABS  1.5% ABS

Weighted-average life (years) 3.59 2.75 4.46 4,61 1.55 1.7

Expected credit losses N/A .14% 22% N/A 1.32% 1.33%

Provided in the table below is information concerning cash flows received from third-party conduits and securitization
trusts during 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Residential Residential

Mortgage Mortgage Dealer Dealer

{Dollars in miliions) Conduit Securitization Conduit Securitization
2002:

Proceeds from sales N/A $ 2376 N/A N/A

Servicing fees and retained interests $ 66.7 -0- $ 20.1 $ 153
2001:

Proceeds from sales $ 1002 N/A N/A N/A

Servicing fees and retained interests $ 48.1 N/A $ 237 $ 286
2000:

Proceeds from sales $ 1,302.0 $ 1316 $ 1,00L.1 $ 9171

Servicing fees and retained interests $ 13.5 $ 1.7 $ 11.8 $ 1.6
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The asstmptions used in the subsequent valuation
of retained interests at December 31, 2002 and the
sensitivity of the current fair value of residual cash

flows to the immediate 10% and 20% adverse
change in the current assumptions are also provided below
(in millions):

Residential Residential
Mortgage Mortgage Dealer Dealer
Conduit Securitization Conduit Securitization
Valuation assumptions at
December 31, 2002:
Discourtt rate 15-20% 8.75% 15% 15%
Prepayment rate 40% CPR 483 PSA 1.5% ABS 1.5% ABS
Weighted-average life 1.91 3.59 74 92
Expected credit losses .06% N/A 1.30% 1.06%
Variable returns to transferees 8 to 10 basis N/A 8 to 10 basis N/A
points over LIBOR points over LIBOR
Residual cash flow sensitivity:
Fair value of servicing and retained .
interests at December 31, 2002 $37.9 $1.8 $11.2 $8.0
Prepayment speed:
10% chenge (2.6) (0.1) (1.1) -0-
20% chenge (5.0) (0.3) (2.4) -0-
Credit losses:
10% change (0.1) N/A (0.1) (0.2)
20% change (0.2) N/A (0.3) (0.4)

This sensitivity test is hypothetical and isolates
the potential impact of changes in a single assumption on
total fair value. These and other assumptions used in the
calculation of fair values may in fact exhibit some positive
correlation (which would potentially magnify the impact
of a scenario) or may exhibit some negative correlation
(which would potentially have some partial offsetting
benefit). Also, changes in assumptions do not provide
linear results. Thus, it is not possible to extrapolate the

impact of other scenarios from these projections.

Included in the retained interest information above are
capitalized mortgage servicing rights and servicing rights
associated with dealer loans. At December 31, 2002 and
2001, AmSouth had approximately $10.0 million and
$9.9 million, respectively, of capitalized mortgage servicing
rights with an estimated fair value of $12.0 million and
$20.2 million, respectively. The following table presents a
rollforward of the servicing assets:
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SERVICING ASSETS

(In millions)

Mortgage servicing rights 2002 2001 2000
Beginning of year $ 9.9 $ 168 $ 152
Recognized during year 1.8 1.0 18.9
Amortization (1.7) (7.9) (7.7)
Impairment - - (9.6)
End of year $ 100 $ 99 $ 168
Dealer servicing rights 2002 2001 2000
Beginning of year $ 1.8 $ 40 $ -
Recognized during year - - 52
Amortization (1.2) (2.2) (1.2)
Impairment : - - -
End of year $ 0.6 $ 1.8 $ 4.0

The following table presents managed loan information  to be recognized in the statement of financial condition as
for those loan categories in which there have been loan  of December 31, 2002, along with quantitative informa-
sales or securitizations where AmSouth had a continuing  tion about delinquencies and net credit losses (in millions).
retained interest at December 31, 2002. This information  In addition to the sales of loans discussed above, the

includes the total principal amount outstanding, the portion  following table also includes mortgage loans which were
that has been derecognized and the portion that continues  securitized through REMICS in 1998:
Residential Equity Loans Commercial
(Dollars in millions) Mortgages Dealer Loans and Lines Loans
Qutstanding as of December 31, 2002:
Loans held in portfolio $ 2,794 $ 3,731 $ 6,360 $ 8,658
Loans securitized/sold 1,579 472 -0- $916
REMIC (bond portfolio) 68 -0- 99 -0-
Total managed loans $ 4,441 $ 4,203 $ 6,459 $ 9,574
Total delinquencies as of December 31, 2002 $ 121 $ 123 $ 154 $ 177
Delinquencies as a percent of ending
managed loans 2.72% 2.93% 2.38% 1.85%
Net credit losses during 2002 $ 27 $ 555 $ 296 $ 720
Net credit losses as a percent of
ending managed loans 0.06% 1.32% 0.46% 0.75%
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Statement of Condition
December 31
(In thousards) 2002 2001
ASSETS
Investment in subsidiaries $ 3,705,587 $ 3,620,387
Investment in Eurodollars 207,086 125,117
Available-for-sale securities 18 399
Other assets 8,419 12,536
$ 3,921,110 $ 3,758,439
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Commercial paper 5,156 $ 9,905
Subordinated debt 574,377 574,097
Other borrowed funds - 128,152 127,997
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 97,428 91,341
Total Labilities 805,113 803,340
Shareholders’ equity 3,115,997 2,955,099
$ 3,921,110 $ 3,758,439
Statement of Earnings
Years Ended December 31
(In thousancls) 2002 2001 2000
INCOME
Dividends from subsidiaries $ 628,000 $ 548,000 $ 586,000
Interest and other 2,063 5,608 4,813
630,063 553,608 590,813
EXPENSES
Interes: 35,724 43,663 51,521
Other 2,673 5,343 5,020
38,397 49,006 56,541
Income before income taxes and equity in undistributed
earnings of subsidiaries 591,666 504,602 534,272
Income tax credit 13,657 15,416 18,805
Income before equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 605,323 520,018 553,077
Equity in/(Dividends in excess of) undistributed
subsidiaries’ annual earnings 3,824 16,328 (223,950)
NET INCOME $ 609,147 $ 536,346 $ 329,127
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Statement of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31
(In thousands) 2002 2001 2000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 609,147 $ 536,346 $ 329,127
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Net (gains) losses on sales of available-for-sale securities -0- (1,187) 4,110
Amortization of goodwill -0- 2,385 2,385
Other amortization and depreciation 727 761 732
Net (increase) decrease in accrued interest receivable
and other assets (940) 9,038 12,875
Net increase {decrease) in accrued expenses
and other liabilities 10,255 (6,997) (47,655)
(Equity in) dividends in excess of undistributed _
subsidiaries’ annual earnings (3,824) (16,328) 223,950
Net cash provided by operating activities 615,365 524,018 525,524
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net decrease in available-for-sale securities -0- 12,026 49,241
Net (increase) decrease in other interest-earning assets (81,969) (5,918) 40,465
Net sales of premises and equipment -0- 294 -0-
Net cash (used) provided by investing activities (81,969) 6,402 89,706
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net (decrease) increase in commercial paper (4,749) (2,589) 3,745
Net increase (decrease) in other borrowed funds 84 (1,734) -0-
Cash dividends paid ' (318,777) (311,620) (305,383)
Proceeds from employee stock plans and dividend
reinvestment plan 62,245 47,492 62,066
Purchases of common stock (272,104) (262,013) (375,822)
Net cash used by financing activities (533,301) (530,464) (615,394)
Increase (decrease) in cash 95 (44) (164)
Cash at beginning of year 414 458 622
Cash at end of year $ 509 $ 414 $ 458
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NOTE 24 - QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
Selected quarterly results of operations for the four quarters ended December 31 are as follows:

2002 2001
Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First

(In thousands except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Interest income $ 547,626 $ 562,949 $ 572,985 $ 570,556 $ 598,888 $ 642,150 $ 670,501 $ 694,839
Interest expense 187,143 198,564 196,870 198,899 232,143 302,332 335,207 369,974
Net interest income 360,483 364,385 376,115 371,657 366,745 339,818 335,294 324,865
Provision “or loan losses 53,450 51,400 52,600 56,100 53,600 49,200 46,100 38,200
Net gains on sales

of available-for-sale securities 3,898 3,207 3,372 2,697 2,953 3,048 2,715 2,488
Income before income taxes 222,583 225,290 217,866 206,090 199,812 192,017 192,906 185,877
Net income 155,207 156,001 152,369 145,570 140,521 136,093 133,521 126,211
Net interest margin 4.12% 4.28% 4.54% 4.58% 4.48% 4.09% 4.03% 3.87%
Earnings per common share $ 44 $ 44 $ 42 $ 40 $ .39 $ 37 $ .36 $ 34
Diluted earnings

per corrmon share 44 43 42 40 .38 37 .36 34
Cash dividends declared

per common share 23 22 22 22 22 21 21 21
Market price range:

High 21.26 22.98 23.00 22.92 19.10 20.15 18.84 18.00

Low 18.21 18.25 21.17 18.56 16.50 16.80 15.74 15.13
Notes:
1. Quarterly amounts may not add to year-to-date amounts due to rounding,
2. For the third. second and first quarters of 2002 and for the fourth, third, second and first quarters of 2001, $6,695, $6,018, $6,537, $8,885, $6,219, $8,080, and $4,978, respectively, has

been reclassitied from interest income to NIE. In addition, net interest margin information for these quarters reflects the impact of these reclassifications.

NOTE 25 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS captioned cash and due from banks, federal funds sold and
For purposes of this disclosure, the estimated fair value of  securities purchased under agreements to resell, other
financial instruments with immediate and shorter-term  interest-earning assets, federal funds purchased and
maturities (generally 90 days or less) is assumed to be the  securities sold under agreements to repurchase, and other
same as the recorded book value. These instruments  borrowed funds.

include the consolidated statement of condition lines
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The carrying amount and estimated fair value of other financial instruments at December 31 are summarized as

follows (in thousands):

2002 2001
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Financial assets:
Net loans $ 26,969,339 $ 28,583,835 $ 24,760,886 $ 27,405,596
Loans held for sale 19,909 19,909 291,782 291,782
Derivative asset positions 197,056 197,056 86,988 86,988
Financial habilities:
Deposits 27,315,624 27,518,455 26,167,017 26,326,269
Long-term FHLB advances 5,838,268 6,393,579 5,093,834 5,362,632
Other long-term debt 1,051,015 1,116,725 1,008,421 1,038,058
Derivative liability positions 110,396 110,396 12,536 12,536
Off-balance sheet:
Commitments to extend credit and
standby letters of credit - (10,442) - (5,674)

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107,
“Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments”
(Statement 107), requires the disclosure of estimated
fair values for all financial instruments, both assets and
liabilities on and off-balance sheet, for which it is practicable
to estimate their value along with pertinent information
on those financial instruments for which such values are
not available.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in
time and are based on relevant market information which
" is continuously changing. Because no quoted market
prices exist for a significant portion of AmSouth’s financial
instruments, fair values for such instruments are based on
management’s assumptions with respect to future economic
conditions, estimated discount rates, estimates of the
amount and timing of future cash flows, expected loss
experience, and other factors. These estimates are subjective

in nature involving uncertainties and matters of significant
judgement; therefore, they cannot be determined with
precision. Changes in the assumptions could significantly
affect the estimates.

Statement 107 fair value estimates include certain
financial instruments without attempting to estimate
the value of anticipated future business and the value of
assets and liabilities that are not considered financial
instruments. For example, AmSouth has a substantial
trust department that contributes net fee income annually.
The trust department is not considered a financial instru-
ment, and its value has not been incorporated into the fair
value estimates. Other significant assets and liabilities that
are not considered financial assets or liabilities include the
mortgage banking operation, brokerage network, premises
and equipment, core deposit intangibles, and goodwill. In
addition, the tax ramifications related to the realization of




unrealized gains and losses can have a significant effect on
fair value estimates and have not been considered in the
estimates. As a result, the Statement 107 fair value disclo-
sures should not be considered an indication of the fair
value of the company taken as a whole.

The following methods and assumptions were used
by AmSouth in estimating its fair value disclosures for
financial instruments:

Loans

The fair values of variable rate loans that reprice frequently
and have no significant change in credit risk are assumed
to approximate carrying amounts. For credit card loans
and equity lines of credit, the carrying value reduced by
an estimate of credit losses inherent in the portfolio is a
reasonable estimate of fair value. The fair values for other
loans (e.g., commercial and industrial, commercial real
estate, certain mortgage loans, and consumer loans) are
estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, using
interest rates currently being offered for loans with similar
terms to borrowers of similar credit quality and estimates
of maturity based on AmSouth’s historical experience. The
carrying arnount of accrued interest receivable approxi-
mates its fair value.

Securities and Loans Held for Sale

Fair values for securities and loans held for sale are based
on quoted market prices, where available. Where quoted
market prices are not available, fair values are based on
quoted market prices of similar instruments, adjusted for
any significant differences between the quoted instruments
and the instruments being valued. Available-for-sale
securities, trading securities, and loans held for sale are
carried at their estimated fair value. See Note 4 for market
value inforrnation related to held-to-maturity securities.

Commitments to Extend Credit and

Standby Letters of Credit

The estimated fair value of unused commitments to extend
credit and standby and commercial letters of credit is rep-
resented by the estimated cost to terminate or otherwise
settle the otligations with the counterparties. This amount
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is approximated by the fees currently charged to enter into
similar arrangements, considering the remaining terms of
the agreements and any change in the credit quality of the
counterparties since the agreements were entered into.
This estimate of fair value does not take into account the
significant value of the customer relationships and the
future earning potential involved in such arrangements as
AmSouth does not believe that it would be practicable to
estimate a representational fair value for these items.

Derivative Instruments

The fair value of derivatives utilized by AmSouth for
interest rate risk management purposes is obtained
from AmSouth’s in-house pricing system and compared
to dealer quotes for reasonableness. These values
represent the estimated amount the company would
receive or pay to terminate the contracts or agreements,
taking into account current interest rates and, when
appropriate, the current creditworthiness of the
counterparties. The fair value of derivative contracts
entered into for the benefit of corporate customers is
based on counterparty quotes.

Deposit Liabilities

The fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, such
as noninterest-bearing demand deposits, savings
accounts and money market and interest-bearing check-
ing accounts is, by definition, equal to the amount
payable on demand (carrying amount). The fair values
for variable rate fixed-term money market accounts and
certificates of deposit approximate their carrying
amounts. Fair values for fixed rate certificates of deposit
are estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation
that applies interest rates currently being offered on cer-
tificates of deposit to a schedule of aggregated expected
monthly maturities on time deposits.

Long-term Borrowings

The fair values of long-term borrowings {other than
deposits) are estimated using discounted cash flow
analyses, based on AmSouth’s current incremental bor-
rowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.
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Ronald L. Kuehn, Jr.

Mr. Kuehn is Lead Director of the Board of El Paso Corporation,
North America’s leading provider of natural gas services.
Previously, he was Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive of Sonat Inc., an energy holding company.

Claude B. Nielsen

Mr. Nielsen is President and Chief Executive Officer of
Coca-Cola Bottling Company United, Inc. Coca-Cola United
is the third largest Coca-Cola Bottler in the U.S. operating 19
franchises in the states of Alabama, Georgia, Louisiana,
Mississippi, Tennessee and South Carolina.

C. Dowd Ritter

Mr. Ritter is Chairman of the Board, President and Chief
Executive Officer of AmSouth Bancorporation and AmSouth
Bank. He has served the company for 34 years, entered senior
management 22 years ago, and became Chairman of the
Board in 1996.

Rodney C. Gilbert
Prior to forming RCG Consulting, LLC in 1999, Mr. Gilbert
was Chairman and CEO of Enfinity Corporation, a provider
of HVAC, energy and indoor environmental services; CEO of
Rust International Inc.; and President of Wheelabrator
Technologies, Inc.

James R. Malone

Mr. Malone is Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer of HMI Industries and a Founding Partner and
Managing Director of Bridge Associates, LLC and Intek
Group, both management consultancy firms. Formerly, he
was Chairman and CEO of Grimes Aerospace, a maker of air-
craft components, and Anchor Glass Container Corporation.

J. Harold Chandler

Mr. Chandler is Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer of UnumProvident, America’s number one provider of
disability insurance and related absence management services
offered primarily through employers. He has been a CEO or
Chairman of the Board in the insurance industry since 1993.

Elmer B. Harris

Mr. Harris, formerly Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of Alabama Power Company, a public util-
ity, is now Chairman and CEO of the Center for Public Policy,
which is dedicated to educating Alabama citizens on public
policy issues.

Victoria B. Jackson

Ms. Jackson is President and Chief Executive Officer of
Victoria Bellé, Inc. which designs, manufactures and markets
specialty retail products. Formerly, she was founder and CEO
of DSS/ProDiesel, Inc., a provider of diesel engine components.

James E. Dalton, Jr.

Mr. Dalton was President and Chief Executive Officer of
Quorum Health Group, Inc. from 1990 until 2001, when
Quorum, a hospital ownership and management company,
was acquired by Triad Hospitals, Inc. Dalton now sits on the
Triad Board of Directors.

Earnest W. Deavenport, Jr.

Mr. Deavenport was Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of Eastman Chemical Company, a producer
of chemical, plastic and fiber products, from 1994 to
December 2001. He is also a former Chairman of the
National Association of Manufacturers.

Martha R. Ingram

Ms. Ingram is Chairman of the Board of Ingram Industries
Inc., one of America’s largest privately held companies, with
businesses in marine transportation, book distributing and
insurance. In 2001, The Tennessean newspaper named her
“Tennessean of the Year”

Charles D. McCrary

Mr. McCrary is President and Chief Executive Officer of
Alabama Power Company, a public utility. Before joining
Alabama Power, he was President of Southern Company
Generation and Energy Marketing, a major producer of elec-
trical energy.

Cleophus Thomas, Jr.

Mr. Thomas is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of A.G. Gaston Corp., the holding company for Booker
T. Washington Insurance Co.

Directors are listed chronologically by when they were elected,
earliest to latest.




C. Dowd Ritter, Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Ritter has devoted his entire 34-year career to serving
AmSouth. After more than a decade gaining leadership expe-
rience in positions throughout the company, he joined senior
management 22 years ago and became Chairman of the
Board in 1996.

Sloan D. Gibson, Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Gibson is in his second decade with AmSouth. He has
headed Consumer and Business Banking, Commercial Banking
and Credit, and the Tennessee, Mississippi and Louisiana mar-
kets. He joined the company from senior management at Bank
South, after starting his career at First Union Bank.

Candice W. Bagby, Senior Executive Vice President

Ms. Bagby heads AmSouth’s Consumer Banking Group, as well
as its Marketing Division. She joined AmSouth as Executive
Vice President in 1994, and her 30-vear career also includes
senior positions at Bank One and United Banks of Colorado.

David B. Edmonds, Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Edmonds is head of Human Resources at AmSouth. He
joined the company in 1994 from Pepsi-Cola, where he
headed Human Resources for the Southeastern region, and he
began his 23-year career in human resources at Mobil Oil
Corporation.

John M. Gaffuney, Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Gaffney heads Commercial Banking at AmSouth. He has
spent his entire 25-year career at AmSouth, including senior
positions in Corporate and Commercial Banking. He was for-
merly North Central Alabama Area Executive.

O. B. Grayson Hall, J., Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Hall is head of AmSouth’s Operations and Technology
Group, which he has led for more than half of his 22-year career
with AmSouith. He oversees all of the bank’s operational and
technical fur ctions, from check processing to e-commerce.
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W. Charles Mayer III, Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Mayer is head of the Alabama/South Louisiana Banking
Group. In his 24-year banking career with AmSouth, he has
served as head of Commercial Banking and Chairman and
CEO of AmSouth Bank of Tennessee. He has served on the
Management Commiittee since 1994.

Beth E. Mooney, Senior Executive Vice President

Ms. Mooney heads the Tennessee/North Louisiana Banking
Group. Nearing 25 years in the banking business, she joined
AmSouth in 2000 after serving as president of Bank One
Ohio and in management at Citicorp and First Republic Bank.

E. W. (Rusty) Stephenson, Jr., Senior Executive Vice President
Mr. Stephenson heads AmSouth’s Florida and Mississippi
Banking Group. He has held numerous management posts in
a 32-year career at AmSouth, including Head of Consumer
Banking and President of the Florida Banking Group. He has
served in executive management for more than 10 years.

Geoffrey A. von Kuhn, Serior Executive Vice President

Mr. von Kuhn heads the Wealth Management Group and is
Chairman of AmSouth Investment Services. He joined the
company in 2001 after leading Citigroup’s U.S. Private Bank.
His 30-year banking career began at Lehman Brothers and
also includes positions at Bank One and Bankers Trust.

Stephen A. Yoder, Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Yoder is AmSouth’s General Counsel, Corporate
Secretary and head of the Law Division. He also leads
AmSouth’s efforts in the area of corporate governance. He
came to AmSouth in 1995 after holding key legal positions at
Mellon Bank, and was also partner at a firm specializing in
banking and corporate finance law.




CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters Mailing Address
AmSouth Bancorporation Post Office Box 11007
AmSouth Center Birmingham, AL 35288

1900 Fifth Avenue North
Birmingham, AL 35203

Internet Address
www.amsouth.com

Annual Meeting

AmSouth Bancorporation’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders
is scheduled for Thursday, April 17, 2003, at 11:00 a.m.,
Central Daylight Time. It will be held in the AmSouth Upper
Lobby Auditorium in the AmSouth Harbert Plaza at 1901
Sixth Avenue, North, Birmingham, Alabama.

Common Stock

AmSouth common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and is traded under the symbol ASO. It is listed in
The Wall Street Journal as AmSoBcp.

Debt Ratings
For a complete listing of all debt ratings, see page 61.

Stock Transfer Agent

The Bank of New York

Post Office Box 11002

Church Street Station

New York, New York 10286-1002

Shareholders requiring a change of address or information
about certificates or dividend checks should contact:
Shareholders’ Services
(877) 679-5704 (Toll Free)
or (205) 326-5807

Direct Deposit

With Direct Deposit, shareholders may enjoy the conve-
nience of having dividends or interest payments directly
deposited into their AmSouth checking or savings account.
There is no cost for this service. Shareholders may obtain
further information about Direct Deposit by contacting
Shareholders’ Services at (877) 679-5704, or by writing
AmSouth’s corporate headquarters in care of the Investor
Relations Department.

Dividend Reinvestment Service

Through the AmSouth Dividend Reinvestment and
Common Stock Purchase Plan, shareholders with common
stock registered in their names can reinvest their AmSouth
dividends in additional shares of common stock and may

make additional optional cash payments of $10 to $5,000 per
quarter. AmSouth assumes all costs associated with the pur-
chase of shares under the Plan. Participating shareholders
also have the option to deposit stock certificates into their
Dividend Reinvestment Plan account. For more information
please call:

Shareholders’ Services

(877) 679-5704

Investor Inquiries

Analysts, investors and others seeking information should contact:
M. List Underwood, Jr.
Investor Relations
(205) 801-0265

Media Inquiries

Media representatives seeking general information should contact:
Richard C. Swagler, Jr.
Media Relations
(205) 801-0105

Investor Relations Resource Center
AmSouth offers all of its financial publications including
annual and quarterly reports to shareholders and Securities
and Exchange Commission filings at its Investor Relations
Resource Center at www.amsouth.com. The resource center
also offers investors the latest news and information about
AmSouth including news releases and recent management
presentations, as well as research tools for investors.
Additional copies of the corporation’s Annual Report,
Form 10-K, quarterly reports and other corporate publica-
tions are also available on request by writing or calling our
Investor Relations Department at the corporate headquar-
ters, (205) 581-7890.

Enroll Now for Electronic Delivery

Shareholders can enjoy the benefits and convenience of
receiving Proxy Statements, Annual Reports and other share-
holder materials online, reducing paper mailed to your
home and helping AmSouth communicate with shareholders
more efficiently. To receive shareholder communications via
the Internet, simply go to www.icsdelivery.com/aso and
follow the instructions. When information on AmSouth
becomes available electronically, you will be sent an e-mail
notification. Investors may also sign up at the Investor
Relations Resource Center at www.amsouth.com.
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Our goal is for every customer to believe

they are our best customer.

To accomplish that, every one of us
comes to work each day determined to be
AmSouth’s best employee.
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AMSOUTH BANCORPORATION
AMSoUTH CENTER
1900 FIFTH AVENUE NORTH
BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA 35203
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